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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS 
 

From the President and CEO 

Dear Shareholders 

Throughout 2014, global economic uncertainty coupled with geopoli cal threats resulted in another year of 
gold price vola lity. However SAS was able to perform above expecta ons and book a solid year which has 
turned out to be transforma ve. We believe that the future is bright for SAS with strong opera onal perfor-
mance, disciplined management, and a thorough understanding of where we are headed  in order to take 
the Corpora on to the next level. 

Before we look at our future, let’s review our 2014 accomplishments. 

Strong Cash Posi on and Excellent Cash Management  

We ended the year with $21.5 million  in cash and cash equivalents a er paying off our US$9.0 million of 
term bank debt and currently only have a $1.2 million obliga on under a capital leasing facility.  We con n-
ue to have access to a US$10 million revolving credit facility, which s ll remains undrawn.  For the 2014 pe-
riod we generated $30.9 million in cash flow from opera ons and have achieved 14 consecu ve quarters of 
posi ve cash flow from opera ons, demonstra ng the capacity to organically fund explora on and capital 
expenditures  in  order  to  advance  the  goals  of  the  Corpora on.    Addi onally  the  Corpora on  has  over 
$200.0 million of tax pools available to reduce future  income and mining taxes to beyond 2017 and 2015, 
respec vely. 

2014 capital expenditures were $30.8 million, with 50%, or $15.4 million, being  invested at the Taylor Ad-
vanced Explora on Project in order to prove up its commercial viability. A er a very successful bulk sample 
in  the  fourth quarter,  the Board of Directors approved  future expenditures  required  to place Taylor  into 
produc on.    

Achieved Produc on Guidance, Beat Cash Cost Guidance 

We produced 90,676 ounces of gold from three opera ons in 2014, mee ng the mid-range of our produc-
on guidance.   Our mine cash costs came  in at US$737/oz   of gold sold, bea ng our guidance of between 

US$750-$800/oz.   We  saw a year on year  reduc on of US$100/oz  in our all  in  sustaining cost per ounce 
down to US$1,072/oz through a 20% increase in throughput at Holt, the con nua on of mining at Holloway 
beyond the April  meframe of deple on of reserves, and  improvements  in opera onal efficiency and cost 
reduc ons.  

The Holt Mine is the flagship asset of the Corpora on contribu ng 69% of the ounces in 2014 (63,000 ounc-
es) and 83% of  the  cash margin  from opera ons.   Holt was built by Barrick Gold Corpora on  in  the  late 
1980’s, and  in  its rela vely short history has produced over 1.5 million ounces of gold.   We currently have 
over eight years of mine life in the reserve category, which is very robust for an underground gold mine. The 
poten al to add reserves and resources is significant and throughout 2014 there was a 25% increase in re-
serves  to  591,000  ounces  and  a  large  discovery  made  on  the  westerly  por on  of  Holt,  which  added 
1,000,000 ounces of inferred resource.  Explora on and the upgrading of the resources into reserves at Holt 
will remain a focus for us, which are expected to keep this mine in produc on for many years to come and 
allow us to generate higher margin ounces.   

The Holloway Mine  contributed 26% of  the Corpora on’s annual produc on, or nearly 24,000 ounces  in 
2014. What is par cularly significant about this addi on is that the mine was budgeted to produce approxi-
mately 7,000 ounces and then be put into care and maintenance due to the known reserves becoming de-



pleted. However, through a significant and concerted underground mine explora on effort, the opera on 
exited  the year with 40,000 ounces  in  reserves and over 500,000 ounces  in all categories of  resources  to 
convert  into reserves. As  it stands now, we believe the Holloway mine  life will be extended to the end of 
2016 and quite  likely  longer with the successful conversion of resources  into reserves which  is the current 
focus.  

The Hislop Mine reached the limits of its pit design late in the second quarter. Hislop produced 5% or 4,300 
ounces of gold towards the Corpora on’s annual 2014 produc on. There remains 46,000 ounces of reserves 
beneath the west pit and excellent explora on poten al adjacent to Primero’s Grey Fox and 147 Zone dis-
coveries  immediately to the north. The strategy  is to expand upon the resources and reserves and modify 
the mine design as  required based upon new  informa on. The  ming of providing  ramp access  to  com-
mence commercial mining is dependent upon the flow of informa on and posi ve results.  

The Taylor Advanced Explora on Project was advanced throughout the year in prepara on for the extrac-
on of an 18,000 tonne bulk sample. Over 2,000 metres (“m”) of ramp and lateral development were driven 

by a  contractor over  the 12 months. Addi onally, nearly 14,000m of explora on and defini on diamond 
drilling were completed in the effort to successfully extract this bulk sample.  The bulk sample was mined, 
processed by a sample tower to generate representa ve samples, and then subsequently trucked 70 km to 
the Holt Mill  for processing.   The results of the processing were very posi ve with head grades of 9.0 g/t 
versus the forecasted head grade of 7.2 g/t from the geological block model.   

With the comple on of mining at the Hislop Pit in the second quarter, addi onal capacity at the 3,000 tpd 
Holt milling facility became available.  Over the 2014 period the Corpora on toll milled over 70,000 tonnes 
for two junior operators in the area. This opportunity allowed SAS to generate addi onal revenues and keep 
milling costs rela vely flat.     

Explora on  

We spent $6.4 million on our explora on programs, focused mainly on our targets near the exis ng opera-
ons specifically exploring for strike and depth extensions of the known mineralized zones and also explor-

ing for poten al repe ons and satellite zones situated near the opera ons.  In 2014 SAS drilled a total of 
40,300m of surface core and an addi onal 33,200m of underground drilling. The majority of surface drilling 
ac vi es were focused on the evalua on of Holt Deep Zone 4 extension, on the Canamax Zone at Holloway, 
and on  the 147 and Grey Fox mineralized extensions on  the Hislop property. The majority of  the under-
ground drilling took place on the 1055m Sublevel at Holt, on the 925m and 945m Sublevels at Holloway to 
evaluate the poten al of Smoke Deep and the 220m, 250m and 305m Sublevels at Taylor targe ng the east-
erly strike extension of the 1004 lens of the West Porphyry Zone (“WPZ”).   

In mid-2014, SAS commenced a deep surface drilling program to test for mul ple flat-lying, en-echelon min-
eralized zones and ul mately targe ng mineraliza on associated with the westerly strike projec on of Zone 
4 (the most significant produc on horizon being mined at Holt). At year end, a total of 19 surface holes and 
associated wedge cuts and 11 underground holes were completed.  In mid-January 2015, SAS reported an 
explora on update on the Zone 4 Deep Drilling which included assay results of 4.02 g/t Au over 37.3 m in-
cluding 7.64 g/t Au over 11.3m and 21.37 g/t Au over 21.7m (18.71 g/t Au cut). These drill intercepts have 
extended the known mineralized strike  length of Zone 4 by approximately 800m west of the 1075m Level 
dri  (the closest development access point) and some 600m west of SAS’s historical surface drilling.  Assay 
results from these drill programs will be compiled and used in the genera on of an updated NI 43-101 Min-
eral Resource es mate for the Zone 4 west extension. This evalua on con nues and we look forward to the 
upgrading of these resources. 

In 2015, we plan to spend approximately $5.7 million on our explora on programs which will  include the 
following: 



 Taylor where explora on drilling is planned for targets situated both to the north and west of the WPZ. 

 Hislop surface drilling will focus on a target known as the V2 zone extension and Phase III drilling on the 
147 and Grey Fox zone extensions along the northern boundary of the property.  

 Holt Phase  II Surface drilling will con nue to follow-up on the Holt Deep Zone 4 mineralized trend,  in 
order to in-fill gaps in the drill coverage, to be er define the geometry of the mineralized zone and to 
test the McKenna Fault (northern side of the mineralized corridor) for mineral poten al. Surface drilling 
is planned west of the Tousignant Zone, whereby SAS will employ the same explora on model which 
generated success at Holt Deep in 2014, to test for en-echelon mineralized extensions, both to the west 
of Tousignant along strike and at depth. 

 Garrison  Township  Phase  II Drilling on  the Garrison Creek Project  to  test both  the Porcupine-Destor 
Fault Zone (“PDFZ”) and Syenite targets.   The Garrison project is located, approximately 20 kilometres 
due west  of  the  Holloway-Holt Mine  and  is  90%  owned  by  the  Corpora on  and  10%  by  Goldcorp 
(Canada) Inc.; and 

 Other Proper es Phase II drilling will be conducted on the Ludgate property to assess mineral poten al 
associated with the northern branch of the PDFZ and the on-going assessment of the mineral poten al 
and target defini on associated with SAS claims.  

We see this year as a growth year for SAS.  We are pleased to have the stable contribu on of the Holt Mine, 
the con nued produc on from the Holloway Mine, and the an cipated commencement of commercial pro-
duc on from the ramp up of the Taylor Mine. The Taylor Mine will undergo a permi ng and pre-produc on 
phase as we upgrade the site  from advanced explora on to produc on status and we believe this can be 
accomplished by the fourth quarter of 2015. As such, we have set our guidance to between 85,000 – 95,000 
ounces of gold for 2015 based on produc on from the Holt and Holloway Mines. Provided our  ming is cor-
rect on the permi ng aspect of Taylor, we believe this could add between 10,000 – 15,000 addi onal ounc-
es of produc on in 2015.  We look forward to upda ng you with our progress and will revise our guidance 
as required.  

Strategically, the current focus  is to capaci ze our mill by 2016, which  in our es ma on  is quite plausible. 
With full contribu on from the Holt Mine, Holloway Mine, and Taylor Mine, produc on levels should be in 
the 125,000-135,000 ounce range. We will keep the  focus on  improving efficiencies and cost reduc on as 
we look to increase our margins and return value to the shareholders. With the current gold price in Canadi-
an dollars we would expect to add cash to our posi on throughout the near future – provided the gold price 
and the foreign currency exchange remain favourable. We have a strong balance sheet which gives us flexi-
bility.   We have many organic growth opportuni es that should keep our produc on pipeline growing and 
allow us to con nue to generate cash flow.  The SAS land posi on is a fantas c mix of greenfields, brown-
fields, and producing assets – the Goldfields! We have a highly respected team that know how to get the job 
done and are able to assess new opportuni es to realize addi onal value for shareholders.  As well, we have 
a large and highly prolific land package, which, with  me and effort, we believe will pay off with the next big 
discovery in the Abi bi – one of the premier gold regions of the world. 

Our team is paramount to our success and I’d like to thank them for their hard work and dedica on over the 
years.   We have a synergis c energy at SAS, and are guided by an experienced and exemplary Board of Di-
rectors.  To our shareholders, stakeholders, employees, and communi es in which we operate, we are com-
mi ed to making 2015 and beyond a success as we gain trac on on our way to becoming a mid- er gold 
producer, located in a safe geopoli cal mining jurisdic on.   

 ”signed”  
 Duncan Middlemiss 
President and Chief Execu ve Officer 
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This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of St Andrew Goldfields Ltd. (“SAS” or the “Company” and 
operating as “SAS Goldmines”) should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements, and is intended to 
provide the reader with a review of the factors that affected the Company’s performance during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2014.  The Company prepares and files its financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
All dollar amounts stated in this MD&A are denominated in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise 
indicated. The discussion and analysis within this MD&A are effective as of February 12, 2015.  
 
This document contains forward-looking statements and forward looking information. Please refer to the cautionary 
language under “Forward-looking Information” on pages 41-42 of this MD&A.  
 
The following abbreviations are used to describe the periods under review throughout this MD&A:  
 

 
 
Throughout this document, the Holt, Holloway and Hislop Mines, and the Taylor Project are referred to as “Holt”, 
“Holloway”, “Hislop” and “Taylor”, respectively. 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
SAS is a public company existing under the laws of Ontario. The common shares of the Company are listed on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol SAS, and are also traded in the OTC QX market in the United 
States under the symbol STADF. The Company is a Canadian based gold mining and exploration company with an 
extensive land package in the Timmins mining district, northeastern Ontario, Canada, which lies within the world 
famous Abitibi greenstone belt.   
  
During 2014, the Company operated the Holt, Holloway and Hislop Mines, which produced 90,676 ounces of gold. 
Gold production for Holt and Holloway is anticipated to be between 85,000 and 95,000 ounces for 2015. SAS also 
expects to advance Taylor into production by the end of 2015. The Company intends to further expand its Mineral 
Resources and ultimately its level of production through the successful exploration and development of its other 
exploration properties in the Timmins mining district and through accretive mine acquisitions. The Company’s 
objective is to become a prominent mid-tier gold producer, and as such, SAS continues to assess opportunities for 
growth.  
 
The registered and principal office of the Company is located at 20 Adelaide Street East, Suite 1500, Toronto, Ontario, 
M5C 2T6. The Company’s website is www.sasgoldmines.com. Any information contained on the Company’s website 
is not, and shall be deemed not to be incorporated herein by reference. 

Abbreviation Period Abbreviation Period
Q1 2014 January 1, 2014 – March 31, 2014 Q1 2013 January 1, 2013 – March 31, 2013
Q2 2014 April 1, 2014 – June 30, 2014 Q2 2013 April 1, 2013 – June 30, 2013
Q3 2014 July 1, 2014 – September 30, 2014 Q3 2013 July 1, 2013 – September 30, 2013
Q4 2014 October 1, 2014 - December 31, 2014 Q4 2013 October 1, 2013 - December 31, 2013
FY 2014 January 1, 2014 – December 31, 2014 FY 2013 January 1, 2013 – December 31, 2013
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FY 2014 HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Produced 90,676 ounces of gold from 
three operations (Holt, Holloway and 
Hislop). 
 

Achieved the mid-range of the Company’s 2014 production guidance.  
 

Sold 88,822 ounces of gold at an average 
realized price (1) of US$1,266 per ounce 
of gold sold for revenues of $124.0 
million. 
 

When compared to FY 2013, gold sales revenue decreased by $19.0 
million due to a US$142 per ounce (10%) decline in gold price (2) and 
a 9% decline in gold production; partially offset by a stronger US 
dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.  
 

Mine cash costs of US$738 per ounce 
and a royalty cost of US$113 per ounce, 
for a total cash cost per ounce of gold 
sold (1) of US$851 per ounce. 
 

Mine cash cost per ounce of gold sold (1) was below the Company’s 
guidance of between US$750 – US$800 per ounce for FY 2014. Total 
cash cost (1) decreased by US$51 per ounce of gold sold over FY 2013 
due to the lower operating and royalty costs, in conjunction with a 
strong US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.  
 

All-in sustaining costs (“AISC”) (1) were 
US$1,072 per ounce of gold sold. 
 

 A decrease of US$101 per ounce (9%) when compared to FY 2013. 

Incurred net loss attributable to 
shareholders of $8.8 million or $0.02 
per share in FY 2014.   
 
 

The FY 2014 result includes an after tax non-cash impairment loss of 
$9.8 million on the Aquarius Project ($0.03 per share). Adjusted net 
loss (1) was $0.5 million or nil, on a per share basis, for FY 2014.   
 
Net loss and adjusted net loss (1) for FY 2013 were $5.0 million and 
$5.4 million, respectively. Both net loss and adjusted net loss for FY 
2013 were $0.01 per share. 
 

Earned cash margin from mine 
operations (1) of $40.5 million and 
operating cash flow of $30.9 million or 
$0.08 per share. 
 

Both cash margin from mine operations (1) and operating cash flow 
remained positive, with a net cash flow (1) generation of $1.9 million 
in FY 2014.  
 

Retired US$7.0 million in bank debt. 
 

Retired the entire amount owed on the term credit facility; and 
extended the US$10.0 million revolving credit facility. The revolving 
credit facility remained undrawn throughout 2014. 
 

Invested $14.5 million at Taylor (net of 
sales revenues of $3.5 million from gold 
poured in the second bulk sample) as 
part of the Advanced Exploration 
Program.  
 

The result of the second bulk sample has exceeded the Company’s 
expectation, and a decision was made in 2015 to advance Taylor 
towards production by the end of 2015.  
 

Year-end Mineral Reserves increased by 
25% from that of FY 2013. 

The net increase in Mineral Reserves, after taking into account FY 
2014 production of 90,676 ounces depleted (97,725 ounces in-situ) 
from the December 31, 2013 Mineral Reserves Estimates, was 
approximately 263,000 ounces. 
 

Notes: 
(1) This is a non-GAAP performance measure, which does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and is not necessarily 

comparable to other similar titled measures of other companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation.  See notes 
under “Operating and Financial Summary” 

(2) Reference to gold price quoted by the London Bullion Marketing Association (“LBMA”) P.M. fixings. 
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY (2) 

 

Notes: 
(1) The Company has included the non-GAAP performance measures, adjusted net earnings (loss), total cash cost per ounce of gold sold, all-

in sustaining cost per ounce of gold sold, cash margin from mine operations, average realized price per ounce of gold sold, cash margin 
per ounce of gold sold, net cash flow and operating cash flow per share throughout this document, which do not have standardized 
meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies due to potential 
inconsistencies in the method of calculation. The Company believes that, in addition to conventional measures prepared in accordance 
with IFRS, the Company and certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company’s performance. Accordingly, it is intended to 
provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. Refer to pages 27-31 hereof for a discussion and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP measurements to reported 
gold sales and production costs per the Financial Statements. 

(2) The Company has not declared any dividends in the last three fiscal years. 
(3) Gold production and commercial production sold in FY 2014 excludes 2,521 ounces (FY 2013 - 686 ounces and none in FY 2012) of gold 

poured from processing 9,784 tonnes (FY 2013 - 8,467 tonnes and none in FY 2012) of material extracted from the Taylor bulk sample 
programs.  

(4) Gold sales and total revenue includes $2.5 million of toll milling revenue earned in FY 2014 (none in FY 2013 and FY 2012). 
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share 
and per unit amounts FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012

SAS Operating Results
Gold production (ounces) 90,676 99,548 95,604
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 88,822 98,654 94,067

Per ounce data (US$)
   Average realized price (1) 1,266$                  1,408$                    1,667$                    

   Mine cash costs 738$                      782$                       783$                       
   Royalty costs 113                         120$                       136                          
   Total cash cost (1) 851$                      902$                       919$                       

   Cash margin (1) 415$                      506$                       748$                       

   All-in sustaining cost (1) 1,072$                  1,173$                    1,355$                    

SAS Financial Results
Gold sales and total revenue (3) (4) 126,458$            142,983$              156,391$              
Cash margin from mine operations (1) 40,498$               51,276$                 69,869$                 
Net income (loss) (8,816)$                (5,018)$                  25,992$                 
Adjusted net earnings (loss) (1) (297)$                    (5,360)$                  18,024$                 
Operating cash flow 30,871$               36,531$                 54,158$                 
Net cash flow (1) 1,945$                  9,172$                    17,559$                 

Per share information:
    Basic and diluted income (loss) (0.02)$                   (0.01)$                    0.07$                      
    Adjusted net earnings (loss) (1) 0.00$                     (0.01)$                    0.05$                      
    Operating cash flow (1) 0.08$                     0.10$                      0.15$                      

December 31, 
SAS Financial Position 2014 2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 21,485$               33,690$                 30,656$                 
Working capital 9,634$                  13,846$                 18,210$                 
Total assets 191,553$            211,070$              219,748$              
Total non-current financial liabilities 1,284$                  3,295$                    12,896$                 
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Financial Review   
 
FY 2014 Compared to FY 2013 
 
Net loss attributable to shareholders for FY 2014 was $8.8 million or $0.02 on a per share basis, as compared to 
net loss of $5.0 million in FY 2013 or $0.01 per share. Included in the FY 2014 net loss is a one-time after tax 
impairment loss of $9.8 million ($13.1 million before taxes) or $0.03 per share on the Aquarius Project (see 
“Operational Review”). 
 
The table below outlines the key factors for the $3.8 million increase in net loss for FY 2014 compared to FY 2013:  
 

 
Notes: 
(1) Gold sales revenue decreased by $19.0 million due to a US$142 per ounce or a 10% decrease in gold price and a 9% decrease in gold 

production and has led to a 10% decline in sales volume, offset partially by a stronger US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar (see “Gold 
Sales”). 

(2) The Company earned $2.5 million in toll milling revenue from processing 70,892 tonnes of custom ore from local operators in FY 2014 
(none in FY 2013). 

(3) Mine site operating costs decreased by $4.6 million substantially due to the cessation of mining activities at Hislop as the open pit 
Mineral Reserves were fully depleted in Q2 2014; offset partially by the increase in operating costs at Holt due to the increased mining 
rate and the use of cemented backfill and the continuation of mining activities at Holloway in FY 2014 (see “Operational Review”). 

(4) Production royalties decreased by $1.1 million or US$6 per ounce due to the lower gold price in FY 2014. The reduction in royalty cost, in 
conjunction with a strong US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, led to a US$51 per ounce decrease in total cash cost per ounce of gold 
sold (which is a non-GAAP measure, see pages 27-31 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements) in FY 2014.  

(5) The Company recognised an impairment loss on the Aquarius Project of $13.1 million in FY 2014 (see “Operational Review”). 
(6) When compared to FY 2013, exploration and corporate administration expenses decreased by 24% as a result of cost reduction 

initiatives implemented in FY 2014. 
(7) Depreciation and depletion expense decreased by $11.7 million as a result of depletion of Mineral Reserves at both Hislop and Holloway. 
(8) Mark-to-market loss on the gold-linked liabilities and derivative foreign currency contracts increased by $0.2 million due to a strong US 

dollar relative to the Canadian dollar; offset by the decline in the gold price (see “gold-linked liabilities” and “Mark-to-market loss on 
foreign currency derivatives” under Expenses). 

(9) Net change in provision of $0.5 million resulted from the change in accounting estimates (please refer to note 18(b) in the Company’s 
2014 Financial Statements). 

(10) The tax recoveries in FY 2014 increased by $1.3 million over FY 2013 as a result of the recognition of a tax recovery $3.3 million from the 
$13.1 million impairment loss on the Aquarius Project as mentioned in (5) above. 

 
 
 

  

FY 2014 compared to FY 2013

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars
Impact on 

earnings ($)

Increase 
(decrease) 

from YTD 2013 
(%)

Net loss - FY 2013 (5,018)$                  

Decrease in gold sales revenue (1) (19,016)                  -13%
Increase in toll milling revenue (2) 2,491                      100%
Decrease in mine site operating costs (3) 4,648                      6%
Decrease in production royalties (4) 1,099                      -9%
Impairment loss (5) (13,110)                  -100%
Decrease in exploration and corporate administration costs (6) 3,614                      24%
Decrease in depreciation and depletion (7) 11,672                    -31%
Increase in mark-to-market loss on gold-linked liabilities (8) (1,936)                    -121%
Increase in mark-to-market gain on foreign currency derivatives (8) 1,728                      162%
Net change in provision (9) 527                          100%
Increase in foreign exchange loss (166)                        -11%
Increase in tax recoveries (10) 1,306                      359%
Other miscellaneous items 3,345                      114%

(3,798)                    
Net loss - FY 2014 (8,816)$                  
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GOLD SALES 
 

 
 
Gold sales revenue for FY 2014 was $124.0 million from the sale of 88,822 ounces of gold, as compared to revenue 
of $143.0 million in FY 2013 from the sale of 98,654 ounces of gold sold, being a decrease of 13% as the low gold 
price continued to negatively impact revenue, net earnings and operating cash flow. The average gold price 
realized for FY 2014, which is a non-GAAP measure (see pages 27-31 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP 
measurements), declined by 10% from FY 2013. 
 
Sales volume in FY 2014 also declined by 10% when compared to FY 2013 due to a 9% decline in gold production 
as a result of the cessation of mining and processing activities for Hislop due to the depletion of open pit Mineral 
Reserves. Production at Hislop has declined by 78% between the two periods. However, this decline was more 
than offset by the increase in throughput from Holt and the continuation of production activities at Holloway. (See 
“Operational Review”) 
 
Gold sales revenue for Q4 2014 was $28.4 million from the sale of 20,744 ounces of gold at an average realized 
price of US$1,202 per ounce as compared to revenue of $31.7 million from the sale of 23,985 ounces of gold at an 
average realized price of US$1,259 per ounce in Q4 2013. Both sales volume and realized price decreased in Q4 
2014 as a result of the curtailment of the Hislop operations and the decline in gold price as mentioned above. 
 
The following table summarizes the effect of the change in gold price and the changes in the US and Canadian 
dollar exchange rate on gold sales revenues in FY 2014 when compared to FY 2013, as well as Q4 2014 when 
compared to Q4 2013 and Q3 2014: 
 

 
 
TOLL MILLING 
 
In 2014, the Company entered into toll milling agreements with two local operators to process between 172,000 
tonnes and 230,000 tonnes of custom material from these parties at the Holt Mill. In FY 2014, the Company 
earned $2.5 million from processing 70,892 tonnes of custom material (see “Operation Review”).  
 
The opportunity for custom milling allows the Company to generate incremental revenue and at the same time to 
maximize the efficiencies of the Holt Mill in the processing of the Company’s own ore.   
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY REVIEW  
 
The Company considers a successful occupational health and safety program (“OHS”) as a core value and it strives 
for superior performance in this aspect. The Company’s OHS management system, which includes detailed 
standards and procedures for safe production and is contingent upon the Internal Responsibility System (“IRS”), 
addresses topics such as employee training, risk management, workplace inspection, emergency response, 
accident investigation and program auditing. In addition to strong leadership and involvement from all levels of 
the organization, these programs and procedures form the cornerstone of safety at SAS, ensuring that employees 
and contractors are provided a safe and healthy environment and are intended to reduce workplace accidents, 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per 
ounce amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Produced Sales Produced Sales Produced Sales Produced Sales Produced Sales
Consolidated mine operations (ounces):
Holt 14,908 13,996 13,579 13,775 15,087 15,400 62,633 61,447 58,898 58,101
Holloway 7,734 6,745 5,654 5,105 5,999 5,356 23,780 22,433 21,330 21,147
Hislop -                            2 5,067 5,105 80 972 4,263 4,942 19,320 19,406

22,643 20,744 24,300 23,985 21,166 21,728 90,676 88,822 99,548 98,654
Gold sales revenue:
Holt 19,153$          18,239$            21,572$            85,787$          84,271$            
Holloway 9,235                6,734                  7,518                  31,270             30,654               
Hislop 3                          6,734                  1,340                  6,911                28,058               

28,391$          31,707$            30,430$            123,967$       142,983$          

Average realized price per ounce of gold sold - US$ 1,202$             1,259$               1,275$               1,266$             1,408$               
Average spot gold price per ounce for the period - US$ 1,201$             1,274$               1,282$               1,266$             1,410$               

Q4 2014 compared to Q4 2013 Q4 2014 compared to Q3 2014 FY 2014 compared to FY 2013
Change (%) Change (%) Change (%)

Effect on change in gold price (1,343)$            (5%) (1,735)$            (6%) (14,002)$          (10%)
Effect on change in ounces of gold sold (4,424)               (4%) (1,343)               (4%) (13,743)            (10%)
Effect of 1 USD → CAD exchange rate 1,481                 4% 1,210                 4% 8,666                 6%
Effect of loss in foreign currency derivative contracts 56                       (1%) (170)                   (1%) 63                       0%

(4,230)$            (6%) (2,039)$            (7%) (19,016)$          (13%)

Change in gold sales revenue
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incidents and losses, comply with all mining-related regulations and provide support for both regulators and the 
industry to improve mine safety. 
 
In FY 2014, there were one lost time accident and seven medical aid incidents related to SAS employees. All the 
incidents were fully investigated to identify the root causes and the deficiencies identified were remedied. Total 
Medical Injury Frequency (“TMIF”) for SAS mine sites for FY 2014 was 2.2 as compared to the Ontario gold 
mining industry peer group of 3.9 (as per the December 2014 Workplace Safety North Mining Group Injury 
Statistic Program – Gold Mine). The TMIF calculates the frequency of the medical injury per 100 workers 
(200,000 worked hours) and is a measurement used by the mining industry to gauge companies’ health and 
safety performance. 
 
The TMIF variance represents an improvement of approximately 57% compared to FY 2013 (TMIF of 5.9).  
During Q4 2014, the SAS staff employees and all the employees at the Holt Mill reached a milestone of 1,000 safe 
days with no reportable injury. 
 
SAS remains committed to provide a safe workplace for its employees and will continue to work with the Joint 
Health and Safety Committee to improve its health and safety standards and performance. 
 
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA 
  

 
Notes:  
(1) The Company has not declared any dividends in the last eight financial quarters.  
(2) Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold, all-in sustaining cost per ounce of gold sold, cash margin from mine operations, average realized 

price per ounce of gold sold, cash margin per ounce of gold sold and operating cash flow per share are non-GAAP measures which do not 
have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to other similarly titled measures of other 
companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation. The Company believes that, in addition to conventional 
measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Company and certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company’s 
performance. Accordingly, it is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for 
measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS (see pages 28-30 for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements). 

(3) Included in gold sales and total revenue for Q2 2014, Q3 2014, Q4 2014 was revenue from toll milling of $0.3 million, $1.2 million and 
$1.0 million for a total of $2.5 million in FY 2014 (none in FY 2013).   

 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per 
share and otherwise noted Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 Q3 2013 Q2 2014 Q2 2013 Q1 2014 Q1 2013

SAS Operating Results
Gold production (ounces) 22,643 24,300 21,166 25,434 22,505 25,353 24,361 24,461
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 20,744 23,985 21,728 26,600 22,850 25,060 23,500 23,009

Per ounce data (US$)
   Average realized price (2) 1,202$               1,259$               1,275$               1,329$               1,285$               1,428$               1,294$               1,632$               

   Mine cash costs 706$                   843$                   742$                   720$                   761$                   780$                   740$                   794$                   
   Royalty costs 110                     108                     116                     112                     111                     117                     116                     145                     
   Total cash cost (2) (3) 816$                   951$                   858$                   832$                   872$                   897$                   856$                   939$                   

   Cash margin (2) 386$                   308$                   417$                   497$                   413$                   531$                   438$                   693$                   

   All-in sustaining cost (2) 1,042$               1,165$               1,060$               1,064$               1,098$               1,198$               1,089$               1,280$               

SAS Financial Results
Gold sales and total revenue (3) 29,383$            31,707$            31,660$            36,363$            31,935$            36,723$            33,481$            38,190$            
Cash margin from mine operations (2) 9,151$              7,771$              10,125$            13,381$            9,948$              13,715$            11,275$            16,409$            
Net income (loss) (67)$                   (4,365)$            (7,499)$            (599)$                553$                  (1,093)$            (1,806)$            1,039$              
Adjusted earnings (loss) 116$                  (4,675)$            1,631$              (880)$                (186)$                (874)$                (1,863)$            1,070$              
Operating cash flow 7,582$              6,903$              8,355$              8,880$              5,461$              6,968$              9,468$              13,780$            
Total assets 191,553$         211,070$         190,543$         216,860$         199,385$         218,715$         210,655$         223,807$         
Total non-current financial liabilities 1,284$              3,295$              1,701$              8,845$              2,409$              10,728$            3,070$              12,033$            

Per share information:
      Basic and diluted net income (loss) 0.00$                 (0.01)$               (0.02)$               0.00$                 0.00$                 0.00$                 0.00$                 0.00$                 
     Adjusted net earnings (loss) (0.00)$               (0.01)$               0.00$                 0.00$                 0.00$                 0.00$                 (0.01)$               0.00$                 
     Operating cash flow (2) 0.02$                 0.02$                 0.02$                 0.02$                 0.01$                 0.02$                 0.03$                 0.04$                 
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Notes:  
(1) Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold, cash margin from mine operations and mine site cost per tonne milled are non-GAAP measures 

which do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to other similarly titled measures of 
other companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation. The Company believes that, in addition to conventional 
measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Company and certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company’s 
performance. Accordingly, it is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for 
measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS (see pages 28-30 for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements). 

(2) Included in gold sales and total revenue for Q2 2014, Q3 2014, Q4 2014 was revenue from toll milling of $0.3 million, $1.2 million and 
$1.0 million for a total of $2.5 million in FY 2014 (none in FY 2013).   

(3) Toll milling revenue is allocated to each of SAS’s mine operations. 
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share 
and otherwise noted Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 Q3 2013 Q2 2014 Q2 2013 Q1 2014 Q1 2013

SAS Operating Results
Holt mill
Ore milled (tonnes)
   Holt Mine 120,721 81,791 101,826 104,800 106,282 93,081 113,279 89,985
   Holloway Mine 54,674 47,960 47,651 40,152 40,932 45,642 42,981 43,252
   Hislop Mine - 98,293 1,747 66,940 47,785 88,093 31,999 79,771

175,395 228,044 151,224 211,892 194,999 226,816 188,259 213,008
   Toll milling 28,179 - 34,981 - 7,732 - - -

203,574 228,044 186,205 211,892 202,731 226,816 188,259 213,008
Holt Mine
Tonnes milled 120,721 81,791 101,826 104,800 106,282 93,081 113,279 89,985
Head grade (g/t Au) 4.05 5.42 4.82 5.25 4.70 4.83 5.08 5.40
Average mill recovery 94.8% 95.2% 95.5% 95.0% 94.2% 94.9% 94.6% 94.8%
Gold produced (ounces) 14,908 13,579 15,087 16,807 15,140 13,706 17,497 14,806
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 13,996 13,775 15,400 16,381 15,534 14,230 16,516 13,715

Cash margin from mine operations (1) (2) 6,241$               6,915$               8,191$               10,677$            8,407$               9,341$               10,819$            11,887$            
Mine site cost per tonne milled (1) (2) (3) 96$                     114$                   108$                   90$                     106$                   95$                     96$                     106$                   

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) (2) (3)

   Mine cash costs 692$                   636$                   669$                   548$                   644$                   636$                   565$                   619$                   
   Royalty costs 120                     147                     129                     143                     130                     155                     133                     166                     
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) (2) (3) 812$                   783$                   798$                   691$                   774$                   791$                   698$                   785$                   

Holloway Mine
Tonnes milled 54,674 47,960 47,651 40,152 40,932 45,642 42,981 43,252
Head grade (g/t Au) 4.80 4.13 4.27 4.02 4.09 4.32 4.14 4.04
Average mill recovery 91.6% 88.9% 91.8% 89.7% 90.9% 92.6% 90.1% 91.5%
Gold produced (ounces) 7,734 5,654 5,999 4,662 4,893 5,874 5,154 5,140
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 6,745 5,105 5,356 5,741 5,157 5,175 5,175 5,126

Cash margin from mine operations (1) (2) 2,911$               562$                   1,606$               1,561$               1,083$               1,795$               589$                   2,391$               
Mine site cost per tonne milled (1) (2) (3) 111$                   122$                   119$                   131$                   124$                   113$                   153$                   124$                   

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) (2) (3)

   Mine cash costs 735$                   1,041$               915$                   938$                   979$                   947$                   1,082$               977$                   
   Royalty costs 90                        111                     99                        114                     100                     143                     105                     209                     
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) (2) (3) 825$                   1,152$               1,014$               1,052$               1,079$               1,090$               1,187$               1,186$               

Hislop Mine
Tonnes milled - 98,293 1,747 66,940 47,785 88,093 31,999 79,771
Head grade (g/t Au) - 1.96 1.76 2.27 2.14 2.43 2.09 2.14
Average mill recovery - 81.6% 81.2% 81.0% 75.1% 84.0% 79.4% 82.1%
Gold produced (ounces) - 5,068 80 3,965 2,472 5,773 1,710 4,515
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 2 5,105 972 4,478 2,159 5,655 1,809 4,168

Cash margin from mine operations (1) (2) (1)$                     294$                  328$                   1,143$               458$                   2,579$               (133)$                2,131$               
Mine site cost per tonne milled (1) (2) (3) -$                         69$                     100$                   67$                     52$                     64$                     86$                     67$                     0
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) (2) (3) 1,708$               1,202$               957$                   1,070$               1,079$               987$                   1,354$               1,139$               
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Fourth Quarter Review 
 
Q4 2014 compared to Q4 2013 
 
Net loss attributable to shareholders for Q4 2014 was $0.1 million or nil, on a per share basis, as compared to net 
loss of $4.4 million or $0.01 per share in Q4 2013. 
 
The table below outlines the key factors for the $4.3 million decrease in net loss for Q4 2014 compared to Q4 
2013:   
 

 
Notes: 
(1) Gold sales revenue decreased by $3.3 million due to a US$57 per ounce decrease in the average realized price per ounce of gold sold 

(which is a non-GAAP measure, see pages 28-30 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements) and a 14% decrease in sales 
volume, which was partially offset by the strengthening of the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.  

(2) The Company earned $1.0 million from toll milling operations in Q4 2014 as compared to none in Q4 2013. 
(3) Mine site operating costs increased by $3.3 million primarily due to the increase in operating costs at Holt due to the increase in 

throughput and the use of cemented backfill in 2014; offset by the curtailment of mining operations at Hislop. Mine-site cash cost on a 
per ounce basis in Q4 2014 was US$706 per ounce of gold sold as compared to US$843 per ounce of gold sold in Q4 2013, as a result of a 
US$38 per ounce contribution of toll milling operation in Q4 2014, the curtailment of the high cost operations at Hislop and a stronger US 
dollar relative to the Canadian dollar (see “Operational Review”). 

(4) Production royalties decreased by $0.1 million when compared to Q4 2013. On a per ounce basis, royalty cost increased by US$2 per 
ounce of gold sold as a result of a higher blended royalty rate in 2014 due to the cessation of the Hislop operation. In conjunction with the 
decrease in mine cash cost on a per ounce basis as mentioned in (2) above, total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (which is a non-GAAP 
measure, see pages 28-30 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements) decreased by US$135 per ounce, reflecting a 14% 
reduction from Q4 2013. 

(5) Exploration and corporate administrative expenditures increased by $1.1 million or 41% when compared to Q4 2013, as the Company 
accelerated its exploration drilling programs at Holt Zone 4 Extension and at other exploration targets in the camp (see “Exploration 
Update”). 

(6) Depreciation and depletion expense decreased by $5.3 million as a result of depletion of Mineral Reserves at Hislop and Holloway.  
(7) Mark-to-market activities on the advance royalty obligation in Q4 2014 resulted in an increased loss of $0.7 million, when compared to 

Q4 2013. 
(8) Mark-to-market loss on foreign currency derivative contracts in Q4 2014 resulted in a net gain of $0.2 million, when compared to Q4 

2013. 
 
  

Q4 2014 compared to Q4 2013

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars
Impact on 

earnings ($)

Increase 
(decrease) 

from Q3 2013 
(%)

Net loss - Q4 2013 (4,365)$                  

Decrease in gold sales revenue (1) (3,316)                    -10%
Increase in toll milling revenue (2) 992                          100%
Decrease in mine site operating costs (3) 3,583                      -17%
Decrease in production royalties (4) 121                          -4%
Increase in exploration and corporate administration costs (5) (1,091)                    41%
Decrease in depreciation and depletion (6) 5,346                      54%
Increase in mark-to-market loss on gold-linked liabilities (7) (649)                        109%
Increase in mark-to-market gain on foreign currency derivatives (8) 151                          166%
Decrease in foreign exchange loss 529                          -61%
Increase in deferred taxes (9) (1,611)                    -137%
Other miscellaneous items 243                          53%

4,298                      
Net loss - Q4 2014 (67)$                        
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Q4 2014 compared to Q3 2014 
 
The table below outlines the key factors for the $7.4 million decrease in net loss for Q4 2014 when compared to    
Q3 2014:   
 

 
Notes: 
(1) Gold sales revenue decreased by $2.0 million due to a US$74 per ounce decrease in the average realized price per ounce of gold sold 

(which is a non-GAAP measure, see pages 28-30 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements), which was partially offset by 
the strengthening of the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.  

(2) The Company earned $1.0 million in toll milling revenue in Q4 as compared to $1.2 million in Q3 2014. 
(3) Mine site operating costs for the two periods were relatively constant at between $17.0 and $18.0 million per period. On a per ounce 

basis, mine-site operating costs decreased by US$37 per ounce of gold sold from US$743 per ounce in Q3 2014 to US$706 per ounce in 
Q4 2014, primarily due to the stronger US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar (reflecting a 4% increase).  

(4) Production royalties decreased slightly between the two periods. In conjunction with the mine-site cash cost, total cash cost per ounce of 
gold sold (which is a non-GAAP measure, see pages 28-30 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measurements), in Q4 2014 was 
US$816 per ounce as compared to US$858 per ounce in Q3 2014, an improvement of US$42 per ounce of gold sold between the two 
periods. 

(5) The Company recognised an impairment loss on the Aquarius Project of $13.1 million in Q3 2014. 
(6) Exploration and corporate administrative expenditures increased by $1.1 million or 145% when compared to Q3 2014, as the Company 

accelerated its exploration drilling programs at Holt Zone 4 Extension and on other exploration targets in the camp.  
 
 

  

Q4 2014 compared to Q3 2014

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars
Impact on 

earnings ($)

Increase 
(decrease) 

from Q3 2014 
(%)

Net loss - Q3 2014 (7,499)$                  

Decrease in gold sales revenue (1) (2,039)                    -7%
Decrease in toll milling revenue (2) (238)                        -19%
Decrease in mine site operating costs (3) 1,167                      6%
Decrease in production royalties (4) 136                          -5%
Impairment loss (5) 13,110                    -100%
Increase in exploration and corporate administration costs (6) (1,133)                    44%
Increase in depreciation and depletion (273)                        6%
Increase in mark-to-market loss on gold-linked liabilities (171)                        147%
Other miscellaneous items (1,039)                    -166%
Increase in deferred tax (2,088)                    -137%

7,432                      
Net loss - Q4 2014 (67)$                        
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW 
  
HOLT MINE  
 

 
Note: 
(1) Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold, mine-site cost per tonne milled and cash margin from mine operations are non-GAAP measures 

which do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other 
companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation (see pages 28-30 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP 
measurements). 

 
Q4 2014 Review 
Holt produced 14,908 ounces of gold derived from Zone 4 on the 925 metre (“m”) Level and 1075m Level mining 
areas (60%) and from Zone 6 on the 775m Level (40%). Head grades were down approximately 16% from Q3 
2014 due to Zone 4 stope sequencing. However, throughput was 19% higher from Q3 2014 as the operation has 
now established the Zone 6 mining front at the 775m Level. Mill recoveries were at their expected level of 
approximately 95%. 
 
When compared to Q4 2013, throughput increased by 48% due to the increased mining rate from 1,000 tonnes 
per day (“tpd”) to 1,200 tpd throughout 2014. The improvement in mine operations was offset by a 25% decline 
in head grade and resulted in a net 10% increase in gold production over Q4 2013.  
 
Mine-site cost per tonne milled for Q4 2014 decreased by $18 per tonne to $96 per tonne milled when compared 
to Q4 2013, which was the result of the improvement in the mining rate. When compared to Q3 2014, mine-site 
cost per tonne decreased by $12 per tonne of ore milled, an 11% improvement due to the increased throughout in 
Q4 2014.  
 
Cash margin from mine operations in Q4 2014 decreased by $2.0 million over Q3 2014, but was comparable to Q4 
2013. Holt contributed 68% of the total cash margin from mine operations earned during Q4 2014. 
 
Capital Expenditures 
During Q4 2014, the Company incurred $2.3 million in mine development and $1.0 million in the procurement of 
mining equipment and surface infrastructure, for a total of $3.3 million in capital expenditures at Holt.  
 
Depreciation and depletion expense at Holt in Q4 2014 was in line with Q3 2014 and increased by $0.9 million 
over Q4 2013 due to the increased production rate.  
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit 
amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Tonnes milled 120,721         81,791              101,826            442,108         369,657            
Head grade (g/t Au) 4.05                  5.42                    4.82                    4.65                  5.22                    
Average mill recovery 94.8% 95.2% 95.5% 94.8% 95.0%

Gold produced (ounces) 14,908            13,579              15,087              62,633            58,898              
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 13,996            13,775              15,400              61,447            58,101              

Gold sales revenue 19,153$         18,239$            21,572$            85,787$         84,271$            

Cash margin from mine operations (1) 6,241$            6,915$              8,191$              33,659$         38,820$            

Mine site cost per tonne milled (1) 96$                   114$                  108$                  101$                100$                  

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1)

   Mine cash costs * 692$                636$                  669$                  640$                607$                  
   Royalty costs 120                   147                     129                     128                   152                     
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) 812$                783$                  798$                  768$                759$                  

Capital expenditures 3,274$            2,991$              2,699$              13,654$         12,965$            

Depreciation and depletion expense 3,531$            2,602$              3,299$              12,373$         10,316$            

* Toll milling revenue is allocated to each of SAS's mine operations
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FY 2014 Review 
For FY 2014, the Holt Mill processed 442,108 tonnes of ore from Holt as compared to 369,657 tonnes of ore in FY 
2013, a 20% increase as the mining rate gradually increased from 1,000 tpd to 1,200 tpd during the year. The 
head grade achieved for FY 2014 was 11% lower than the head grade achieved in FY 2013 due to the sequencing 
of Zone 4. The head grade achieved in FY 2014 remains comparable to the reserve grade for Holt. The increase in 
throughput, while offset somewhat by the lower head grade, gave rise to a 6% increase in gold production in FY 
2014, from 58,898 ounces to 62,633 ounces.  
 
Mine-site cost per tonne milled for FY 2014 increased by $1 per tonne from $100 per tonne milled incurred in FY 
2013, which resulted from the use of cemented rock fill as secondary stopes were mined throughout 2014. The 
cemented rock fill operation increased mine site operating costs by $10 per tonne of ore milled. This increase was 
partially offset partially by the reduction in other operating costs as a result of cost savings initiatives. 
 
Cash margin from mine operations in FY 2014 decreased by 13% over FY 2013 due to the decline in gold price. 
Holt contributed 83% of the total cash margin from mine operations earned during FY 2014 compared to 76% for 
FY 2013. 
 
Depreciation and depletion expense for FY 2014 increased by 20% over FY 2013 due to the 20% increase in 
throughput. 
 
Mineral Reserves and Resources Estimates 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Reserves Estimate for Holt outlined 3.9 million tonnes grading 4.75 g/t Au 
for 591,000 contained ounces of gold in the proven and probable categories. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Resources Estimate for Holt consisted of 7.56 million tonnes grading 3.94 
g/t Au for 957,000 contained ounces of gold in the measured and indicated categories and 7.9 million tonnes 
grading 4.67 g/t Au for 1,181,000 contained ounces of gold in the inferred category. Mineral Resources are 
reported exclusive of Mineral Reserves.  One million ounces of inferred resources were added in 2014 from the 
Zone 4 Extension discovery. 
 

Holt Mine – Mineral Reserves Estimate – December 31, 2014  
 

HOLT 

Proven Probable 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 
December 31, 2013 1,479 4.17 198 1,623 5.26 275 

December 31, 2014 1,452 4.26 199 2,414 5.05 392 
Notes: 
(1) Mineral Reserves were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Reserves were estimated using a gold price of US$1,250 per ounce and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Mineral Reserves for  Holt were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an averaged cut-off grade of 3.02 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
 

Holt Mine – Mineral Resources Estimate – December 31, 2014 
 

HOLT 

Measured Indicated Inferred 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

At December 31, 2013 3,627 3.85 448 2,145 4.21 290 1,101 5.13 181 

At December 31, 2014 3,702 3.97 473 3,861 3.90 485 7,866 4.67 1,181 

Notes:  
(2) Mineral Resources were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(3) Mineral Resources for Holt, Holloway and Hislop used a US$1,250 per ounce gold price and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(4) Holt Mineral Resources were estimated at a cut-off grade of 2.50 g/t Au; 
(5) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
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Production Outlook 
The Company anticipates that Holt will contribute approximately 65% of the Company’s annual production for 
2015. 
 
HOLLOWAY MINE  
 

 
Notes: 
(1) Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold, mine-site cost per tonne milled and cash margin from mine operations, are non-GAAP measures 

which do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other 
companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation (see pages 27-31 hereof for a reconciliation of non-GAAP 
measurements). 

 
Q4 2014 Review 
Holloway produced 7,734 ounces of gold entirely from the Smoke Deep Zone (“Smoke Deep”). Production 
increased by approximately 30% compared to Q3 2014 as a result of higher tonnes, higher head grades, and stope 
sequencing. The head grade during the quarter was 12% higher than Q3 2014, and the mill recovery rate of 
approximately 92% was in line with expectations. At the outset of 2014, the known Mineral Reserves at Holloway 
were initially forecasted to be fully depleted by Q2 2014. However, due to a successful underground mine 
exploration program in 2014, the known Mineral Reserves are now not expected to be depleted by Q3 2016. In 
addition, active exploration is ongoing and the discovery of additional mineralization is anticipated. 
 
When compared to Q4 2013, the 14% increase in throughput and in conjunction with a 16% higher head grade, 
resulted in a 37% increase in gold production.  
 
Mine–site cost per tonne milled in Q4 2014 decreased by 9% when compared to Q4 2013, and 7% when 
compared to Q3 2014, which was the result of the increase in productivity.     
 
Cash margin from mine operations in Q4 2014 increased by $2.3 million over Q4 2013 and $1.3 million over Q3 
2014, mainly as a result of the increased throughput, offset partially by the decline in gold price. Holloway 
contributed 15% of the total cash margin from mine operations earned during FY 2014 compared to 12% for FY 
2013. 
 
Capital Expenditures 
Mine capital expenditures incurred during Q4 2014 included $0.4 million for the procurement of mining 
equipment.   

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit 
amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Tonnes milled 54,674            47,960              47,651              186,239         177,006            
Head grade (g/t Au) 4.80                  4.13                    4.27                    4.36                  4.13                    
Average mill recovery 91.6% 88.9% 91.8% 91.2% 90.7%

Gold produced (ounces) 7,734               5,654                 5,999                 23,780            21,330              
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 6,745               5,105                 5,356                 22,433            21,147              

Gold sales revenue 9,235$            6,734$              7,518$              31,270$         30,654$            

Cash margin from mine operations (1) 2,911$            562$                  1,606$              6,189$            6,309$              

Mine site cost per tonne milled (1) 111$                122$                  119$                  125$                122$                  

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1)

   Mine cash costs * 735$                1,041$              915$                  1,010$            975$                  
   Royalty costs 90                      111                     99                       108                   143                     
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US dollars) (1) 825$                1,152$              1,014$              1,118$            1,118$              

Capital expenditures 405$                130$                  290$                  1,215$            3,047$              

Depreciation and depletion expense 738$                4,848$              625$                  11,954$         13,984$            

* Toll milling revenue is allocated to each of SAS's mine operations
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Depreciation and depletion expense at Holloway during Q4 2014 decreased by $4.1 million over Q4 2013 
primarily due to the low asset depletion base in FY 2014. The expenditure level in Q4 2014 was comparable to 
that incurred in Q3 2014.  
FY 2014 Review 
For FY 2014, the Holt Mill processed 186,239 tonnes of ore from Holloway as compared to 177,006 tonnes of ore 
in FY 2013, reflecting a 5% improvement in throughput. Head grade achieved in FY 2014 was also 6% higher than 
that achieved in FY 2013, which resulted in an 11% increase in gold production, to 23,780 ounces. Production 
from Holloway accounted for 26% of the Company’s total production in 2014, a significant improvement over the 
9% contribution that had been anticipated at the beginning of 2014. 
 
Mine–site cost per tonne milled increased by 3% in FY 2014 when compared to FY 2013 as all development costs 
associated with mining at Holloway are charged to operations as a result of the depletion of Mineral Reserves in 
FY 2014, as opposed to $2.3 million, or $13 per tonne of ore milled, of development costs incurred in FY 2013 
being capitalized.  
 
Despite the decline in gold price between FY 2014 and FY 2013, cash margin from mine operations earned in FY 
2014 of $6.2 million were comparable to the $6.3 million earned in FY 2013. In FY 2014, Holloway contributed 
15% of the total cash margin from mine operations earned during FY 2014 compared to 12% for FY 2013. 
 
Depreciation and depletion expense in FY 2014 decreased by $2.0 million over FY 2013 due to the depletion of 
Mineral Reserves at Holloway. As at December 31, 2014, the carrying value of the mineral interest and capitalized 
development expenditures for Holloway were fully depleted in FY 2014. The remaining Holloway asset of $2.9 
million at December 31, 2014, represents the carrying value of the plant and equipment at site. 
 
Mineral Reserves and Resources Estimates 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Reserves Estimate for Holloway outlined 0.2 million tonnes grading 5.35 
g/t Au for 40,000 ounces of gold in the probable category.  
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Resources Estimate for Holloway outlined 0.8 million tonnes grading 4.61 
g/t Au for 117,000 contained ounces of gold in the measured and indicated categories and 2.5 million tonnes 
grading 4.88 g/t Au for 389,000 contained ounces of gold in the inferred category. Mineral Resources are reported 
exclusive of Mineral Reserves.  
 

Holloway Mine – Mineral Reserves Estimate – December 31, 2014 
 

HOLLOWAY 

Proven Probable 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 
December 31, 2013 37 4.47 5 22 4.53 3 

December 31, 2014 -  -  -  233 5.35 40 
Notes: 
(1) Mineral Reserves were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Reserves were estimated using a gold price of US$1,250 per ounce and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Mineral Reserves for  Holloway were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an averaged cut-off grade of 4.11 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
 

Holloway Mine – Mineral Resources Estimate – December 31, 2014 
 

HOLLOWAY 

Measured Indicated Inferred 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

At December 31, 2013 281 3.83 35 3,179 4.10 419 3,279 4.59 484 

At December 31, 2014 310 4.71 47 482 4.54 70 2,479 4.88 389 
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Notes: 
(1) Mineral Resources were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Resources for Holt, Holloway and Hislop used a US$1,250 per ounce gold price and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Holloway Mineral Resources were estimated at a cut-off grade of 2.50 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
 
Production Outlook 
Based on the information above, production at Holloway is expected to continue into Q3 of 2016.  The Company 
anticipates that Holloway will contribute approximately 25% of the Company’s annual production for 2015. 
 
HISLOP MINE  
 

 
Notes:  
(1) Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold, mine-site cost per tonne milled and cash margin from mine operations are non-GAAP measures 

which do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other 
companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation (see pages 28-31 hereof for reconciliation of non-GAAP 
measurements).  

(2) Hislop is subject to a 4% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) which includes a minimum advance royalty payment obligation (see “Gold-
linked Liabilities”). 

(3) Toll milling revenue is allocated to each of SAS’s mine operations. 
 
Q4 2014 Review 
The mining and processing activities for Hislop curtailed during Q3 2014.  
 
FY 2014 Review 
For FY 2014, the Holt Mill processed 81,530 tonnes of ore from Hislop as opposed to 333,097 tonnes of ore in FY 
2013, a reduction of 76% as the open pit Mineral Reserves at the mine were fully depleted in Q3 2014, which 
resulted in a 78% decrease in gold production as compared to the prior year.  
 
Mine-site cost per tonne milled incurred in FY 2014 of $67 per tonne of ore milled was comparable to that 
incurred in FY 2013.  
 
As a result of the depletion of the open pit reserves in 2014, cash margin from mine operations decreased by $5.5 
million in FY 2014 when compared to FY 2013. In FY 2014, Hislop contributed 2% of the cash margin from mine 
operations as compared to 12% in FY 2013. 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit 
amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Overburden stripped (m3) -                    19,646              -                      -                    127,547            

Tonnes mined (ore) -                    35,540              -                      79,971            316,179            
                          (waste) -                    377,627            -                      223,712         1,348,216        

-                    413,167            -                      303,683         1,664,395        

Waste-to-Ore Ratio -                    10.6                    -                      2.8                     4.3                      

Tonnes milled -                    98,293              1,747                 81,530            333,097            
Head grade (g/t Au) -                    1.96                    1.76                    2.12                  2.19                    
Average mill recovery -                    81.6% 81.2% 76.8% 82.3%

Gold produced (ounces) -                    5,067                 80                       4,263               19,320              
Commercial gold production sold (ounces) 2                         5,105                 972                     4,942               19,406              

Gold sales revenue 3$                      6,734$              1,340$              6,911$            28,058$            

Cash margin from mine operations (1) (1)$                    294$                  328$                  650$                6,147$              

Mine site cost per tonne milled (1) (3) -$                  69$                     100$                  67$                   67$                     

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US Dollars)(1)(2)(3) 1,708$            1,202$              957$                  1,147$            1,096$              

Capital expenditures -$                  -$                   -$                   -$                  20$                     

Depreciation and depletion expense -$                  2,186$              88$                     289$                12,026$            
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Mineral Reserves and Resources Estimates 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Reserves Estimate for Hislop outlined 0.3 million tonnes grading 5.16 g/t 
Au for 46,000 contained ounces of gold in the probable category.  
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Resources Estimate for Hislop outlined 1 million tonnes grading 4.01 g/t Au 
for 125,000 contained ounces of gold in the indicated category and 0.7 million tonnes grading 4.16 g/t Au for 
92,000 contained ounces of gold in the inferred category. Mineral Resources are reported exclusives of Mineral 
Reserves.  
 

Hislop Mine – Mineral Reserves Estimate – December 31, 2014 
 

HISLOP 

Proven Probable 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 
December 31, 2013 7 1.07 0.3 381 4.36 53 

December 31, 2014 - - - 280 5.16 46 
Notes: 
(1) Mineral Reserves were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Reserves were estimated using a gold price of US$1,250 per ounce and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Mineral Reserves for  Hislop were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an averaged cut-off grade of 3.00 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 

 
Hislop Mine – Mineral Resources Estimate – December 31, 2014  

 

HISLOP 

Measured Indicated Inferred 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

At December 31, 2013 - - - 983 4.01 125 690 4.16 92 

At December 31, 2014 - -  983 4.01 127 690 4.16 92 

Notes: 
(1) Mineral Resources were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Resources for Holt, Holloway and Hislop used a US$1,250 per ounce gold price and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Hislop Mineral Resources were estimated at a cut-off grade of 2.50 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
 
Production Outlook 
The Company is assessing the timing of developing Thor, with Probable Mineral Reserves of 280,000 tonnes 
grading 5.16 g/t Au containing 46,000 ounces (situated below the West Pit) and subsequent underground 
production. Exploration at the Hislop Property continues at the Pit Complex (beneath the East and West pits) and 
at the Hislop North Project. 
 
ADVANCED STAGE EXPLORATION - TAYLOR  
 
Taylor consists of three defined mineralized deposits situated immediately south of the Porcupine Destor Fault 
Zone, commencing with the Shaft Zone on the eastern side, the West Porphyry Zone (“WPZ”), which contains the 
majority of the Mineral Reserves and Resources in the middle of the property and the Shoot Zone (“Shoot”) 
situated on the west side of the property; and approximately 70 km west of the Holt Mill. Exploration potential 
associated with each of these deposits is believed to be excellent as drilling indicates that the mineralized zones 
remain open along strike and at depth.   
 
At the beginning of 2013, SAS made the decision to advance the ramp in order to provide a better drill platform to 
target the 1004 lens, which hosts approximately 80% of the Mineral Reserves at the WPZ however the gold price 
environment eroded and capital development was placed on hold. A decision was taken at the end of 2013 to 
resume development and extract the second bulk sample located in the 1004 lens. 
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The FY 2014 program consisted of approximately 2,000m of ramp development and access towards the 1004 lens 
at the WPZ, underground diamond drilling and the extraction and processing of an 18,000 tonne bulk sample.  
 
In FY 2014, the Company also completed the in-fill drill program of the 1004 lens which totalled (102) drill holes 
collared from drill bays in the ramp development on the 220m, 250m and 305m Sub level elevations, totaling 
17,500m and conducted 3,000m of surface drilling. The assay results from the underground program have been 
consistent, illustrating better grade continuity and mineral widths than previously envisioned. Mineral Resource 
expansion drilling demonstrates the potential to expand mineralization on the 1004 resource block to depth and 
to the west.  
 
SAS processed 9,784 tonnes of the 17,540-tonne bulk sample program in Q4 2014, being the first batch of the bulk 
sample program, which contained an average head grade of 8.21 g/t Au and recovered 2,521 ounces of gold. The 
processing of the remaining 7,756 tonnes of the second bulk sample was completed on January 27, 2015, which 
reported a head grade of 10.00 g/t Au. The mill reconciled head grade of 9.01 g/t Au for the total 17,540 tonnes 
processed yielded 4,948 ounces of recovered gold at an average mill recovery of 97.4%, which was 2.4% above 
the expected recovery rate. In addition, the Company conducted a full representative sampling program using a 
sample tower prior to the processing of the material. The results of this program, which were analyzed and 
compiled by a third party accredited laboratory (SGS), returned an average head grade of 8.74 g/t using a 30.00 
g/t capping value.  
 
The 2014 updated Mineral Reserves and Resource estimates incorporate infill drill results completed at year end. 
In Q4 2014, the Company conducted geological modeling and technical work to update the resource model, as 
well as maintaining surface and ramp infrastructure. Subsequent to an update to the Mineral Resources and Block 
Model, Mineral Reserves at Taylor were also updated (see 2014 MRMR Statement).  On February 12, 2015, the 
Company completed a detailed reconciliation of the second bulk sample and as a result, a decision was made to 
advance the project towards production by the end of 2015. 
 
Mineral Reserves and Resources Estimates 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Reserves Estimate for Taylor outlined 0.8 million tonnes grading 6.27 g/t 
Au for 156,000 contained ounces of gold in the probable category in the WPZ only.  
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Mineral Resources Estimate for Taylor outlined 2.3 million tonnes grading 4.76 g/t 
Au for 356,000 contained ounces of gold in the indicated category and 2 million tonnes grading 4.10 g/t Au for 
257,000 contained ounces of gold in the inferred category. Mineral Resources are reported exclusive of Mineral 
Reserves and include the WPZ and Shoot.  
 

Taylor Project – Mineral Reserves Estimate – December 31, 2014  
 

TAYLOR 

Proven Probable 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 

Tonnes 
('000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

('000 oz) 
December 31, 2013 - - - 736 5.63 133 

December 31, 2014 - - - 774 6.27 156 
Notes: 
(1) Mineral Reserves were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Reserves were estimated using a gold price of US$1,250 per ounce and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Mineral Reserves for  Taylor were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an averaged cut-off grade of 3.48 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
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Taylor Project – Mineral Resources Estimate – December 31, 2014 
 

TAYLOR 

Measured Indicated Inferred 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

At December 31, 2013 - - - 1,704 5.03 275 1,929 3.96 246 

At December 31, 2014 - - - 2,323 4.76 356 1,951 4.10 257 

Notes: 
(1) Mineral Resources were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Resources for Holt, Holloway and Hislop used a US$1,250 per ounce gold price and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Hislop Mineral Resources were estimated at a cut-off grade of 2.50 g/t Au; 
(4) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands and as a result, totals may not add exactly due to rounding. 
 
HOLT MILL 
 
For FY 2014, the Holt Mill processed 709,877 tonnes of ore from Holt, Holloway and Hislop, 9,784 tonnes of ore 
from the Taylor second bulk sample and 70,892 tonnes of custom ore, for a total of 790,553 tonnes as compared 
to 888,226 tonnes of ore from Holt, Holloway and Hislop (including 8,467 tonnes of ore from the Taylor first bulk 
sample) in FY 2013. This represents an average milling rate of 2,166 tonnes per day during 2014.  
 
Capital expenditures incurred at the Holt Mill in FY 2014 were $0.4 million, which consisted of major 
refurbishments and equipment upgrades. 
 
ADVANCED STAGE EXPLORATION – AQUARIUS PROJECT (“AQUARIUS”) 
 
The Company completed its assessment of the carrying value of its cash-generating units (“CGUs”) during Q3 
2014, which consist of its operating mines, Taylor, Aquarius and other exploration properties. As a result of the 
impairment assessment, the Company recorded an after-tax, non-cash impairment loss of $9.8 million ($13.1 
million before taxes) in respect of the Aquarius.  
 
The impairment test for the Aquarius CGU was based on a gold price assumption of US$1,250 per ounce and an US 
dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate of US$1 to $1.08; and on a 7,000 tpd optimized open pit economic model 
based on the construction and permitting of a 7,000 tpd mill, which would require a lead time of 3 years and 
significant upfront capital. The resulting non-cash charge for Aquarius was due to a number of factors, including a 
decline in industry-wide valuations and the Company’s growing understanding of the Aquarius’ parameters, 
including its analysis of a draft mine plan. There is no impairment loss for the Company’s other CGUs.   
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MINERAL RESERVES AND MINERAL RESOURCES RECONCILIATION 
 
Compared to the December 31, 2013 Mineral Reserves Estimate, the December 31, 2014 Mineral Reserves 
Estimate increased from approximately 668,000 ounces to approximately 833,000 ounces. The majority of the 
contribution to the Mineral Reserve Inventory is from the Ghost Zone at Holt (155,000 ounces).  The net increase 
in the Mineral Reserve Estimate from a year ago, taking into account the depletion of FY 2014 production of 
90,676 ounces of (97,725 ounces in-situ) reserves, is 263,000 ounces for an overall gain of 40%.  
 
Compared to the December 31, 2013 Mineral Resources Estimate, the December 31, 2014 Mineral Resources have 
decreased by approximately 135,000 ounces of gold in the measured and indicated categories, and have increased 
by over 1 million ounces of gold in the inferred category. The slight decrease in the Measured & Indicated 
Resource category from a year ago does not take into account the conversion of a significant number of ounces to 
Mineral Reserves. In 2014, the Company’s exploration programs focused on Mineral Resource expansion and new 
discoveries outside the existing resource boundaries. As a result, the Inferred Mineral Resources increased by 
over 1 million ounces from a year ago. 
 

SAS – Mineral Reserves Estimates (December 31, 2014) 
 

Property 

Proven Probable Proven + Probable 
Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  Au 
(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces Au 
(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces Au 
(‘000 oz) 

Holt  1,452 4.26 199 2,414 5.05 392 3,866 4.75 591 

Holloway  - - - 233 5.35 40 233 5.35 40 

Taylor  - - - 774 6.27 156 774 6.27 156 

Hislop  - - - 280 5.16 46 280 5.16 46 

TOTAL 1,452 4.26 199 3,701 5.33 634 5,153 5.03 833 

Notes:  
(1) Mineral Reserves were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Reserves were estimated using a gold price of US$1,250 per ounce and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Mineral Reserves for  Holt were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an averaged cut-off grade of 3.02 g/t Au; 
(4) Mineral Reserves for Holloway were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an average cut-off grade of 4.11 g/t Au; 
(5) Mineral Reserves for Hislop were estimated using a “stope by stope” method at an average cut-off grade of 3.00 g/t Au for Thor; 
(6) Mineral Reserves for Taylor were estimated using a “stope-by-stope” method with average cut-off grade of 3.48 g/t; 
(7) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands. As a result, rows and columns may not add up exactly due to 

rounding. 
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SAS – Mineral Resources Estimates (December 31, 2014) 
 

Project Measured Indicated Measured + Indicated Inferred 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t 
Au) 

Ounces  
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Tonnes 
(‘000) 

Grade 
(g/t 
Au) 

Ounces 
Au 

(‘000 oz) 

Holt 3,702 3.97 473 3,861 3.90 485 7,563 3.94 957 7,866 4.67 1,181 

Holloway 310 4.71 47 482 4.54 70 792 4.61 117 2,479 4.88 389 

Hislop - - - 983 4.01 127 983 4.01 127 690 4.16 92 

Taylor - - - 2,323 4.76 356 2,323 4.76 356 1,951 4.10 257 

Aquarius - - - 22,300 1.29 926 22,300 1.29 926 9 0.79 0 

Clavos - - - 503 4.81 78 503 4.81 78 318 4.73 48 

Ludgate - - - 522 4.06 68 522 4.06 68 1,396 3.60 162 

Canamax - - - 240 5.09 39 240 5.09 39 170 4.26 23 

TOTAL 4,012 4.03 520 31,214 2.14 2,149 35,227 2.36 2,668 14,879 4.50 2,154 

Notes:  
(1) Mineral Resources were estimated by Management according to CIM Definition Standards – November 2010; 
(2) Mineral Resources for Holt, Holloway and Hislop used a US$1,250 per ounce gold price and an exchange rate of C$1.08 = US$1.00; 
(3) Mineral Resources were estimated at a cut-off grade of 2.50 g/t Au with the exception of: 
(4) Mineral Resources for Taylor Shoot zone estimated using a 3.00 g/t Au Cut-off grade; 
(5) Mineral Resources for Aquarius are as of the 2012-2013 John Reddick Report & SRK Mining Study; 
(6) Mineral Resources for Clavos Project JV represent 40%, as per the option agreement with Sage Gold; 
(7) Clavos Resources were calculated by RPA as per the October 23, 2012 RPA Technical report; 
(8) Tonnes and gold ounce information is rounded to the nearest thousands. As a result, rows and columns may not add up exactly due to 

rounding. 
 
OUTLOOK FOR 2015 
 
SAS produced 90,676 ounces of gold in FY 2014 meeting its production guidance of between 85,000 – 95,000 
ounces. Mine cash costs in FY 2014 were US$738 per ounce of gold sold, better than guidance of between US$750-
US$800 per ounce of gold sold. SAS is forecasting 2015 annual production to be at the same level as FY 2014 of 
between 85,000– 95,000 ounces of gold from its Holt and Holloway operations, with a similar mine cash cost 
estimate as made in FY 2014 of between US$750 – US$800 per ounce of gold sold. The Taylor production will be 
included into the forecast once the timing is better understood. It is anticipated commercial production could 
commence in Q3 2015 and Taylor would contribute 10,000 – 15,000 ounces of production. Gold produced prior to 
commercial production being declared, will be applied to the pre-production cost of bringing Taylor to 
commercial production. 
 
In 2015, SAS will focus on bringing Taylor into commercial production and will continue its cost containment 
initiative at all of the operations, with the objective of maximizing cash margin from mine operations. Exploration 
remains focused on the near-mine targets and key targets remain at Holt, where drilling will continue on the Zone 
4 Extension (Phase 2), West of Tousignant and along the McKenna Fault. On the Holloway Property, exploration 
will explore for the depth extension of the Canamax deposit and determine if the mineralization joins up with the 
Deep Thunder Zone at depth. Several targets will be actively explored on both the Hislop and Taylor properties. 
SAS is sufficiently funded to achieve its near-term objectives.  
 
The Company’s objectives for 2015 are to: 

 Improve on the Health and Safety performance for the company with a minimum 20% reduction in the SAS 
Total Medical Injury Frequency from 4.8 (2014) to 4.0  

 Finalize and execute the Taylor mine plan and bring Taylor into commercial production by the end of 2015; 

 Achieve its 2015 annual gold production target from Holt and Holloway, and improve on operational 
efficiencies at Holt in order to further reduce cash costs and ensure an increase in production going forward; 
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 Maintain the strategic exploration plan, particularly on prospective targets adjacent to the operations; 

 Ensure the financial capacity of the Company is sufficient to support planned exploration, development and 
operating programs;  

 Maintain and continue to develop a skilled labour force capable of sustaining the levels of gold production 
and exploration efforts planned at the Company’s properties in Timmins; 

 Establish a growing gold production profile through development projects, through continued exploration 
success, and through mine mergers and/or acquisitions; and 

 Continue to evaluate opportunities to increase shareholder value. 
 
EXPENSES 
 
Site maintenance and pre-production  
 
Site maintenance expense in FY 2014 was negligible as compared to $0.2 million in FY 2013. Ongoing annual 
expenditures to maintain the idle sites in good condition are expected to be insignificant. 
 
Exploration expenditures 
 
 

 
 
Exploration expenditures incurred in FY 2014 decreased by 20% when compared to the expenditures incurred in 
FY 2013 as a result of the cost reduction initiatives implemented in 2014. Despite the reduced expenditures, the 
Company has increased exploration efforts at certain of the near mine targets. (See “Exploration Projects Review 
and Update”.) 
 
Corporate administration 
Corporate administration expenditures for FY 2014 decreased by $2.0 million when compared to the $7.1 million 
incurred for FY 2013 as a result of reduced head counts at the corporate level and lower consulting and 
professional fees. 
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

General and grassroots exploration:
   General exploration 379$                491$                  525$                  1,725$            1,530$              
   Hislop North 178                   69                       396                     1,064               800                     
   Holloway - Deep Thunder & Ghost Zone 1,319               17                       109                     1,887               81                       
   Garrison Property 199                   -                      -                      243                   -                      
Other 130                   16                       61                       405                   59                       

2,205$            593$                  1,091$              5,324$            2,470$              
Mine site exploration
   Holloway 266                   280                     263                     829                   2,906                 
   Hislop -                    -                      -                      -                    1,668                 
   Holt 116                   56                       26                       242                   927                     

382                   336                     289                     1,071               5,501                 
Total 2,588$            929$                  1,380$              6,396$            7,971$              

Additions to Exploration and Evaluation Assets:
The exploration expenditures itemized above do not include the following exploration
 and evaluation expenditures incurred for the respective periods which were capitalized
 as exploration and evaluation assets:

Exploration and evaluation expenditures capitalized 2,096$            783$                  4,576$              14,782$         7,014$              
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Finance costs 
 
Finance costs for FY 2014 decreased by $0.5 million when compared to FY 2013. 
 

 
 
Secured Credit Facility 
 
In May 2012, the Company completed a US$25.0 million secured credit facility with a Canadian chartered bank 
(the “Secured Credit Facility”). The Secured Credit Facility consisted of a US$10.0 million revolving credit facility 
and a US$15.0 million term credit facility. The Secured Credit Facility matured on May 8, 2014, and the Company 
retired the remaining balance of US$7.0 million of the term credit facility with cash on hand. The US$10.0 million 
revolving facility remained undrawn through the term of the Secured Credit Facility. 
 
The Company extended the US$10.0 million revolving facility, until May 6, 2016. Interest rates on the extended 
facility range from 2.50% to 3.25% on prime rate based advances and from 3.50% to 4.25% on LIBOR based 
advances. Depending on the level of the Company’s financial strength, standby charges on the facility range from 
0.875% to 1.0625% per annum. The revolving credit facility is secured by fixed charges over the Company’s 
freehold and leasehold interests in Holt, Holloway, Hislop and Taylor and by a security interest over the 
Company’s present and future acquired personal properties. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company was in full compliance with the debt covenants associated with the 
revolving credit facility, which primarily consisted of satisfying certain levels of the total debt ratio, current asset 
ratio and net worth requirements and complying with various other negative covenants as defined in the credit 
agreement.  
 
Capital Leasing Facility 
 
The Company has a capital leasing facility (the “Leasing Facility”) with a chartered Canadian bank, in the amount 
of $3.0 million, of which $2.2 million was drawn down for the procurement of mining equipment at Holt. As at 
December 31, 2014, $1.2 million remained outstanding under the Leasing Facility. The annual interest rate on the 
Leasing Facility is 3.8% per annum for the duration of the Facility. 
 
Gold-linked Liabilities 
 
The Company’s advance royalty payment obligation is classified as a derivative instrument and accordingly, the 
instrument is marked-to-market for each financial reporting period.   
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Non-cash interest on Advance royalty payment obligation 129$                149$                  123$                  500$                581$                  
Interest and standby fees on bank credit facility 25                      100                     24                       198                   454                     
Amortization of bank credit facility transaction costs 14                      50                       14                       230                   246                     
Capital lease obligations and other 22                      9                          23                       98                      72                       
Accretion of asset retirement obligation 37                      153                     69                       424                   607                     
Total 227$                461$                  253$                  1,450$            1,960$              
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The following table summarizes the mark-to-market and other activities relating to the advance royalty payment 
obligation since the beginning of the fiscal period: 
 

 
 
Under a royalty agreement in respect of Hislop (of which the Company granted a 4% NSR), the Company is 
obligated to make 80 monthly minimum advance royalty payments, commencing February 2010, in the cash 
equivalent of 100 ounces of gold, to an aggregate 8,000 ounces of gold. The advance royalty payment obligation is 
accounted for as a repayment of the debt instrument. SAS is able to recoup these payments which are then 
credited against the production royalty otherwise payable, based on a 4% NSR on gold production at Hislop. 
Payments made during the minimum obligation period will result in a reduction to the debt payment obligation. 
Payments made beyond the debt payment obligation period will be recognized as a production royalty expense. 
For FY 2014, the Company incurred advance royalty payments of $1.7 million as compared to $1.8 million for FY 
2013. 
 
The mark-to-market loss on the advance royalty payment obligation was $0.3 million in FY 2014, which was the 
result of a decrease of US$479 per ounce in the forward gold prices used to value this derivative, offset partially 
by the strengthening of the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar.  
 
Mark-to-market gain (loss) on foreign currency derivatives 
The following table outlines the outstanding foreign currency derivative contracts outstanding at December 31, 
2014: 
 

 
 
Cash Flow Hedge derivatives 
At December 31, 2014, the Company designated foreign currency forward contracts to sell US$13.0 million into 
Canadian dollars, which mature in the first half of 2015, as cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges have been entered 
into by the Company in order to hedge its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations of US dollar denominated 
settlement of gold sales. For FY 2014, mark-to-market loss on these derivatives subject to cash flow hedge 
accounting was $0.1 million (net of taxes of $0.01 million) and was accounted for as a component of other 
comprehensive income. 
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian 
dollars

January 1, 
2014

Foreign 
exchange 

adjustment
Gold price 

adjustment
Amortized 

interest Repayments
December 

31, 2014

Advance royalty payment obligation
Gold delivery commitment 4,241$              328$                  77$                     -$                   (1,704)$            2,942$              
Unamortized interest (971)                   (65)                     -                      501                     -                      (535)                   

3,270$            263$                77$                   501$                (1,704)$          2,407$            

January 1, 
2013

Foreign 
exchange 

adjustment
Gold price 

adjustment
Amortized 

interest Repayments
December 

31, 2013

Gold delivery commitment 7,552$              453$                  (1,965)$            -$                   (1,799)$            4,241$              
Unamortized interest (1,468)               (84)                     -                      581                     -                      (971)                   

6,084$            369$                (1,965)$          581$                (1,799)$          3,270$            

Maturing in
Amounts in thousands of United States dollars 2015 Total

Non-hedge derivative foreign currency contracts $9,000 9,000$              
Average foreign currency contract rate - 1 USD → CAD 1.160                 1.160                 

Forward currency contracts designated as cash flow hedge $13,000 13,000$            
Average foreign currency contract rate - 1 USD → CAD 1.143                 1.143                 
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Non-hedge derivatives 
At December 31, 2014, the Company had outstanding derivative foreign currency contracts to sell US$9.0 million 
into Canadian dollars which mature throughout 2015. The Company concluded that these foreign currency 
derivative contracts, which represent an economic hedge of gold sales revenues, do not meet the strict hedge 
effectiveness criteria. Accordingly, these derivative contracts are accounted for as non-hedge derivatives, of which 
the change in their fair value in each reporting period is included in earnings.  
 
The mark-to-market gain on these derivatives in FY 2014 was $0.7 million, which did not impact cash flow, and 
was the result of the strengthening of the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar at the end of the period. 
 
See also “Financial Instruments and Other Instruments” for a discussion of risks associated with the use of 
derivatives. 
 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 
The following table provides details of the realized foreign exchange gain (loss) during Q4 2014, Q4 2013, Q3 
2014, FY 2014 and FY 2013:  
 

 
 
INCOME AND MINING TAXES 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2014, SAS had expected future tax deductions of $206.1 million and $43.9 million, available to 
reduce future income taxes and Ontario mining taxes, respectively. At current gold price levels, the Company does 
not anticipate income taxes payable until beyond 2017 and mining taxes payable in 2015(which currently stand 
at an effective tax rate of 8.5% based on mining profits).       
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Realized loss on foreign non-hedge currency derivatives (430)$              (875)$                (173)$                (1,710)$          (1,465)$            
Translation gain (loss) on US dollar denominated net assets 95                      11                       129                     89                      10                       
Total (335)$              (864)$                (44)$                   (1,621)$          (1,455)$            

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Income and mining tax expense (recovery):
Current:
   Income taxes -$                  -$                   -$                   -$                  -$                   
   Mining taxes -                    -                      -                      -                    -                      

-                    -                      -                      -                    -                      
Deferred:
   Income taxes 54                      (1,228)               (2,086)               (2,566)             (1,973)               
   Mining taxes 434                   51                       432                     896                   1,609                 

488                   (1,177)               (1,654)               (1,670)             (364)                   

Total 488$                (1,177)$            (1,654)$            (1,670)$          (364)$                

The following table reconciles the Company's effective income and mining tax
 expense to the statutory income tax expense for the relevant periods:
Income (loss) before taxes 367$                (5,542)               (9,149)$            (10,486)$       (5,382)$            
Canadian income tax rate 25.0% 25.0% 25.0% 25.0% 25.0%
Tax based on statutory income tax rate 92                      (1,386)               (2,287)               (2,622)             (1,346)               
Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes and other (38)                    114                     201                     56                      379                     
Write-down of available-for-sale investment -                    (17)                     -                      -                    108                     
Harmonization of Ontario provincial income taxes -                    61                       -                      -                    142                     
Change in unrecognized net deferred income tax assets -                    -                      -                      -                    (1,256)               

54                      (1,228)               (2,086)               (2,566)             (1,973)               
Provision for (recovery of) mining tax 380                   51                       432                     896                   1,609                 
Net deferred tax expense (recovery) 434$                (1,177)$            (1,654)$            (1,670)$          (364)$                

25 



Exploration Projects Review and Update 
 
Exploration activities during FY 2014 continued to focus on the near mine targets, specifically exploring for strike 
and depth extensions of the known mineralized zones and also exploring for potential repetitions and satellite 
zones situated near the operations. In 2014, SAS drilled a total of 40,300m of surface core and an additional 
33,200m of underground drilling. The majority of surface drilling activities were focused on the evaluation of Holt 
Deep Zone 4 Extension at Holt, on the Canamax Zone at Holloway, and on the 147 and Grey Fox mineralized 
extensions on the Hislop property. The majority of the underground drilling took place on the 1055 Sublevel at 
Holt, on the 925m and 945m Levels at Holloway to evaluate the potential of Smoke Deep and the 220m, 250m and 
305m Sub levels at Taylor targeting the easterly strike extension of the 1004 lens of the WPZ.  
 
More generative exploration targets were evaluated during the 2014 field season with SAS exploration personnel 
conducting geochemical sampling, trenching and mapping exercises on the Company’s claims situated in Cook 
and Harker Township. A number of field season generated targets warrant drill follow-up in 2015.   
 
HOLT – HOLT DEEP ZONE 4 EXTENSION (“ZONE 4”) 
 
In mid-2014, SAS commenced a deep surface drilling program to test for multiple flat-lying, en-echelon 
mineralized zones and ultimately targeting mineralization associated with the westerly strike projection of Zone 
4 (the most significant production horizon being mined at Holt). At year end, a total of 19 surface holes and 
associated wedge cuts totaling approximately 15,100m and 11 underground holes totaling 1,450m, were 
completed. In mid-January, SAS reported an exploration update on the Zone 4 Deep Drilling which included assay 
results of 4.02 g/t Au over 37.3m including 7.64 g/t Au over 11.3m and 21.37 g/t Au over 21.7m (18.71 g/t Au 
cut). These drill intercepts have extended the known mineralized strike length of Zone 4 by approximately 800m 
west of the 1075m Level drift ( the closest development access point) and some 600m west of SAS’s historical 
surface drilling. Assay results from these drill programs will be compiled and used in the generation of an updated 
NI 43-101 Mineral Resource estimate for the Zone 4 west extension. 
 
HOLLOWAY – SMOKE DEEP AND CANAMAX DRILLING  
 
Underground drilling at Smoke Deep was conducted throughout 2014 from a series of underground drill 
platforms (situated on the 865m Level, 905m Level, 925m Level and most recently the 945m Level), to test for the 
mineralized extensions of the zone further to the east, west and down dip. The drill program was successful and 
drilling continues to extend the Smoke Deep deposit along strike to the east. This drilling has effectively extended 
the known mineralized strike length of the deposit by approximately 200m to the east for a total strike length of 
500 m. (Refer to program drill results in the press release dated July 8, 2014, available under the Company’s 
profile on www.sedar.com or on the Company’s website at www.sasgoldmines.com. )  
 
At Canamax, a total of 10 holes totaling 2,400m were drilled in 2014 to effectively confirm the historical drill 
results. These drill results will contribute to the updated Mineral Resource estimate for the property.   
 
HISLOP – HISLOP NORTH PROJECT (“HISLOP NORTH”)  
 
Drilling at Hislop North focussed on tightening the drill spacing on the 147 and Grey Fox zone extensions, from 
the claim boundary towards the West Pit.  A total of 20 surface holes totaling approximately 5,100m were drilled 
using one rig. Near surface intersections over significant widths were intercepted in drill hole H14-019 which 
returned 10.38 g/t Au over 25.0m (5.58 g/t Au cut) including 12.01 g/t Au over 4.0 m. This hole continues to 
demonstrate the continuity of the 147 mineralization onto SAS property. (See press release dated September 11, 
2014, available under the Company’s profile on www.sedar.com or on the Company’s website at 
www.sasgoldmines.com.)  
 
These intercepts are hosted within a brecciated albitic mafic volcanic with significant quartz veining and 
disseminated pyrite. The mineralized intercepts are situated directly along strike from the 147, Grey Fox South 
and Hislop North mineralized trend. Expansion of the mineralization remains open to depth and the Company 
expects to commence a third phase of drilling on both target areas at Hislop North in early 2015.  
 
 

26 



 
TAYLOR – WEST PORPHYRY ZONE 1004 LENS DRILLING  
 
During 2014, at Taylor, the Company completed the in-fill drill program of the 1004 lens which totalled (102) drill 
holes collared from drill bays in the ramp development on the 220m, 250m and 305m Sub level elevations, 
totaling 17,500 m. Drilling targeted the easterly strike extension of the 1004 and 1006 lens resource blocks, 
situated within the WPZ, in the vicinity of the second bulk sample.  Significant assay results reported by SAS were 
in hole T220-039  which assayed 12.98 g/t Au over 15.3m (9.79 g/t Au cut) and including 20.21 g/t Au over 9.2m 
(14.91 g/t Au cut) and hole T250-006  which assayed 11.01 g/t Au over 12.3 m, (4.97 g/t Au cut). (See press 
release dated September 11, 2014, available under the Company’s profile on www.sedar.com or on the Company’s 
website at www.sasgoldmines.com.) 
 
The results continue to provide additional information which will be used to increase the Company's 
understanding of both the geological and structural setting in the east end of the 1004 lens and to confirm the 
tenor and orientation of the mineralization. 
 
EXPLORATION PLAN FOR 2015  
 
The exploration objectives for 2015 include (in order of priority): 
 
Taylor 
• Exploration drilling is planned for targets situated both to the north and west of the WPZ.     
 
Hislop 
• Surface drilling will focus on a target known as the V2 zone extension. 
• Phase III drilling on the 147 and Grey Fox zone extensions along the northern boundary of the property.  
Holt 
• Phase II Surface drilling will continue to follow-up on the Holt Deep Zone 4 mineralized trend, in order to in-

fill gaps in the drill coverage, to better define the geometry of the mineralized zone and to test the McKenna 
Fault (northern side of the mineralized corridor) for mineral potential.   

• Surface drilling is planned west of the Tousignant Zone, whereby SAS will employ the same exploration model 
which generated success at Holt Deep in 2014, to test for en-echelon mineralized extensions, both to the west 
of Tousignant along strike and at depth. 

 
Garrison Township 
• Phase II Drilling on the Garrison Creek Project to test both the Porcupine-Destor Fault Zone (“PDFZ”) and 

Syenite targets. 

Other 
• Phase II drilling will be conducted on the Ludgate property to assess mineral potential associated with the 

northern branch of the PDFZ.  
• On-going assessment of the mineral potential and target definition associated with SAS claims.  

NON-GAAP MEASURES 
 
ADJUSTED NET EARNINGS (LOSS) 
 
Adjusted net earnings (loss) is a non-GAAP performance measure and does not constitute a measure recognized 
by IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning defined by IFRS, and may not be comparable to information in 
other gold producers’ reports and filings. Adjusted net earnings (loss) is calculated by removing the gains and 
losses, resulting from the mark-to-market revaluation of the Company’s gold-linked liabilities and foreign 
currency derivative contracts, one-time gains or losses on the disposition of non-core assets, periodic adjustments 
to the Company’s asset retirement obligations, and expenses, asset impairment gains or losses and significant tax 
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adjustments not related to current period’s earnings, as detailed in the table below.  The Company discloses this 
measure, which is based on its Financial Statements, to assist in the understanding of the Company’s operating 
results and financial position. 
  

 
Note: 
(1)      After tax impairment loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $9,833 or $0.03 per share (net of tax recovery of $3,277). 
 
 
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold 
 
Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold is a non-GAAP performance measure which does not have a standardized 
meaning defined by IFRS and may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ reports and filings. 
The Company has included this non-GAAP performance measure throughout this document as the Company 
believes that this generally accepted industry performance measure provides a useful indication of the Company’s 
operational performance. The Company believes that, in addition to conventional measures prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company’s performance and ability 
to generate cash flow. Accordingly, it is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered 
in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. The following table 
provides a reconciliation of total cash costs per ounce of gold sold to production expenses per the Financial 
Statements for Q4 2014, Q4 2013, Q3 2014, FY 2014 and FY 2013: 
 

 
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share 
amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Net income (loss) per Financial Statements (67)$                 (4,365)$            (7,499)$            (8,816)$          (5,018)$            
Reversal of unrecognized deferred income tax assets -                    -                      -                      -                    (1,256)               
Mark-to-market loss (gain) on gold-linked liabilities 55                      (594)                   (116)                   340                   (1,596)               
Mark-to-market loss (gain) on foreign currency derivatives (60)                    91                       280                     (663)                 1,065                 
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments -                    67                       -                      -                    567                     
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets -                    -                      (4)                        145                   -                      
Impairment loss (1) -                    -                      13,110              13,110            -                      
Write-down of mining equipment and investment -                    -                      -                      -                    994                     
One-time accrual adjustment -                    -                      (1,095)               (1,094)             -                      
Net change in provision 250                   -                      -                      (527)                 -                      
Tax effect of above items (61)                    126                     (3,045)               (2,792)             (116)                   
Adjusted net earnings (loss) 116$                (4,675)$          1,631$              (297)$              (5,360)$            

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (000s)
   Basic 368,296         368,295            368,296            368,296         368,270            
   Diluted 368,296         368,295            368,296            368,296         368,270            

Adjusted net earnings (loss) per share - basic and diluted (0.00)$                (0.01)$                 0.00$                   0.00$                  (0.01)$                 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where 
indicated Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Mine site operating costs per Financial Statements 17,633$          21,216$            18,800$            74,851$          79,499$            
Less: Toll milling revenue (992) -                            (1,230) (2,491) -                            
Production royalties per Financial Statements 2,599                2,720                  2,735                  11,109             12,208               
Total cash costs 19,240$          23,936$            20,305$            83,469$          91,707$            

Divided by gold ounces sold 20,744             23,985               21,728               88,822             98,654               

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (Canadian dollars) 928$                 998$                   935$                   940$                 930$                   

Average 1 USD → CAD exchange rate 1.14$                1.05$                  1.09$                  1.10$                1.03$                  

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold (US$) 816$                 951$                   858$                   851$                 902$                   
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All-in sustaining cost per ounce of gold sold 
 
All-in sustaining cost per ounce of gold sold is a non-GAAP performance measure, which does not have a 
standardized meaning defined by IFRS and may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ 
reports and filings. The Company has included this non-GAAP performance measure throughout this document as 
the Company believes that this generally accepted industry performance measure provides a useful indication of 
the Company’s operational performance. Effective Q3 2013, the Company has adopted the all-in sustaining 
definition as set out in the guidance note released by the World Gold Council on June 27, 2013. All-in sustaining 
costs include mine-site operating costs and production royalties incurred at the Company’s mining operations 
(net of toll milling revenue), sustaining capital expenditures, corporate administration expense, mine-site 
exploration costs, and reclamation cost accretion. The Company believes that this measure represents the total 
costs of producing gold from current operations, and provides the Company and other stakeholders with 
additional information that illustrates the Company’s operational performance and ability to generate cash flow. 
This cost measure is reported on a consolidated level and on a per-ounce of gold sold basis. As the measure seeks 
to reflect the full cost of gold production from current operations, new project capital is not included. Certain 
other cash expenditures, including tax payments and financing costs are also not included. 
 

 
 
Mine-site cost per tonne milled 
 
Mine-site cost per tonne milled is a non-GAAP performance measure, which does not have a standardized 
meaning defined by IFRS and may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ reports and filings. 
As illustrated in the table below, this measure is calculated by adjusting Production Costs, as shown in the 
statements of operations, for toll milling revenue and inventory level changes and then dividing by tonnes 
processed through the mill. Since total cash cost per ounce of gold sold data can be affected by fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates, Management believes that mine-site cost per tonne milled provides additional 
information regarding the performance of mining operations and allows Management to monitor operating costs 
on a more consistent basis as the per tonne milled measure reduces the cost variability associated with varying 
production levels. Management also uses this measure to determine the economic viability of mining blocks. As 
each mining block is evaluated based on the net realizable value of each tonne mined, the estimated revenue on a 
per tonne basis must be in excess of the mine-site cost per tonne milled in order to be economically viable. 
Management is aware that this per tonne milled measure is impacted by fluctuations in throughput and thus uses 
this evaluation tool in conjunction with production costs prepared in accordance with IFRS. This measure 
supplements production cost information prepared in accordance with IFRS and allows investors to distinguish 
between changes in production costs resulting from changes in production versus changes in operating 
performance. 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where 
indicated Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Mine site operating costs per Financial Statements 17,633$          21,216$            18,800$            74,851$          79,499$            
Less:  Toll milling revenue (992) -                            (1,230) (2,491) -                            
Production royalties per Financial Statements 2,599                2,720                  2,735                  11,109             12,208               

Add (less):
   Sustaining mine capital 3,790                3,255                  3,243                  15,304             14,416               
   Mine site exploration 388                    335                     289                     1,110                5,501                  
   Mine reclamation obligation 15                       98                        28                        251                    396                     
   Corporate administration 1,135                1,703                  1,210                  5,109                7,148                  
All-in sustaining costs 24,569$          29,327$            25,075$            105,244$       119,168$          

Divided by gold ounces sold 20,744             23,985               21,728               88,822             98,654               

All-in sustaining cost per ounce of gold sold (Canadian dollars) 1,184$             1,223$               1,154$               1,185$             1,208$               

Average 1 USD → CAD exchange rate 1.14$                1.05$                  1.09$                  1.10$                1.03$                  

All-in sustaining cost per ounce of gold sold (US$) 1,042$             1,165$               1,060$               1,072$             1,173$               
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Note: 
(1) Inventory adjustment reflects production costs associated with unsold bullion and in-circuit inventory. 
 
Cash margin from mine operations 
 
Cash margin from mine operations is a non-GAAP measure, which does not have standardized meaning defined by 
IFRS and may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ reports and filings. It is calculated as the 
difference between gold sales and production costs (comprised of mine-site operating costs and production 
royalties) per the Company’s Financial Statements. The Company believes it illustrates the performance of the 
Company’s operating mines and enables investors to better understand the Company’s performance in 
comparison to other gold producers who present results on a similar basis. 
 

 
 
  

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per tonne 
amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Holt Mine 
Mine site costs per Financial Statements 11,703$          9,196$               12,033$            45,069$          36,340$            
Less: toll milling revenue allocation (702)                 -                      (810)                   (1,626)             -                      
Inventory adjustments (1) 601                   85                       (265)                   1,290               770                     
Mine site operating costs 11,603$          9,281$               10,958$            44,733$          37,110$            

Divided by tonnes of ore milled 120,721         81,791              101,826            442,108         369,657            

Mine site cost per tonne milled 96$                   113$                  108$                  101$                100$                  

Holloway Mine 
Mine site costs per Financial Statements 5,927$             5,580$               5,745$               23,399$          21,247$            
Less: toll milling revenue allocation (291)                 -                      (410)                   (742)                 -                      
Inventory adjustments (1) 420                   254                     340                     693                   401                     
Mine site operating costs 6,056$             5,834$               5,675$               23,349$          21,648$            

Divided by tonnes of ore milled 54,674            47,960              47,651              186,239         177,006            

Mine site cost per tonne milled 111$                122$                  119$                  125$                122$                  

Hislop Mine
Mine site costs per Financial Statements 4$                      6,440$               1,022$               6,384$             21,912$            
Less: toll milling revenue allocation -                    -                      (10)                     (124)                 -                      
Inventory adjustments (1) (4)                       391                     (837)                   (834)                 341                     
Mine site operating costs -$                        6,831$               175$                   5,426$             22,253$            

Divided by tonnes of ore milled -                    98,293              1,747                 81,530            333,097            

Mine site cost per tonne milled -$                  69$                     100$                  67$                   67$                     

Mine site costs per Financial Statements
     Holt 11,703$         9,196$              12,033$            45,069$         36,340$            
     Holloway 5,927               5,580                 5,745                 23,399            21,247              
     Hislop 4                         6,440                 1,022                 6,384               21,912              

17,634$         21,216$            18,800$            74,851$         79,499$            

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Gold sales per Financial Statements [A] 28,391$          31,707$            30,430$            123,967$       142,983$          

Mine site operating costs per Financial Statements 17,633            21,216              18,800              74,851            79,499              
Less: Toll milling revenue (992)                 -                      (1,230)               (2,491)             -                      
Production royalties per Financial Statements 2,599               2,720                 2,735                 11,109            12,208              

[B] 19,240            23,936              20,305              83,469            91,707              
Cash margin from mine operations [A] - [B] 9,151$             7,771$               10,125$            40,498$          51,276$            

Breakdown of cash margin from mine operations by mines:
   Holt Mine 6,241$             6,915$               8,191$               33,659$          38,820$            
   Holloway Mine 2,911               562                     1,606                 6,189               6,309                 
   Hislop Mine (1)                       294                     328                     650                   6,147                 

9,151$             7,771$               10,125$            40,498$          51,276$            
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Average realized price per ounce of gold sold 
 
Average realized price per ounce of gold sold is a non-GAAP measure, which does not have standardized meaning 
defined by IFRS and is calculated by dividing gold sales proceeds received by the Company for the relevant period 
by the ounces of gold sold. It may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ reports and filings. 
 

 
 
Cash margin per ounce of gold sold 
 
Cash margin per ounce of gold sold is a non-GAAP measure, which does not have standardized meaning defined 
by IFRS and is calculated by subtracting the total cash cost per ounce of gold sold from the average realized price 
per ounce of gold sold. It may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ reports and filings.  
 

 
 
Net cash flow 
 
Net cash flow is a non-GAAP measure, which does not have standardized meaning defined by IFRS and is 
calculated by taking cash flow from operating activities less cash used in investing activities as reported in the 
Company’s Financial Statements. It may not be comparable to information in other gold producers’ reports and 
filings. 
 

 
 
Operating cash flow per share 
 
Operating cash flow per share is a non-GAAP measure, which does not have standardized meaning defined by 
IFRS and is calculated by dividing cash flow from operating activities in the Company’s Financial Statements by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding for each year.  It may not be comparable to information in 
other gold producers’ reports and filings. 
 

Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Gold sales per Financial Statements 28,391$         31,707$            30,430$            123,967$      142,983$         
Foreign exchange gain realized on the settlement of gold sales (247)                 (186)                   (250)                   (359)                 (683)                   
Gain (loss) on foreign currency derivative cash flow hedges realized 183                   244                     13                       582                   650                     

28,327$         31,765$            30,193$            124,190$      142,950$         

Average 1 USD → CAD exchange rate 1.14                  1.05                    1.09                    1.10                  1.03                    
Gold sales recorded in US$ 24,932$         30,193$            27,714$            112,405$      138,869$         

Divided by gold ounces sold 20,744            23,985              21,728              88,822            98,654              
Average realized price per ounce of gold sold (US$) 1,202$            1,259$              1,275$              1,266$            1,408$              

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated

Amounts in United States dollars Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Per ounce of gold sold:
   Average realized price per ounce of gold sold [A] 1,202$             1,259$               1,275$               1,266$             1,408$               
   Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold [B] 816                    951                     858                     851                    902                     
Cash margin per ounce of gold sold [A] - [B] 386$                 308$                   417$                   415$                 506$                   

Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Cash flow from operating activities per Financial Statements 7,586$               6,903$                 8,355$                 30,871$             36,531$              
Less:
   Cash used in investing activities per Financial Statements 5,888                  4,128                   6,943                   28,926               27,359                 

1,698$               2,775$                 1,412$                 1,945$               9,172$                 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Cash flow from operations 
 
For FY 2014, SAS generated $30.9 million in cash flow from operations, a decrease of $5.7 million over FY 2013, 
primarily due to the decline in gold sales revenue in FY 2014 which resulted from the lower gold price; offset 
partially by the cost savings achieved from the operating and costs containment programs.  
 
The following table highlights the major movements when comparing Q4 2014 cash flow from operations to Q4 
2013 and Q3 2014 and FY 2014 to FY 2013: 
  

 
 
Working capital as at December 31, 2014, was $9.6 million compared to a working capital of $13.8 million as at 
December 31, 2013. The main factor for the decrease in working capital by $4.2 million was the decline in net 
cash flow generation due to the lower gold price. However, the Company’s financial position remains strong at the 
end of FY 2014 despite the decline in gold price, with cash and cash equivalents of $21.5 million.   
 
The following table outlines the source and use from operating cash flow for Q4 2014 and FY 2014: 
 

 
 
Investing activities 
 
In FY 2014, the Company invested $16.0 million of sustaining capital at the mine operations (primarily Holt and 
Holloway) as compared to $18.0 million in FY 2013. In addition, the Company invested an additional $14.8 million 

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share 
amounts Q4 2014 Q4 2013 Q3 2014 FY 2014 FY 2013

Cash flow from operating activities per Financial Statements 7,586$       6,903$         8,355$         30,871$    36,531$      

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (000s) 368,296    368,295      368,296      368,296    368,270      

Operating cash flow per share 0.02$          0.02$            0.02$            0.08$          0.10$            

Cash flow from operations - Q3 2014, Q4 2013 and FY 2013 8,355$                         6,903$                         36,531$                      

Increase (decrease) in cash margin from mine operations (736)                             388                              (13,270)                       
Increase in toll mill revenue (238)                             992                              2,491                           
Net change in non-cash working capital 3,704                           446                              1,772                           
Decrease in exploration and corporate administration costs (1,194)                         (1,091)                         3,614                           
Decrease in interest costs (net) 25                                 64                                 158                              
Foreign exchange gain (loss) (291)                             529                              (166)                             
Other miscellaneous items (2,043)                         (649)                             (259)                             
Net increase (decrease) in cash flow from operations (773)                             679                              (5,660)                         
Cash flow from operations - Q4 2014 and FY 2014 7,582$                       7,582$                       30,871$                     

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars
Q4 2014 compared 

to Q4 2013
Q4 2014 compared 

to Q3 2014
FY 2014 compared 

to FY 2013

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars Q4 2014 FY 2014

Receipts from gold sales $       32,626 $       127,476
Procurement of materials and supplies (9,602) (27,102)
Employee payroll (9,220) (37,633)
Energy consumption (3,476) (15,307)
Payments to mining contractors for Hislop        0 (5,331)
Royalty payments (2,718) (11,013)
Interest paid (38) (363)
Interest received        9        144
Cash provided by operating activities $       7,582 $       30,871
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(net of incidental gold sales credit of $3.1 million from the second bulk sample) at Taylor in FY 2014 as compared 
to $7.0 million in FY 2013. As at December 31, 2014, the main ramp development at Taylor has been completed.  
 
Capital expenditure programs for 2015 are budgeted approximately $26.0 million, which consist of the following: 
 

 
 
Anticipated capital expenditures to be incurred at Holt, Holloway and the Holt Mill are substantially sustaining 
capital (see World Gold Council’s guidelines on sustaining capital). Capital expenditures forecasted at Taylor of 
$7.0 million for mine preproduction is net of $10.0 million of anticipated gold sales during the pre-production 
period.  
 
Capital Resources 
 
In the current gold price environment, SAS believes that with anticipated cash flow from operations in 2015 and 
its current cash balance of $21.5 million at the end of 2014, it will be able to finance its planned capital programs 
for 2015 and to fulfil its debt obligation. The Company has available to its capital resources a US$10.0 million 
revolving credit facility, which to date remains undrawn (see “Finance Costs – Secured Credit Facility”).  
 
Contractual Obligations 
 

 
Notes: 
(1) The Company’s royalty agreement on Hislop provides for cash payments of the monthly Advance royalty payment obligation equivalent 

to 100 ounces of gold, payable for 80 consecutive months commencing in February 2010, to a maximum of 8,000 ounces. The table above 
illustrates the Company’s commitment at December 31, 2014, under the Advance royalty payment obligation, valued at the estimated 
forward gold price at each delivery date.   

(2) The Company placed cash of $7.7 million and $1.3 million in the form of letters of credit as reclamation deposits with the environmental 
agencies in the form of reclamation bonds for its producing mines and other advanced projects. The Company’s asset retirement 
obligations in the above table reflect the Company’s estimate of the undiscounted future payment for expected cost of asset retirement 
obligations. 

 
Capital Expenditure Commitments 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had no capital commitments other than amounts already accrued or 
reflected in accounts payable. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 

Mine capital, Taylor and Aquarius expenditures budgeted for 2015
Holt 13,654$              16,000$              
Holloway 1,215                   900                      
Holt Mill 436                      2,000                   

15,304                 18,900                 
Taylor 15,417                 7,000                   
Aquarius and other 108                      100                      

30,829$              26,000$              

Budget for 
2015

Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars rounded to nearest million decimal place Incurred in FY 
2014

As at December 31, 2014 Total
Less than 1 

year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years
More than 5 

years

Accounts payable and other liabilities 13,094$            13,094$            -$                   -$                   -$                   
Employee-related liabilities 4,954                 4,954                 -                      -                      -                      
Royalties payable 1,220                 1,220                 -                      -                      -                      
Advance royalty payment obligation (1) 2,942                 1,680                 1,262                 -                      -                      
Capital lease obligations 1,500                 1,146                 316                     38                       -                      
Operating lease obligations 2,267                 342                     631                     648                     646                     
Asset retirement obligations (2) 10,773              925                     2,525                 187                     7,136                 
Total contractual obligations 36,750$            23,361$            4,734$              873$                  7,782$              
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Transactions with Related Parties  
 
There were no related party transactions during FY 2014. 
 
 
OUTSTANDING SHARE INFORMATION 

 

 
 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company cancelled 21,580 of the issued and outstanding shares. 
 
Financial Instruments and Other Instruments  
 
The Company’s financial risk management strategy focuses on preservation of capital and protecting current and 
future Company assets and cash flows by reducing exposure to risks posed by the uncertainties and volatilities of 
financial markets.  
 
The advance royalty payment obligation is classified as other financial liabilities with embedded derivatives (see 
“Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies and Changes in Accounting Policies, Including Initial Adoption – 
Accounting for Advance royalty payment obligation” on page 39). 
 
For an explanation of fair value hedges, cash flow hedges and non-hedge derivatives used by the Company, please 
refer to note 17 in the Company’s 2014 Financial Statements (see also “Expenses - Mark-to-market gain (loss) on 
foreign currency derivatives” on page 24). 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the Company’s assets. The types of risks include commodity price risk, currency risk, 
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk as outlined below. 
 
Commodity Price Risk  
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  Profitability of the Company depends to a significant extent on 
the prevailing market price for gold.  Gold price is affected by numerous factors such as the sale or purchase of 
gold by various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, 
fluctuations in the value of the United States dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and 
demand, and the political and economic conditions of major gold-producing countries throughout the world. The 
carrying value of the Company's advance royalty payment obligation is also subject to increases or decreases 
depending on the price of gold.   
 
Based on the operating results for FY 2014, a US$100 per ounce increase or decrease in the realized price of gold 
sold would have resulted in an $8.7 million increase or decrease in the Company’s pre-tax earnings. At December 
31, 2014, the Company does not hold any hedge positions on its gold production.   
 
The price of gold has declined significantly to a level which will impact the Company’s cash flow and operating 
results. There is no certainty that the price of gold will increase in the near term. The Company believes that it is 
able to execute its business plan in the current gold price environment. The Company continues to monitor this 
risk and will revise its operating plans accordingly in order to ensure its near-term and long-term cash flow 
objectives are met. 
 
The costs relating to the Company’s production and development activities vary depending on the market prices 
of electricity. Electricity is semi-regulated by the provincial government. The regulation of electricity prices 
reduces the risk of price fluctuation and the Company therefore does not hedge against such exposure.   

February 12, 2015

Issued and outstanding common shares 368,273,871               
Stock options - outstanding 14,454,500                 
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The recent decrease in oil price did not and is unlikely to materially impact the Company’s operations and the 
Company has not taken any action to hedge against this risk. In FY 2014, the Company purchased 50% of its 
anticipated propane consumption under a fixed price contract with a local supplier.   
   
Currency Risk 
Currency exchange rates are subject to fluctuation.  As the price of gold is primarily established in United States 
dollars and the Company’s expenses are primarily incurred in Canadian dollars, the Company is exposed to 
currency risk to the extent of a fluctuation in the foreign exchange rates between the Canadian and US dollars. 
Under the Company’s Foreign Exchange Risk Management Policy, approved by the Board of Directors, the 
Company may, from time to time, employ derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had outstanding derivative foreign currency contracts to sell US$22.0 
million into Canadian dollars which mature throughout 2015 at an average US dollar to Canadian dollar exchange 
rate of US$1 to $1.15. Recently, the US dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate has been particularly volatile as a 
result of the reduction of the Canadian key interest rate by the Bank of Canada and the decline in oil prices. The 
Company will closely monitor the movements in the currency market and may increase its existing US dollar 
forward selling position to take advantage of the current favourable US dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate 
position.  
 
A 10% increase or decrease in the US and Canadian dollar exchange rate as at December 31, 2014, would have 
resulted in an approximate $2.1 million decrease or $0.9 million increase, respectively, in the Company’s pre-tax 
earnings for the period. This impact would have no effect on the Company’s cash flows until the forward foreign 
currency contract matures. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a 
financial derivative. For cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable, credit risk is represented by the carrying 
amount on the balance sheet. The Company limits credit risk by entering into transactions with high credit-
quality counterparties and monitoring the financial condition of counterparties. The Company closely monitors its 
financial assets and does not have any significant concentration of credit risk. The Company sells its gold 
production to international financial institutions or bullion dealers with strong credit ratings or financial backing. 
The Company has never experienced a counter party default. At December 31, 2014, cash was invested in interest 
bearing deposits with financial institutions with strong credit ratings.  
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities.  The Company has a rigorous planning, budgeting and forecasting process to help determine 
the funds required to support the Company’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis and its 
expansionary plans.  The Company ensures there is sufficient cash to meet its short-term business requirements, 
taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash and cash equivalents.  At 
December 31, 2014, the Company held cash and cash equivalents of $21.5 million and has access to additional 
cash resources of US$10.0 million under the revolving credit facility and $0.8 million under the Leasing Facility. In 
conjunction with the expected cash flows from operations, the Company believes it has sufficient capital 
resources to finance its ongoing sustaining capital programs at the mines, the growth capital for Taylor and its 
planned exploration programs. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values and future cash flows of the Company will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its outstanding borrowings, 
cash and cash equivalents and money market investments. At December 31, 2014, SAS’ revolving credit facility is 
subject to a floating interest rate but the facility was undrawn throughout 2014. The interest on the Company’s 
Leasing Facility is based on a fixed rate of 3.8% per annum. The Company monitors its exposure to interest rates 
and is comfortable with its exposures given the relatively low short-term interest rates. The average interest rate 
earned per annum by the Company during 2014 on its cash and cash equivalents was 0.7%.  A 10% increase or 
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decrease in the interest earned from financial institutions on deposits held would result in a nominal increase or 
decrease in the Company’s pre-tax net earnings. 
 
Uncertainties and Risk Factors  
 
Certain risk factors and uncertainties that could materially affect the Company’s future financial performance are 
as follows: 
 
Fluctuations in the Gold Price 
The Company’s revenues are derived primarily from the mining and sale of gold. The price of gold has fluctuated 
widely, particularly in recent years, and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control, including 
international economic and political conditions, expectations of inflation, international currency exchange rates, 
interest rates, global or regional consumption patterns, speculative activities, levels of supply and demand, 
increased production due to new mine developments and improved mining and production methods, availability 
and costs and demand for gold substitutes, gold inventory levels maintained by producers and others and 
inventory carrying costs. The effect of these factors on the price of gold, and therefore the economic viability of 
the Company’s operations, cannot be accurately predicted.  
 
If the market price of gold declines significantly, it could affect the Company’s mining operations and its 
development and exploration initiatives. In addition, the economic prospects of the projects in which the 
Company holds an interest could be significantly reduced or rendered uneconomic. A prolonged decline in the 
price of gold may require the Company to reduce its estimates of Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s value. 
 
The Company has, from time to time, acquired gold and/or foreign currency hedge (or derivative product) 
obligations to manage the risks associated with gold price volatility, changes in commodity prices, interest rates 
and foreign currency exchange. Where the Company holds such derivative positions, it will deliver into such 
arrangements in the prescribed manner. The use of derivative instruments involves certain inherent risks as 
described above under “Financial Instruments and Other Instruments” including: (i) credit risk - the risk of default 
on amounts owing to the Company by the counterparties with which the Company has entered into such 
transactions; (ii) market liquidity risk – the risk that the Company has entered into a derivative position that 
cannot be closed out quickly, by either liquidating such derivative instrument or by establishing an offsetting 
position; and (iii) unrealized mark-to-market risk – the risk that, in respect of certain derivative products, an 
adverse change in market prices for commodities, currencies or interest rates will result in the Company 
incurring an unrealized mark-to-market loss in respect of such derivative products.  
 
In the case of a gold forward sales program, if the gold price rises above the price at which future production has 
been committed under a forward sales hedge program, SAS may have an opportunity loss; however, if the gold 
price falls below that committed price, revenues will be protected to the extent of such committed production. 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve future realized prices for gold that exceed the 
spot price as a result of any forward sales hedge program. The Company’s goldl price and foreign currency 
hedging practices are governed by a Risk Management Policy, as approved by the Board of Directors, which only 
permit the use of financial instruments to hedge the underlying risk at a conservative level.   
 
Fluctuations in Currency Exchange Rates 
Currency exchange rates are subject to fluctuation. The Company is currently exposed to market-rate risk to the 
extent of a fluctuation in the foreign exchange rates between the Canadian and United States dollars.  Fluctuations 
could affect revenue from the Company’s gold sales, which is received in United States dollars.  Exchange rate 
fluctuations are beyond the Company’s control and there can be no assurance that such fluctuations will not have 
a material adverse effect on the business, operating results, financial condition and profitability of the Company. 
The Company’s functional currency is Canadian dollars. Much of its costs are incurred in Canadian dollars but its 
revenue from the sale of gold is received in United States dollars. Accordingly, the Company is exposed to 
currency risk to the extent of a fluctuation in the foreign exchange rates between the Canadian and United States 
dollars. Additionally, the Company may be materially and adversely affected by increases in customs and duty 
rates, exchange or price controls, repatriation restrictions, or other restrictions on foreign currencies.  
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Estimates of Mineral Reserves and Resources, and Production Risks 
Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates are estimates only, and no assurance can be given that any 
particular level of recovery of minerals will in fact be realized or that identified Mineral Reserves or Mineral 
Resources will ever qualify as a commercially mineable (or viable) deposit which can be legally and economically 
exploited. In addition, the grade of mineralization which may ultimately be mined may differ from that indicated 
by drilling results and such differences could be material. Production can be affected by such factors as permitting 
regulations and requirements, weather, environmental factors, unforeseen technical difficulties, unusual or 
unexpected geological formations and work interruptions. The estimated Mineral Reserves and Mineral 
Resources should not be interpreted as assurances of commercial viability or potential or of the profitability of 
any future operations.   
 
Operations and Production Costs 
The Company prepares estimates of future production, operating costs and capital costs for its operations.  No 
assurance can be given that such estimates will be achieved. Failure to achieve production or cost estimates or a 
material increase in costs could have an adverse impact on the Company’ future cash flows, profitability, results of 
operations and financial condition. The Company’s actual production and costs may vary from estimates for a 
variety of reasons, including: actual ore mined varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and 
metallurgical and other characteristics; short-term operating factors relating to the Mineral Reserves, such as the 
need for sequential development of ore bodies and the processing of new or different ore grades; revisions to 
mine plans; difficulties with supply chain management, including the implementation and management of 
enterprise resource planning software; risks and hazards associated with mining; natural phenomena, such as 
inclement weather conditions, floods, and earthquakes; and unexpected labour shortages or strikes. Production 
costs may also be affected by a variety of factors, including: changing ore grade, metallurgy, availability of skilled 
labour and labour costs, the cost of supplies and services (for example, power and fuel), general inflationary 
pressures and currency exchange rates. 
 
Exploration and Development 
Exploration for gold and other minerals is highly speculative in nature, involves many risks and frequently is 
unsuccessful. There can be no assurance that exploration efforts will result in the discovery of mineralization or 
that any mineralization discovered will be converted into Mineral Reserves. If Mineral Reserves are developed, it 
may take a number of years and substantial expenditures from the initial phases of drilling until production is 
possible, during which time the economic feasibility of production may change. No assurance can be given that 
exploration programs will result in Mineral Reserves or that Mineral Reserves may be economically mined. The 
long-term profitability of the Company’s operations will, in part, be directly related to the cost and success of its 
exploration programs, which may be affected by a number of factors that are beyond the control of the Company.   
 
The Company plans to bring Taylor into commercial production by the end of 2015. Development projects, such 
as Taylor, rely on the accuracy of predicted factors including: capital and operating costs; metallurgical 
recoveries; Mineral Reserve estimates; and future metal prices. Development projects are also subject to accurate 
pre-feasibility or feasibility studies, the acquisition of surface or land rights and the issuance of necessary 
governmental permits. As a result of the substantial expenditures and timelines involved, developments are 
prone to material cost overruns versus budget. 
 
The Company must continually replace Mineral Reserves depleted by production to maintain production levels 
over the long term.  Mineral Reserves can be replaced by expanding known ore bodies, locating new deposits or 
making acquisitions.  Exploration is highly speculative in nature. The Company's exploration projects involve 
many risks and are frequently unsuccessful. Once a site with mineralization is discovered, it may take several 
years from the initial phases of drilling until production is possible, during which time the economic feasibility of 
production may change. Substantial expenditures are required to establish proven and probable Mineral Reserves 
and to construct mining and processing facilities. As a result, there is no assurance that current or future 
exploration programs will be successful. There is a risk that depletion of Mineral Reserves will not be offset by 
discoveries or acquisitions. The mineral base of the Company may decline if Mineral Reserves are mined without 
being replaced and the Company may not be able to sustain production beyond the current life of mine estimates 
developed by Management, based on current production rates. Life of mine estimates developed by Management 
for the Company’s operating mines are based on various assumptions relating to gold prices and exchange rates 
during the expected life of production, mineralization of the area to be mined, the projected cost of mining, and 
the results of additional planned development work. Actual future production rates and amounts, revenues, taxes, 
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operating expenses, environmental and regulatory compliance expenditures, development expenditures, and 
recovery rates may vary substantially from those assumed in the estimates. Any significant change in these 
assumptions, including changes that result from variances between projected and actual results, could result in 
material downward revision to current estimates. 
 
Operating Hazards and Uninsurable Risks 
The work which the Company is undertaking and proposes to undertake will be subject to the hazards and risks 
normally incidental to exploration, development and production of resources, any of which could result in work 
stoppages and damage to persons or property or the environment and possible legal liability for any and all 
damage. Fires, power outages, equipment failures, labour disruptions, flooding, explosions and cave-ins, are risks 
involved in the operation of mines and the conduct of exploration programs, which could result in damage to, or 
destruction of, mines and other production facilities, damage to life or property, environmental damage and 
possible legal liability. Mining and milling operations are subject to hazards such as equipment failure or failure of 
retaining dams around tailings disposal areas which may result in environmental pollution and liability.  Although 
the Company has taken precautions to mitigate these risks, these risks cannot be eliminated.  Although the 
Company has secured property and liability insurance policies to mitigate these risks, the available insurance 
does not cover all the potential risks associated with a mining company’s operations. The Company may also be 
unable to maintain insurance to cover insurable risks at economically feasible premiums, and insurance coverage 
may not be available in the future or may not be adequate to cover any resulting loss. Should any such losses or 
liabilities arise, the Company could incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its 
financial condition and results of the operations and result in a decline in the value of the Company and its 
securities. 
 
Permits and Licenses 
The operations of the Company require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. The 
Company’s producing mines and the Holt Mill are fully permitted. The Company is in the process of updating the 
final closure plans for the Holloway-Holt sites and anticipates that these plans will be accepted by the 
governmental ministries in 2015. In addition, the Company is required to obtain the necessary permits, including 
the updating of a mine closure plan, to bring Taylor towards commercial production. Obtaining the necessary 
governmental licenses and permits is a complex and time-consuming process involving numerous jurisdictions. 
Closure plans are subject to satisfactory First Nations consultation to those affected communities. The granting 
and enforcement of the terms of such licenses and permits are, in some circumstances, subject to the discretion of 
the applicable governmental authorities. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all 
necessary licenses and permits that may be required to carry out exploration, development and mining 
operations at its projects. 
 
Environmental Factors 
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions in 
which they operate. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and 
enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of 
proposed projects, and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and 
employees. The Company’s producing mines require permitting for air and water quality and water retention, and 
depending on the nature of the non-compliance, could result in potentially significant fines of up to $10.0 million 
per day. During FY 2014, there were no material notices of violations, fines or convictions relating to 
environmental matters at any of the Company’s operations. While the Company has established and follows 
rigorous environmental health and safety protocols, there is no assurance that a non-compliant event will not 
occur, which could materially adversely affect the Company’s operations and financial condition. Readers are 
cautioned that there is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely 
affect the Company’s operations or result in substantial costs and liabilities to the Company in the future.   
 
The Company was in full compliance with all environmental regulations in FY 2014. 
 
Regulations and Mining Law, Governmental Regulation 
Mining operations and exploration activities are subject to extensive federal, provincial, state and local laws and 
regulations governing exploration, development, production, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste 
disposal, protection and remediation of the environment, reclamation, mine safety, toxic substances and other 
matters. Compliance with such laws and regulations increases the costs of planning, designing, developing, 
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constructing, operating and closing mines and other facilities. There is no assurance that future changes in such 
regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. 
 
Other 
The foregoing summary of risks and uncertainties is not exhaustive. For further information regarding the 
Company’s operational and other risks, please refer to the section entitled “Description of the Business – Risk 
Factors” in the Company`s most recent AIF available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, 
or the Company’s website at www.sasgoldmines.com.  
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES, 
INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION  
 
Critical accounting judgements and estimates 
Management makes various estimates and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, revenue and expenses for each year presented. Changes in the estimates and assumptions will occur 
based on additional information and the occurrence of future events and actual results could differ from those 
estimates. The more significant areas requiring the use of management estimates and assumptions relate to 
Mineral Reserves that are the basis of future cash flow estimates and unit-of-production depreciation, depletion 
and amortization calculations, environmental, reclamation and closure obligations, estimates of recoverable gold 
and other materials in in-circuit inventory, asset impairments, write-downs of inventory to net realizable value, 
the fair value and accounting treatment of derivative financial instruments and deferred income and mining taxes. 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the financial year are discussed in note 3 to the Company’s annual 2014 
Financial Statements. 
 
Accounting for Advance royalty payment obligation 
The Advance royalty payment obligation is classified as other financial liabilities with embedded derivatives. 
Upon initial recognition, the fair value of the embedded gold forward derivatives within the Hislop advance 
royalty payment obligation representing the Company’s commitment to deliver gold or to make gold equivalent 
cash payments in the future were at zero. The following table compares the average forward gold prices used for 
the determination of the liability and the spot price for the last five quarters. 
 

 
(1) Spot price quoted by the LBMA P.M. fixings. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the gold delivery commitment on the advance royalty payment obligation is 
marked-to-market on each subsequent period based on the change in the forward gold prices at each gold 
delivery date. Changes in forward gold prices in future periods can have a significant impact on the carrying value 
of these financial derivatives.   
 
The liability for the advance royalty payment obligation is de-recognized when the Company’s gold delivery 
commitment is extinguished upon the delivery of the physical commodity (gold) or gold equivalent payment in 
cash to the royalty holder.    
 
Income and Mining Taxes 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a deferred income tax asset of $22.8 million, representing the 
value of the Company’s unutilized tax pools as at December 31, 2014. Future profitability and cash flows are 
estimated based on estimated quantities of recoverable gold, expected gold price (considering current and 
historical prices, trends and related factors), production levels, operating costs, capital requirements and 
reclamation costs, all based on life−of−mine plans. The significant assumptions in determining the future cash 

Amounts in United States dollars per ounce Q4 2014 Q3 2014 Q2 2014 Q1 2014 Q4 2013

Spot gold price at period end (1) 1,206$            1,217$            1,315$              1,292$              1,202$              
Advance royalty payment obligation 1,208$            1,231$            1,320$              1,302$              1,208$              
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flows for each mine site reporting unit at December 31, 2014, apart from production cost and capitalized 
expenditure assumptions which are unique to each mine, included a long-term gold price of US$1,250 per ounce 
and a US to Canadian dollar exchange rate of $1.08.  
 
Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption 
In 2014, the Company has adopted the following new and revised accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations as of January 1, 2014: 
 
IAS 36 – Impairment of assets, by improving disclosures required in relation to the recoverable amount of non-
financial assets.   
 
IFRIC 21 – Levies, which sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy that is not income tax.  The 
interpretation addresses what the obligating event is that gives rise to the recognition of a liability to pay a levy.   
 
The Company adopted these standards effective January 1, 2014 with no significant impact on its financial 
statements. 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
For a discussion on new IFRS standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards which are not 
yet effective that may impact the Company’s financial statements please refer to note 1 in the Company’s 2014 
Financial Statements. 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is 
gathered and reported to senior management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure. Management of 
the Company, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated 
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at December 31, 2014 as required by 
Canadian securities laws. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, 
have concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, the disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s annual filings and interim filings 
(as such terms are defined under National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and 
Interim Filings) and other reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities laws is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified by those laws and that material information is 
accumulated and communicated to management of the Company, including the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow for accurate disclosure to be made on a timely basis. 
 
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for certifying the design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
(“ICFR”) as required by National Instrument 52-109 – “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim 
Filings.” 
 
The Company’s ICFR is intended to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with applicable Canadian GAAP. 
ICFR should include those policies and procedures that establish the following: 
 
• Maintenance of records in reasonable detail, that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of our assets; 
 
• Reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 

statements in accordance with applicable Canadian GAAP; 
 
• Receipts and expenditures are only being made in accordance with authorizations of management and the 

Board of Directors; and 
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• Reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 

disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

Because of its inherent limitations, the Company’s ICFR may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance 
with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. 

 
Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an assessment of the 
design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting and concluded that 
the Company’s ICFR was effective, as at December 31, 2014. 
 
There was no change in the Company’s ICFR that occurred during Q4 2014 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR. 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
This MD&A contains “forward-looking statements” and “forward-looking information” (collectively “forward-
looking information”) as defined in applicable securities laws that reflect SAS’ current expectations and 
projections about its future results, plans and objectives. All statements other than statements of historical fact 
are considered forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is based on assumptions, estimates, 
analysis and opinions of Management made in light of its experience and its perception of trends, current 
conditions and expected developments, as well as other factors, which the Company believes to be relevant and 
reasonable in the circumstances.  
 
This MD&A uses words such as “estimate”, “intend”, “believe”,  “expect”,  “anticipate” , “plan”, “potential” and 
similar terminology to identify forward-looking information.  
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking information in the “Outlook for 2015” section and elsewhere. Specifically, 
there is forward-looking information regarding the Company’s production, operating and capital budgets, and 
planned gold production levels at Holt and Holloway; the development of the Thor Zone and of underground 
mining at Hislop; the extent and timing of development of Taylor into a producing mine and the timing thereof; 
the level of site maintenance expenditures; the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the Company’s currency 
forward contracts; the availability of tax deductions; the nature, location and objectives of exploration programs 
in 2015; the expansion of Mineral Resources and levels of production through successful exploration, 
development and acquisitions; the sufficiency of the Company’s cash flow and existing cash reserves to achieve its 
2015 objectives including the advancement of Taylor and other advanced stage exploration projects. In addition, 
Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources are considered to be forward-looking information as they involve the 
assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that such Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources can 
be economically produced in the future. 
 
Forward-looking information, by its very nature, is not a guarantee of SAS’ future operational or financial 
performance, and is subject to risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, as well as other factors that 
could cause SAS’ actual results, performance, prospects or opportunities to differ materially from those expressed 
in, or implied by this forward-looking information. These risks, uncertainties and factors may include, but are not 
limited to: risks associated with the mining industry (including operational risks in exploration, development and 
production; uncertainties relating to the interpretation of drill and other exploration results and the geology, 
continuity, grade and estimates of Mineral Reserves and resources; production risks and the uncertainty of 
estimates and projections in relation to development and production revenues and expenses; fluctuations in gold 
prices and currency exchange rates; fluctuations in energy prices; operational hazards and risks, including the 
inability to insure against all risks; compliance with applicable government regulations, including environmental 
requirements; the availability of adequate infrastructure; the Company’s limited financial resources and its ability 
to fund its operating and capital expenses necessary to achieve its business objectives; the Company’s 
dependence on key employees and its ability to recruit and retain sufficient qualified personnel to maintain the 
operations at their budgeted levels; the Company’s ability to compete with other mining companies possessing 
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greater financial resources; the Company’s ability to obtain requisite permits and licenses; risks arising from 
challenges to the Company’s title to its assets, including those arising in respect of aboriginal rights; and the 
potential for conflicts of interest to arise. A description of these risks and uncertainties are discussed herein and 
can also be found in the Company’s Annual Information Form obtained on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or implied by 
the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A. Such statements are based on a number of assumptions 
which may prove to be incorrect, including, but not limited to, assumptions about the general business and 
economic conditions; the accuracy of the Company’s reserve and resource estimates (including with respect to 
size, grade and recoverability) and the geological, operational and price assumptions on which these are based; 
no significant long term decrease in the price of gold; the volatility level of currency exchange rates; the ability to 
achieve capital and operating cost estimates; the sufficiency of cash reserves and operating cash flow to maintain 
and expand gold production, exploration and development activities, and the availability of additional financing 
on acceptable terms if and as required; the continued availability of adequate skilled manpower; and the 
retention of key personnel. 
 
Should one or more risks and uncertainties materialize or should any assumptions prove incorrect, then actual 
results could vary materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking information. Readers are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking information, which speak only as of the date of 
this MD&A or as of the date otherwise specifically indicated herein. Except as otherwise required by law, SAS 
disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking information, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise.   
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Additional information relating to SAS, including its AIF, is available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com, and on the Company’s website at www.sasgoldmines.com.  
 
QUALIFIED PERSONS 
 
Production at the Holt, Holloway and Hislop mines, processing at the Holt Mill, and mine development and 
production activities at the operations and evaluation activities at Taylor were being conducted under the 
supervision of Marc-Andre Pelletier, P. Eng., the General Manager of Operations. 
 
Exploration activities on the Company’s various mineral properties, including the drilling program at Taylor and 
the update of Mineral Resources is under the supervision of Mr. Doug Cater P. Geo, the Company’s Vice-President, 
Exploration. 
 
Mineral Reserves were updated under the supervision of Mr. Keyvan Salehi, P. Eng., MBA, the Company’s Senior 
Director, Corporate Development and Technical Services. 
 
Messrs. Pelletier, Cater and Salehi are qualified persons as defined by NI 43-101, and have reviewed and 
approved this MD&A. 
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Note
December 31, 

2014
December 31, 

2013

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 4 21,485$             33,690$               
Accounts receivable 5 1,220                  951                       
Inventories 6 10,128                8,638                    
Prepayments and other assets 324                      193                       

33,157                43,472                 

Exploration and evaluation assets 7 47,193                38,390                 
Producing properties 8 41,907                49,751                 
Plant and equipment 9 36,144                49,025                 
Reclamation deposits 13 7,736                  8,373                    
Restricted cash 18c 2,397                  1,695                    
Deferred tax assets 10 22,809                20,228                 
Other assets 210                      136                       

191,553$           211,070$             

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and other liabilities 11 13,094$             9,793$                 
Employee-related liabilities 4,954                  5,241                    
Royalties payable 1,220                  956                       
Provisions 11 250                      777                       
Derivative liabilities 17a 501                      1,105                    
Current portion of long-term debt 12 2,579                  11,754                 
Current portion of asset retirement obligations 13 925                      -                        

23,523                29,626                 

Long-term debt 12 1,284                  3,295                    
Asset retirement obligations 13 7,950                  12,023                 
Deferred tax liabilities 10 3,226                  2,330                    

35,983                47,274                 

Shareholders' equity:
Share capital 14 98,575                98,575                 
Contributed surplus 14 21,157                20,317                 
Stock options 14 3,986                  4,267                    
Retained earnings 31,962                40,778                 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (110)                    (141)                     

155,570             163,796               
191,553$           211,070$             

Commitments and contingent liabilities 18
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ST ANDREW GOLDFIELDS LTD. 
Statement of Shareholders’ Equity 
Amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars 
 
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. 

 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

 
 

Contributed 
surplus Stock options

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) Total

Note
Number of 

shares (000's) Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount

Balance - December 31, 2012 368,246               98,556$                19,892$                3,676$                  45,796$                17$                         167,937$             
Forfeited or expired stock options 425                         (425)                        -                          
Issued for property acquisitions 50                            19                            19                            
Share-based payments 14 1,016                      1,016                      
Net loss for the year (5,018)                    (5,018)                    
Other comprehensive loss (158)                        (158)                        
Balance - December 31, 2013 368,296               98,575$                20,317$                4,267$                  40,778$                (141)$                    163,796$             

Balance - December 31, 2013 368,296               98,575$                20,317$                4,267$                  40,778$                (141)$                    163,796$             
Forfeited or expired stock options 840                         (1,008)                    (168)                        
Share-based payments 14 727                         727                         
Net loss for the year (8,816)                    (8,816)                    
Other comprehensive loss 31                            31                            
Balance - December 31, 2014 368,296               98,575$                21,157$                3,986$                  31,962$                (110)$                    155,570$             

Share capital
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ST ANDREW GOLDFIELDS LTD. 
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share information 
 
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. 
  

 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

 

 

 

Note 2014 2013

Revenue
Gold sales 123,967$               142,983$                 
Toll milling 2,491                       -                             

126,458                  142,983                    

Operating costs and expenses:
Mine site operating 15a 74,851                    79,499                      
Production royalty 11,109                    12,208                      
Site maintenance 62                             182                            
Exploration 6,396                       7,971                        
Corporate administration 5,109                       7,148                        
Depreciation and depletion 25,548                    37,220                      
Impairment loss 8b 13,110                    -                             
Write-down of mining equipment and investment -                            994                            

136,185                  145,222                    
Operating loss (9,727)                     (2,239)                       

Finance costs 1,450                       1,960                        
Mark-to-market loss (gain) on gold-linked liabilities 17b 340                           (1,596)                       
Mark-to-market (gain) loss on foreign currency derivatives 17b (663)                         1,065                        
Foreign exchange loss 1,621                       1,455                        
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments -                            567                            
Finance income and other (1,989)                     (308)                          

759                           3,143                        
Loss before taxes (10,486)                   (5,382)                       
Net deferred tax recovery 10 (1,670)                     (364)                          
Net loss attributable to shareholders (8,816)$                   (5,018)$                    

Other comprehensive income (loss)
                               74                            (151)

                                 -                                567 

17b                             (43)                            (574)
                               31                            (158)

Comprehensive loss for the year (8,785)$                   (5,176)$                    

19  $                     (0.02)  $                      (0.01)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (000's)
Basic 368,296                  368,270                    
Diluted 368,296                  368,270                    

Basic and diluted loss per share

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments (nil tax effect)

Unrealized loss on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, net of tax of ($15) 
(2013 - $191)

Reclassification adjustment for impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 
(nil tax effect)
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ST ANDREW GOLDFIELDS LTD. 
Statements of Cash Flows  
Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars 
 
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. 
 
 

 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 
 

Note 2014 2013
Operating activities:

Net loss for the year (8,816)$                   (5,018)$                    
Items not affecting cash:

Net deferred tax recovery (1,670)                     (364)                          
Mark-to-market loss (gain) on gold-linked liabilities 12 340                           (1,596)                       
Non-cash interest 500                           1,434                        
Mark-to-market (gain) loss on foreign currency derivatives (663)                         1,065                        
Depreciation and depletion 25,548                    37,220                      
Write-down of mining equipment and investment -                            994                            
Net change in provision 18b (527)                         -                             
Impairment loss 8b 13,110                    -                             
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments -                            567                            
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 144                           -                             
Share-based payments 367                           1,209                        

Net change in non-cash operating working capital and other 4 2,736                       1,474                        
Interest paid (198)                         (454)                          

Cash provided by operating activities 30,871                    36,531                      
Investing activities:

Additions to exploration and evaluation assets (14,782)                   (7,014)                       
Mine development expenditures (8,558)                     (12,013)                    
Additions to plant and equipment 9 (7,538)                     (6,014)                       
Amounts payable on capital additions 1,879                       (1,925)                       
Reclamation costs and other (17)                            (393)                          
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 90                             -                             
Cash used in investing activities (28,926)                   (27,359)                    

Financing activities:
Advance royalty payments 12 (1,704)                     (1,799)                       
Capital lease payments 12 (1,074)                     (710)                          
Repayment of term credit facility 12 (9,815)                     (4,092)                       
Cash used in financing activities (12,593)                   (6,601)                       

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,557)                     463                            
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (12,205)                   3,034                        
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 33,690                    30,656                      
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 21,485$                  33,690$                    
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ST ANDREW GOLDFIELDS LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, or otherwise indicated 
 
Years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. 
 

St Andrew Goldfields Ltd. (”SAS” or the “Company” and operating as “SAS Goldmines”), is a company 
existing under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada, and is a Canadian based gold mining and 
exploration company with its mining assets located in the Timmins mining district, northeastern Ontario, 
Canada. The Company does not have any subsidiary companies. The address of the Company’s registered 
office is Suite 1500, 20 Adelaide Street East, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5C 2T6. The annual financial 
statements of the Company were approved by the Board of Directors on February 12, 2015. 

 
1. Basis of presentation 

 
Statement of compliance 
The Company prepares its financial statements under the principles of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). IFRS represents standards and interpretations approved by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and are comprised of IFRS, International 
Accounting Standards (“IASs”), and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRICs”).  
 
Basis of measurement 
The accompanying annual financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and liabilities 
(including derivative instruments), which have been brought to account at fair value through the 
statement of operations or through other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”) under 
shareholders’ equity.  

 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

  
Foreign currency translation 
 
The Company’s financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which represents the 
functional and presentation currency. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the prevailing 
exchange rates on the date of each transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognized in the statement of operations.  
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the prevailing exchange rates on the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the prevailing exchange 
rates on the date when the fair value was determined. 
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Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments recognized in the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, 
investments (included in other assets), accounts receivable, restricted cash and reclamation 
deposits, accounts payable and other liabilities, employee-related liabilities, royalties payable, 
long-term debt and derivative financial instruments. The particular recognition methods adopted 
are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item described below. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and highly liquid investments which are cashable 
or have an original term to maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase. Cash and cash 
equivalents are classified as loans and receivables. 
 
Investments 
The Company classifies all of its investments in shares of other public companies (which are 
recorded in other assets) as available-for-sale investments and are initially recorded at their fair 
values at the date of purchase plus directly attributable transaction costs. These investments are 
subsequently measured at their fair market value based on the quoted market prices with 
unrealized gains or losses excluded from earnings and reported as other comprehensive income or 
loss. If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, sold, or disposed of, the gains or losses will be 
recorded in earnings. 
 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized 
cost less provision for impairment. Estimates made for impairment are based on a review of all 
outstanding amounts at the end of each period. Uncollectible amounts are written off during the 
period in which they are identified. 
 
Restricted cash and reclamation deposits 
Cash which is subject to legal or contractual restrictions on use is classified separately as restricted 
cash. Cash deposits with environmental agencies are classified as reclamation deposits. Restricted 
cash and reclamation deposits are classified as loans and receivables. 
 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 
Accounts payable and other liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  
 
Employee-related liabilities 
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, discretionary bonus, accrued vacation, annual 
leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period are measured at the remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.  
 
Royalties payable 
Royalties payable are recognized initially at fair value in accordance with the terms of each royalty 
agreement. The amounts recognised are settled subsequent to each financial reporting period. 
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Advance royalty payment obligation  
The Company classified its financial obligation with respect to the advance royalty payment under 
the Hislop royalty agreement ( “gold-linked liabilities”) as other financial liabilities with embedded 
derivatives.  
 
At the end of each financial reporting period, the underlying gold delivery commitment or gold 
equivalent payment, to the counter parties under the advance royalty obligation, is mark-to-
market using the forward gold prices on each expected delivery date and the resultant gains or 
losses are included in earnings.  
 
Under the advance royalty payment obligation for the Hislop Mine, monthly payments made during 
the minimum obligation period will result in a reduction to the debt payment obligation. Payments 
made beyond the debt payment obligation period will be recognized as a production royalty 
expense.   
 
Transaction costs for the advance royalty payment obligation are capitalized and amortized over 
the life of the instruments using the effective interest method. 
 
Derivative instruments and hedge accounting 
 
Derivative instruments 
In the normal course of business, the Company’s assets, liabilities and forecasted transactions, as 
reported in Canadian dollars, are impacted by various market risks including, but not limited to, 
fluctuations in the price of gold and in the United States and Canadian dollar exchange rate. The 
Company uses derivatives as part of its risk management program, governed by its Risk 
Management Policy, to mitigate variability associated with changing market values related to the 
hedged item.  
 
Certain of the derivatives the Company uses are designated in a hedge accounting relationship. 
These derivatives are designated as either hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities 
or of firm commitments (“fair value hedges”) or hedges of highly probable forecasted transactions 
(“cash flow hedges”), collectively known as “hedge accounting”. Hedges that are expected to be 
highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows are assessed on an 
ongoing basis to determine that they have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting 
periods for which they were designated. Some of the derivative instruments the Company uses are 
effective in achieving its risk management objectives, but they either do not meet the strict hedge 
effectiveness criteria or have not been designated as hedging relationships. These derivatives are 
considered to be “non-hedge derivatives”.  
 
The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged 
items as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking hedge transactions 
for items where hedge accounting is being applied. This process includes linking all derivatives to 
specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted 
transactions. Hedge effectiveness is assessed based on the degree to which the cash flows from the 
derivative contracts are expected to offset the cash flows of the underlying position or transaction 
being hedged. At the time of inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company assesses, 
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on a prospective and retrospective basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. 
 
Cash Flow hedge 
Derivative contracts that have been designated as cash flow hedges have been entered into in 
order to effectively hedge exposure to exchange rate fluctuations of foreign currency denominated 
settlement of gold sales. Unrealized gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of these 
contracts are recorded in OCI, and are only included in earnings when the underlying hedged 
transaction, identified at the contract inception, is recognized. Any ineffective portion of a hedge 
relationship is recognized immediately in the statement of operations. The Company matches the 
realized gains or losses on contracts designated as cash flow hedges with the hedged gold sales at 
the maturity of the contracts. 
 
When derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges have been terminated or cease to be 
effective prior to maturity and no longer qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses recorded 
in OCI up until the time the contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting, remain in OCI. Gains or 
losses arising subsequent to the derivative contracts not qualifying for hedge accounting are 
recognized in the statement of operations in the period in which they occur. Gains and losses 
recorded in OCI are recognized in the statement of operations in the period in which the 
underlying hedged transaction is recognized.  
 
Inventories 
 
Gold bullion, gold in-circuit, and ore stockpiles are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs to complete and selling costs. 
 
For the above items, cost is determined on the following basis: 
• Gold bullion inventory includes gold doré in transit to, or is being held at, the refineries and is 

valued at average production cost; 
• Gold in-circuit is valued at the average production cost of the material that is currently in the 

process of being converted to a saleable product; and 
• Surface ore stockpiles are valued at the average cost of mining and stockpiling the ore. 
 
Materials and supplies, including mine and mill operating supplies, are valued at the lower of 
average cost or replacement cost. Any provision for obsolescence is determined by reference to 
specific items of stock. A quarterly review is undertaken to determine the extent of any provision 
for obsolescence. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets include the acquisition costs, the initial estimate of asset 
retirement obligations, and exploration and evaluation costs of the Company’s advance stage and 
grass roots exploration properties.  
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Acquisition costs 
Acquisition costs of exploration projects are measured at their fair value at the time they are 
acquired, either as an individual asset purchase or as a part of a business combination. 
 
Exploration and evaluation 
The Company expenses all exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred on exploration 
projects until it is able to conclude that a future economic benefit is more likely to be realized than 
not by the establishment of mineral resources. Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred 
subsequent to the establishment of mineral resources on a project are capitalized as an asset.  
Exploration and evaluation expenditures are not depreciated until the properties are in 
commercial production. 
 
Upon commencement of mine development of a project, all acquisition costs, and past exploration 
and evaluation expenditures capitalized in respect of the project are transferred to producing 
properties and is classified as a mine under development. 
 
When an exploration and evaluation asset is abandoned or the Company decides that it is not 
economically viable, any accumulated costs in respect of the property are written off in the period 
in which the decision is made. Each property is reviewed for indicators of impairment annually and 
accumulated costs are written off to the extent that they are not expected to be recovered in the 
future. 
 
Producing properties 
 
Producing properties include the acquisition costs, exploration and evaluation assets, mine 
development expenditures, and estimated costs of restoring the sites of the Company’s producing 
and mines under development and are measured at cost less accumulated depletion and 
impairment. 
 
Mine development expenditures 
Expenditures incurred, which include drilling and related costs incurred to define and delineate a 
mineral deposit that has established mineral resources and reserves, are capitalized as mine 
development expenditures when management determines that it is probable that the 
expenditures will result in future economic benefit to the Company. 
 
Mine development costs, which include vertical and horizontal development of the mine 
infrastructure, incurred after the commencement of production are capitalized to the extent that 
these costs benefit the entire ore body. Costs incurred to access single ore blocks are expensed as 
incurred. 
 
Deferred stripping and waste removal costs 
In open pit mining operations, it is necessary to incur costs to remove overburden in order to 
access the ore body (“stripping costs”). During the development of a mine, stripping costs 
incurred on overburden removal are capitalized to the related mine property. 
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During the production phase of an open pit mine, waste removal costs incurred to provide access 
to sources of mineral reserves that will be produced in future periods that would not have 
otherwise been accessible are also capitalized as deferred stripping costs related to the mine. The 
waste removal costs are deferred to the extent that the current period Waste-to-Ore Ratio (the 
ratio of tonnage of waste mined by the tonnage of ore mined) exceeds the life-of-mine Waste-to-
Ore Ratio. The life-of-mine Waste-to-Ore Ratio is determined based on the proven and probable 
mineral reserves of the mine. 
 
Regular waste removal that does not give rise to future benefits is expensed as incurred. 
 
Plant and equipment 
 
The initial cost of an asset is comprised of its purchase price or construction cost, any costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, and the borrowing costs incurred during 
its construction for the asset. The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount 
paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset.  
 
Repairs and maintenance of plant and equipment are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred to 
enhance the service potential of plant and equipment are capitalized and depreciated over the 
remaining useful life of the improved asset.  
 
Depreciation and depletion 
 
Management determines the appropriate method to depreciate mining assets over their estimated 
useful life taking into account the nature of a particular ore body and the method of mining that 
ore body. To achieve this, the following calculation methods are used: 
 
• Producing properties, including mine development expenditures and deferred stripping costs, 

are amortized over the life-of-mine using the unit-of-production method. The life-of-mine is 
based on the proven and probable mineral reserves related to the associated ore body; and 

 
• When it is anticipated the mine life will significantly exceed the economically recoverable 

mineral reserves, the mine life is estimated using a methodology that takes into account current 
exploration information to assess the likely recoverable gold from the particular area. Such 
estimates are adjusted for the level of confidence in the assessment and the probability of 
conversion to mineral reserves. The probability of conversion is based on historical experience 
of similar mining and geological conditions. 

 
Plant and equipment, including mobile mine equipment, processing equipment at the Holt Mill, 
and other non-mining assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives to their residual values:  
 
• Buildings and infrastructure – 3-10 years; 
• Processing equipment – 3-10 years; 
• Underground equipment – 3-10 years; and 
• Vehicles - 5 years. 
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The assets’ useful lives and residual values are reassessed each period and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Company annually reviews for any indicators of impairment on exploration and evaluation 
assets, producing properties, plant and equipment and any intangible assets. 
 
Recoverability of the carrying value of the Company’s non-financial assets is reviewed whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying value may not be recoverable. To 
determine whether a non-financial mining asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is 
compared to the carrying value of the asset. This is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. If this is the case, the individual assets are grouped together into cash generating 
units (“CGUs”) for impairment purposes. A CGU represents the lowest level for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash flows from other 
assets or other groups of assets. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount, the asset is written down and the impairment loss is recognized in the 
statement of operations.  
 
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognized. If this is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
years. Such reversal is recognized in the statement of operations. 
 
Borrowing costs 
 
Interest and other financing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of an asset are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when all the activities 
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are substantially complete.  
 
To the extent that funds are part of general borrowing or are borrowed specifically for the purpose 
of constructing an asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization on that asset is 
determined as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period. Interest 
earned on the temporary investment of borrowed funds is deducted from interest paid on the 
borrowed funds in arriving at the amounts so capitalized. These costs are amortised on the same 
basis as the asset. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognized in earnings in the period in which they are incurred. 
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Provisions 
Provisions are liabilities that are uncertain in timing or amount. The Company records a provision 
when and only when:  
• The Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;  
• It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation; and 
• A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Constructive obligations are obligations that derive from the Company’s actions where:  
• By an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current 

statement, the Company has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; 
and 

• As a result, the Company has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it 
will discharge those responsibilities. 

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect management’s 
current best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Provisions are reduced 
by actual expenditures for which the provision was originally recognized. 
 
Asset retirement obligations 
An asset retirement obligation for any legal and constructive liability required to restore operating 
locations is recorded in the period in which the obligation is incurred at the present value of the 
estimated costs. The nature of these restoration activities include dismantling and removing 
structures, rehabilitating mines and tailings dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant 
and waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas. 
 
The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed 
at the production location. When the liability is initially recognized, the present value of the 
estimated cost is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over 
time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount 
rates that reflect current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic 
unwinding of the discount is recognized in the statement of operations as an accretion expense. 
Asset retirement obligations are re-measured at the end of each reporting period for changes in 
legal or regulatory requirements, increased obligations arising from additional mining and 
exploration activities, changes in cost estimates and discount rates. Changes to asset retirement 
obligations are also recorded with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related 
mining assets, except where a reduction in the obligation is greater than the capitalized 
reclamation and closure costs, where the capitalized reclamation and closure costs are reduced to 
nil and the remaining adjustment is included in finance costs in earnings. 
 

For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in the statement of 
operations. 
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Income and mining taxes 
 
Current income and mining tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. Current 
tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off the 
amounts, and the Company intends to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 
 
Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the deductible 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at future anticipated tax rates, which have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized as income or expense and included in earnings for the period, except to 
the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognized, in the same or a 
different period directly in components of equity, or a business combination that is an acquisition. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off the tax assets and tax liability and the deferred income taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. A reduction in respect of the benefit of a 
future tax asset is recorded against any future tax asset if it is probable that the asset will not be 
realized. 

 
Share capital 
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity to the extent that they do not 
meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares, 
warrants, and stock options are classified as equity instruments. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributed to the issue of new shares or warrants, net of related income 
taxes, are charged to retained earnings. 
 
Revenue recognition  
 
Gold sales include sales of refined gold which are generally physically delivered to customers in the 
period they are produced with their sales price based on prevailing spot market metal prices. 
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Revenue from metal sales is recognized when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 
• The significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; 
• Neither continued managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 

effective control over metals sold, has been retained; 
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
• It is probable the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; 

and 
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 
 
These conditions are generally met when the sales price is fixed and the title has passed to the 
customer. 
 
Gold sales from projects under the exploration and evaluation phase and/or under the mine 
development and pre-production phase are credited against the respective carrying value of the 
asset. 
 
Toll milling revenue is recorded when the custom ore processing service is rendered and accepted 
by the client, and there is reasonable assurance regarding collectability of the consideration exists. 
 
Revenue from the sales of other metal products, net of applicable treatment and refining charges, 
are credited to production costs as a by-product credit. 
 
Interest revenue is recognized as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  
 
Share-based payments 
 
The Company’s share-based compensation plan consists of a share purchase plan and a stock 
option plan, as described below. 
 
Under the Company’s share purchase plan, the Company recognizes compensation expense for its 
contribution to each participant’s purchase when the contribution is made. 
 
The Company accounts for all stock option awards granted to employees, officers, and directors 
under its stock option plan using the fair market value method. Under this method, the fair value of 
the share-based payment is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instrument 
granted which in turn is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model on the date of 
grant, with management’s assumptions for risk-free interest rates, dividend yield, volatility factors 
of the expected market price of the Company's common shares, expected forfeitures and life of the 
options. 
 
The fair value of the share-based instruments is recognized as a compensation expense over the 
vesting period based on the Company’s estimate of the number of instruments that will eventually 
vest, with a corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve. Vesting assumptions are 
reviewed at each reporting date to ensure they reflect current expectations. 
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Where the terms of a share-based award are modified, the originally determined expense is 
recognized as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognized for any 
modification, which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the participant as measured at the date of the modification. 
 
Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common 
shares by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant period. 
Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss attributable to common 
shares by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and 
all additional common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive stock 
options and share purchase warrants with exercise prices that are below the average market price 
of the underlying shares are assumed to be used in purchasing the Company’s common shares at 
their average market price for the period.   

New standards and pronouncements 

Adoption of new standards and pronouncements: 

The Company has adopted the following new and revised accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations as of January 1, 2014: 

IAS 36 – Impairment of assets, by improving disclosures required in relation to the recoverable 
amount of non-financial assets.   

IFRIC 21 – Levies, which sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy that is not income 
tax.  The interpretation addresses what the obligating event is that gives rise to the recognition of a 
liability to pay a levy.   

The Company adopted these standards effective January 1, 2014 with no significant impact on its 
financial statements. 

New standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet 
effective: 
 
Reference and 
Title 

Details of New Standard / 
Amendment / Interpretation 

Impact on the 
Company’s 

financial 
statements 

Effective date 
of adoption 

IFRS 2 – Share-
based 
payments  

The amendments change the definitions 
of “vesting condition” and “market 
condition” in the Standard, and add 
definitions for “performance condition” 
and “service condition”. They also 
clarify that any failure to complete a 
specified service period, even due to the 
termination of an employee’s 
employment or a voluntary departure, 

(1) January 1, 
2015 
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would result in a failure to satisfy a 
service condition. This would result in 
the reversal, in the current period, of 
compensation expense previously 
recorded reflecting the fact that the 
employee failed to complete a specified 
service condition.  
 

IFRS 8 – 
Operating 
Segments 

The amendments require additional 
disclosures regarding management’s 
judgements when operating segments 
have been aggregated in determining 
reportable segments.  
 

(3) July 1, 2015 

IFRS 9 – 
Financial 
Instruments 

The standard addresses the 
classification and measurement of 
financial assets and replaces the 
multiple classification and 
measurement models in IAS 39 – 
Financial instrument – recognition and 
measurement, with a single model that 
has only two classification categories: 
amortized cost and fair value. The 
classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities are the same as per 
IAS 39 barring two aspects.  
 

(2) January 1, 
2018 

IFRS 11 – Joint 
Arrangements 

The amendments require an entity to 
apply all of the principles of IFRS 3 -
Business Combinations when it 
acquires an interest in a joint operation. 
 

(2) January 1, 
2016 

IFRS 15 – 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

The standard establishes principles for 
reporting the nature, amount, timing 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from an entity’s contracts 
with customers. 
 

(3) January 1, 
2017 

IAS 16 – 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

The amendment clarifies the 
computation of depreciation and 
depletion expenditures for property, 
plant and equipment, which are 
subsequently measured using the 
revaluation model; and prohibits the 
use of revenue-based methods of the 
depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment. 
 

(1) January 1, 
2016 

(1) The adoption of this new standard, amendment or interpretation will not have a material impact 
on the Company’s financial statements. 

(2) The Company has not yet determined the extent of the impact, if any. 
(3) This new standard will result in additional/revised disclosures in the financial statements. 
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3. Significant accounting judgement and estimates: 
 
Management makes various estimates and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses for each year presented. Changes in the estimates and 
assumptions will occur based on additional information and the occurrence of future events and 
actual results could differ from those estimates. The more significant areas requiring the use of 
management estimates and assumptions relate to mineral reserves that are the basis of future cash 
flow estimates and unit-of-production depreciation, depletion and amortization calculations, 
environmental, reclamation and closure obligations, estimates of recoverable gold and other 
materials in in-circuit inventory, asset impairments, write-downs of inventory to net realizable 
value, share-based payments, the fair value and accounting treatment of derivative financial 
instruments and deferred income and mining taxes. 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the financial year are discussed below. 
 
Carrying value of property, plant and equipment 
 
Mobile and other equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. Producing 
properties and mine development assets are amortized using the units-of-production method 
where the mine operating plan calls for production from proven and probable mineral reserves. 
 
The calculation of the units-of-production rate of amortization could be impacted to the extent that 
actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on proven and 
probable mineral reserves. This would generally result from the extent that there are significant 
changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in estimating mineral reserves. These factors 
could include: 
 
• Change in proven and probable mineral reserves; 
• Differences between actual gold prices and gold price assumptions; 
• Unforeseen operational issues; 
• Changes in capital, operating, mining, processing and reclamation costs, discount rates and 

foreign exchange rates; and 
• Changes in mineral reserves could similarly impact the useful lives of assets depreciated on a 

straight line basis, where those lives are limited to the life of mine. 
 
The recoverable amounts of the Company’s CGUs and individual assets have been determined 
based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair value less cost to sell. These calculations 
require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the gold price 
assumption may change which may then impact the estimated life of mine determinant and may 
then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of property, plant and equipment. 
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The Company reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable by comparing expected 
future cash flows to these carrying values. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which 
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there 
are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future 
cash flows of each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use 
and fair value less costs to sell of property, plant and equipment are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors including 
reserves and production estimates, together with economic factors such as spot and future gold 
prices, discount rates, foreign currency exchange rates, estimates of costs to produce reserves and 
future capital expenditure. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure 
requires judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will be 
achieved at certain properties, which may be based on assumptions about future events or 
circumstances. If, after expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that 
the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written down in the 
statement of operations in the period when the new information becomes available. 
 
Mineral reserves estimates 
 
Mineral reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally 
extracted from the Company’s properties. In order to calculate the reserves, estimates and 
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical and economic factors, including but 
not limited to quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs, 
transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates. 
 
Estimating the quantity and grade of the mineral reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore 
bodies to be determined by analyzing geological data such as the logging and assaying of drill 
samples. This process may require complex and sophisticated geological models and calculations 
to interpret the data. 
 
The Company is required to determine and report on the mineral reserves in accordance with the 
requirements of the Canadian Institute of Mining Standards.  
 
Estimates of mineral reserves may change from year to year due to the change in economic 
assumptions used to estimate ore reserves and due to additional geological data becoming 
available during the course of operations. Changes in reported proven and probable mineral 
reserves may affect the Company’s financial results and position in a number of ways, including the 
following: 
 
•  Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated cash flows; 
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•  Depreciation and amortization charges to the statement of operations may change as these are 

calculated on the units-of production method, or where the useful economic lives of assets 
change; 

•  Deferred stripping costs recorded in the balance sheet or charged to the statement of 
operations may change due to changes in stripping ratios or the units-of-production method of 
depreciation; and 

•  Asset retirement obligations and environmental provisions may change where changes in ore 
reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of these activities. 

 
Pre-production 
 
The Company assesses the stage of each mine construction project to determine when a mine 
moves into the production stage. 
 
The criteria used to assess the start date are determined based on the unique nature of each mine 
construction project. The Company considers various relevant criteria to assess when the mine is 
substantially complete, ready for its intended use and moves into the production stage. Some of the 
criteria would include, but are not limited to the following: 
 
•  The level of capital expenditure compared to the construction cost estimates; 
•  Ability to produce gold in saleable form (within specifications); and 
•  Ability to sustain commercial levels of gold production. 

 
When a mine construction project moves into the production stage, the capitalization of certain 
mine construction costs ceases and costs are expensed, except for qualifying costs related to 
mining asset additions or improvements, underground mine development or ore reserve 
development. 
 
Asset retirement obligations 
 
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations 
governing the protection of the environment. The Company recognizes management’s best 
estimate for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred. Actual costs 
incurred in future periods could differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes 
to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates could affect the 
carrying amount of this provision. 
 
Stockpiles, gold in-circuit and product inventories 
 
Costs that are incurred in or benefit the production process are accumulated as stockpiles, gold in-
circuit, and product inventories. Net realizable value tests are performed at least annually and 
represent the estimated future sales price of the product based on prevailing spot metals prices at 
the reporting date, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale. 
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Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tons added and removed from the stockpile, 
the number of contained gold ounces based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage 
based on the expected processing method. 
 
Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys.  
 
Share-based payments 
 
The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees and non-executive 
directors. These instruments are measured at fair value at grant date, using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model, which require assumptions regarding the estimated term of the option, 
share price volatility and expected dividend yield. While management of the Company believes that 
these assumptions are appropriate, the use of different assumptions could have a material impact 
on the fair value of the option grant and the related recognition of share-based compensation 
expense in the statement of operations. The Company’s options have characteristics significantly 
different from those of traded options and therefore fair values may also differ. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
The estimated fair value of financial instruments is determined at discrete points in time based on 
the relevant market information. The fair value is calculated with reference to market rates using 
industry valuation techniques and appropriate models.  
 
Income and mining taxes 
 
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income and mining taxes due to 
the complexity of legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income and mining taxes and deferred tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Management carries out a comprehensive review of the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at 
each financial reporting date. The deferred tax assets will reduce to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilized. 
  
Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates could 
limit its ability to obtain tax deductions in future periods. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Contingencies can be either possible assets or possible liabilities arising from past events which, by 
their nature, will only be resolved when one or more future events not wholly within the 
Company’s control occur or fail to occur. The assessment of such contingencies inherently involves 
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the exercise of significant judgment and estimates of the outcome of future events. In assessing loss 
contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against the Company or unasserted 
claims, that may result in such proceedings or regulatory or government actions that may 
negatively impact the business or operations, the Company with the assistance of its legal counsel 
evaluate the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted claims or actions as well as 
the perceived merits of the nature and amount of relief sought or expected to be sought, when 
determining the amount, if any, to recognize as a contingent liability or assessing the impact on the 
carrying value of assets. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements. 

 
4. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
At December 31, 2014, the Company had $21,485 (2013, $33,690) in cash at banks. 
 
The change in non-cash operating working capital and other is detailed below: 
 

 
 
 

5. Accounts receivable: 
 

 
 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in less than one month. HST 
receivable and other receivables are recorded at amortized cost, are non-interest bearing and are 
generally expected to settle within one to two months. As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, there 
was no accounts receivable past due or impaired. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2014 2013
Accounts receivable (269)$              3,524$             
Inventories (1,070)             (840)                 
Prepayments and other assets (131)                 44                     
Accounts payable and other liabilities related to operating activities 3,504               (1,870)             
Employee-related liabilities (95)                   628                  
Royalties payable 264                  (298)                 
Provisions (527)                 108                  
Other 1,060               178                  

2,736$             1,474$             

2014 2013
Trade receivables 14$                  80$                  
HST receivable 837                  600                  
Other receivables 369                  271                  

1,220$             951$                
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6. Inventories: 

 

 
 
At December 31, 2014, the Company wrote down $nil (2013, $724) in ore stockpile and in-circuit 
gold inventories to their net realizable value which is recorded in depreciation and depletion 
expense. 

 
7. Exploration and evaluation assets 

  
The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets (advanced projects and exploration assets) 
consist of three main projects as set out below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon the 
successful development and continuing exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the properties’ ore 
resources. The Company incurred $6,396 (2013, $7,971) of exploration and evaluation 
expenditures during the year which were recorded in earnings. 
 
Effective August 10, 2012, Sage Gold Inc. (“Sage”), a mining exploration company listed on the TSX 
Venture Exchange, earned in a 60% interest in the Company’s Clavos Property located near 

2014 2013
Gold bullion 4,243$             3,081$             
Gold in-circuit 3,568               3,101               
Ore stock pile 31                     223                  
Material and supplies (note 15) 2,286               2,233               

10,128$          8,638$             

Taylor 
Project

Aquarius 
Project

Exploration 
properties Total

At December 31, 2013
   Cost 22,921$          5,937$             15,985$          44,843$          
   Accumulated impairment charges -                   -                   (6,453)             (6,453)             

22,921             5,937               9,532               38,390             

Carrying value at January 1, 2013 16,018             5,937               9,427               31,382             
   Additions 6,903               -                   128                  7,031               
   Disposals -                   -                   (23)                   (23)                   
Carrying value at December 31, 2013 22,921$          5,937$             9,532$             38,390$          

At December 31, 2014
   Cost 37,471$          -$                 16,175$          53,646$          
   Accumulated impairment charges -                   -                   (6,453)             (6,453)             

37,471             -                   9,722               47,193             

Carrying value at January 1, 2014 22,921             5,937               9,532               38,390             
   Additions 14,592             -                   190                  14,782             
   Change in asset retirement obligation (note 13) (42)                   (2,951)             -                   (2,993)             
   Impairment charges (note 8b) -                   (2,986)             -                   (2,986)             
Carrying value at December 31, 2014 37,471$          -$                 9,722$             47,193$          
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Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Upon Sage acquiring its 60% interest, the Company and Sage entered 
into a joint venture agreement (the “Clavos Joint Venture”) to operate the Clavos Project, with the 
Company holding the remaining 40% interest. Sage became the operator and manager for the 
Clavos Joint Venture in 2012. The Company recognized a gain of $519 on the divestiture of its 60% 
interest in the Clavos property. Given the current economic environment for financing of junior 
gold companies, SAS wrote-down advances made in 2012 to the Clavos Joint Venture of $374 in 
2013.  

 
8. Producing properties 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
During 2013, the Company changed the accounting estimates on the ore depletion base for 
depletion calculations for its producing properties due to the depletion of mineral reserves at the 
Holloway Mine.  The change in estimates were recognized prospectively and increased depletion 
expense by $2,794 for the year. 
 
(a) Impairment testing 

 
When the Company completes an impairment test, it estimates its recoverable amount based 
on fair value less costs to sell. For producing properties, the Company uses a discounted cash 
flow model. For exploration and evaluation properties, the Company uses both the discounted 
cash flow model and recent comparable market transactions. 
 
Gold price and exchange rates 
Gold price and foreign exchange rates are estimated with reference to external market 
forecasts, and updated at least quarterly. At December 31, 2014, a gold price of US$1,250 per 

Holt Mine
Holloway 

Mine Hislop Mine Total
At December 31, 2013
   Cost 53,746$          43,708$          19,135$          116,589$        
   Accumulated depletion (12,652)           (35,187)           (18,999)           (66,838)           

41,094             8,521               136                  49,751             

Carrying value at January 1, 2013 36,575             16,708             11,080             64,363             
   Additions 9,687               2,326               -                   12,013             
   Depletion (5,168)             (10,513)           (10,944)           (26,625)           
Carrying value at December 31, 2013 41,094$          8,521$             136$                49,751$          

At December 31, 2014
   Cost 62,334$          43,708$          19,135$          125,177$        
   Accumulated depletion (20,427)           (43,708)           (19,135)           (83,270)           

41,907             -                   -                   41,907             

Carrying value at January 1, 2014 41,094             8,521               136                  49,751             
   Additions 8,588               -                   -                   8,588               
   Depletion (7,775)             (8,521)             (136)                 (16,432)           
Carrying value at December 31, 2014 41,907$          -$                 -$                 41,907$          
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ounce and US dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate of 1.08 from 2015 onwards are used by 
management for asset impairment testing. 
 
Discount rate 
In determining the fair value of CGUs, the future cash flows were discounted using rates based 
on the Company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital, which is 5.0% for operating 
mines, 5.0% for the Taylor Project, and 8%-10% for the Aquarius Project in 2014 and 2013. 
 
Operating and capital costs 
Life-of-mine operating and capital cost assumptions are based on the Company’s latest budget 
and longer term business plan. The projections include expected cost improvements 
reflecting the Company’s objectives to maximise free cash flow, optimise and reduce activity, 
improve capital and labour productivity, and remove high cost gold ounces from the 
production profile. Operating cost assumptions reflect the expectation that costs will, over the 
long term, have a degree of positive correlation to the prevailing commodity price and 
exchange rate assumptions. 
 
Unmined resources and exploration properties 
The Company has estimated unmined resources value at the Taylor Project using a 
discounted cash flow model. The fair value of the unmined resources at the Aquarius Project 
is estimated based on comparable market transactions, taking into account a range of factors 
including the probability of advancing the project towards production, the physical 
specifications of the ore, probability of conversion, estimated capital and operating costs, and 
length of mine life. 
 

 (b) Sensitivity Analysis 
 
After assessing for impairment on the Operating mines (the Holt, Holloway, and Hislop 
mines), Taylor Project, and the exploration properties CGUs, the fair value of these assets is 
assessed as being greater than their carrying amounts as at December 31, 2014.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In 2014, the Company recognized an impairment loss relating to the Aquarius Project of 
$13,110, before tax, of which $10,124 was applied against the equipment and $2,986 was 
applied to the mining interests. 
 
The impairment loss for the Aquarius Project was determined based on a 7,000 tonne per day 
optimized open pit economic model based on the construction and permitting of a 7,000 
tonne-per-day mill, which would require a lead time of 3 years and significant upfront capital. 

Operating 
mines (1)

Taylor 
Project

Aquarius 
Project

Exploration 
properties

Exploration and evaluation assets -$                 37,471$          -$                 9,722$             
Producing properties 41,907             -                   -                   -                   
Plant and equipment 33,022             1,318               610                  249                  
Carrying value 74,929             38,789             610                  9,971               
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The resulting non-cash charge for the project was due to a number of factors, including a 
decline in industry-wide valuations and the Company’s growing understanding of the project 
parameters, including its analysis of a draft mine plan. 
 
Any variation in the key assumptions used to determine fair value would result in a change of 
the assessed fair value. If the variation in assumption had a negative impact on fair value, it 
could indicate a requirement for impairment to non-current assets.  
 
It is estimated that changes in the key assumptions would have the following approximate 
impact on the fair value of each CGU as at December 31, 2014: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(1) The Company’s Holt and Holloway mines are subject to sliding scale NSR royalties, dependent on 

the price of gold. At a long-term gold price of US$1,250 per ounce, the NSR royalty at the Holt Mine 
is 10% and the NSR royalty at Holloway is 9%. The sliding scale NSR royalty at the Holt Mine is 
capped at 10% when the gold price exceeds US$1,200 per ounce; and the sliding scale royalty at 
the Holloway Mine is capped at 15% NSR when the price of gold exceeds US$2,000 per ounce. 

 
It must be noted that each of the sensitivities above assumes that the specific assumption 
moves in isolation, while all other assumptions are held constant. In reality, a change in one of 
the aforementioned assumptions is usually accompanied with a change in one or more other 
assumptions, which may have an offsetting impact. (For example, the recent decline in the US 
dollar gold price has been accompanied with and partially offset by a decline in the Canadian 
dollar compared to the US dollar). Action is also usually taken to respond to adverse changes 
in economic assumptions that may mitigate the impact of any such change. 
 

9. Plant and equipment 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
At December 31, 2014, the net carrying value of the Company’s mining assets placed on care and 
maintenance was $610 (2013, $11,084). Depreciation recognized on these assets on care and 

2014 2013
At December 31
   Cost 87,776$          80,238$          
   Accumulated depreciation (41,508)           (31,213)           
   Write-down of mining equipment (note 8b) (10,124)           -                   

36,144             49,025             

Carrying value at January 1, 49,025             50,537             
   Additions 7,538               8,934               
   Depreciation (10,295)           (10,446)           
   Impairment charges (note 8b) (10,124)           -                   
Carrying value at December 31, 36,144$          49,025$          

Expressed in millions of Canadian dollars

Operating 
mines (1)

Taylor 
Project

US$100 per ounce change in gold price 53% 22%
1.00% increase (decrease) in discount rate 5% 3%
$0.05 increase (decrease) in USD:CAD exchange rate 33% 14%
5% increase (decrease) in operating costs from that assumed 23% 7%
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maintenance during the year was $347 (2013, $395). During 2014, mining equipment and vehicles 
were acquired through means of finance leases of $132 (2013, $2,920). Included in plant and 
equipment is $2,961 (2013, $2,800) in carrying amount of finance leased equipment. 
 

10. Income and mining taxes:  
 
Income and mining taxes differ from the amount which would result from applying the statutory 
Canadian income tax rate for the following reasons:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During 2013, the Company reversed unrecognized deferred net tax assets of $1,256 associated 
with the tax benefit of available income tax assets the Company expects to utilize.  
 
The following tables outline the movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2014 and 2013: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

2014 2013
Loss before taxes (10,486)$         (5,382)$           
Canadian income tax rate 25.0% 25.0%
Tax based on statutory income tax rate (2,622)             (1,346)             
Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes and other 56                     379                  
Harmonization of Ontario provincial income taxes -                   108                  
Write-down of available-for-sale investments -                   142                  
Change in unrecognized net deferred income tax assets -                   (1,256)             

(2,566)             (1,973)             

Provision for mining tax 896                  1,609               
Change in unrecognized net deferred mining tax assets -                   -                   

896                  1,609               

Net deferred tax recovery (1,670)$           (364)$              

Balance at 
January 1, 

2014
Charged to 
net income

Charged to 
Equity

Charged to 
OCI

Balance at 
December 31, 

2014
Deferred tax assets:
   Capital loss carry-forwards 6,124$             -$                 -$                 -$                 6,124$             
   Canadian resource deductions 10,490             (1,937)             -                   -                   8,553               
   Plant and equipment 3,959               5,652               -                   -                   9,611               
   Gold-linked liabilities 818                  (216)                 -                   -                   602                  
   Asset retirement obligations 4,027               (1,054)             -                   -                   2,973               
   Share issue expense 189                  (121)                 -                   -                   68                     
   Other 1,733               (488)                 -                   -                   1,245               

27,340             1,836               -                   -                   29,176             
Deferred tax liabilities:
   Fair value of derivatives 276                  (166)                 -                   15                     125                  
Unrecognized net deferred tax assets (9,718)             -                   -                   (9,718)             
Net deferred tax assets 17,898$          1,670$             -$                 15$                  19,583$          
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for the carry-forward of unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the 
unused tax losses/credits can be utilized.   
 
At December 31, 2014, the net deferred tax asset of $19,583 is comprised of a deferred income tax 
asset of $22,809 and a deferred mining tax liability of $3,226. At December 31, 2014, the Company 
has nil (2013, nil) of non-capital loss carry-forwards. The Company has approximately $47,596 
(2013, $47,596) of capital loss carry-forwards for which the deferred tax asset has not been 
recognized as it is not probable the Company will have future capital gains available to utilize 
against the capital loss carry-forwards.   
 

11. Accounts payable and other liabilities and provisions: 
 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Trade payables and other liabilities are non-interest bearing and are normally settled between one 
to two months.   
 
Provisions 
At December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a provision for royalty disputes of $250 (2013, 
$777) in respect of certain mining properties. The amount and timing of any expected payments 
are uncertain as their determination is outside the control of the Company’s management (see note 
18b). 
 

2014 2013
Trade payables 7,936$             4,837$             
Accrued liabilities 4,532               3,613               
Deposit from toll mill customers 525                  -                   
Other payables 101                  1,343               

13,094$          9,793$             

Balance at 
January 1, 

2013
Charged to 
net income

Charged to 
Equity

Charged to 
OCI

Balance at 
December 31, 

2013
Deferred tax assets:
   Capital loss carry-forwards 9,354$             (3,230)$           -$                 -$                 6,124$             
   Canadian resource deductions 8,521               1,969               -                   -                   10,490             
   Plant and equipment 1,310               2,649               -                   -                   3,959               
   Gold-linked liabilities 1,567               (749)                 -                   -                   818                  
   Asset retirement obligations 3,934               93                     -                   -                   4,027               
   Share issue expense 357                  (168)                 -                   -                   189                  
   Other 1,814               (81)                   -                   -                   1,733               

26,857             483                  -                   -                   27,340             
Deferred tax liabilities:
   Fair value of derivatives (181)                 266                  -                   191                  276                  
Unrecognized net deferred tax assets (9,333)             (385)                 -                   -                   (9,718)             
Net deferred tax assets 17,343$          364$                -$                 191$                17,898$          
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12.      Long-term debt: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Banking facility 
In 2012, the Company obtained a US$25,000 banking facility (“Facility”) with a Canadian chartered 
bank, which matured on May 8, 2014 and consisted of a US$15,000 term credit facility and a 
US$10,000 revolving credit facility. The term credit facility was drawn down in full in 2012. On 
May 8, 2014, the Company retired $7,576 (US$7,000) of principal amount owed on the term credit 
facility and extended the US$10.0 million revolving credit facility (“Revolving Credit”) for a period 
of two years. Under the terms of the extension, interest rates on the Revolving Credit range from 
2.50% to 3.25% on prime rate based advances and from 3.50% to 4.25% on LIBOR based 
advances. Depending on the level of the Company’s financial strength, standby charges on the 
facility range from 0.875% to 1.0625% per annum. 
 
The Facility is secured by fixed charges over the freehold and leasehold real property of the 
Company at its Holloway-Holt Properties, the Hislop Mine, and the Taylor Project and by a security 
interest over all of the Company’s present and future acquired personal property.  At December 31, 
2014, the Revolving Credit remained undrawn. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Term credit 
facility

Advance 
royalty 

payment 
obligation

Capital lease 
obligations Total

December 31, 2012 12,497$          6,084$             188$                18,769$          
   Implicit interest and amortization of transaction costs 246                  581                  -                   827                  
   Foreign exchange translation 730                  -                   -                   730                  
   Change in fair value of embedded gold derivatives -                   (1,596)             -                   (1,596)             
   Capital lease additions -                   -                   2,920               2,920               
   Repayments (4,092)             (1,799)             (710)                 (6,601)             
December 31, 2013 9,381               3,270               2,398               15,049             

   Implicit interest and amortization of transaction costs 175                  501                  -                   676                  
   Foreign exchange translation 259                  -                   -                   259                  
   Change in fair value of embedded gold derivatives -                   340                  -                   340                  
   Capital lease additions -                   -                   132                  132                  
   Repayments (9,815)             (1,704)             (1,074)             (12,593)           
December 31, 2014 -                   2,407               1,456               3,863               
Current portion -                   1,471               1,108               2,579               

-$                 936$                348$                1,284$             
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Advance royalty payment obligation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In 2009, the Company completed a US$4,000 royalty financing to explore and develop its Hislop 
Mine. Under the Hislop royalty agreement, SAS is obligated to make 80 monthly minimum advance 
royalty payments, commencing February 2010, in the cash equivalent of 100 ounces of gold, to an 
aggregate 8,000 ounces of gold. These advance royalty payments are accounted for as repayments 
of the debt instrument. SAS is able to recoup these advanced royalty payments from the production 
royalty otherwise payable, based on a 4% NSR on gold production at the Hislop Mine. The 
Company has granted the royalty holder a senior security interest in its Hislop property until the 
8,000 ounces have been paid. 
 
At December 31, 2014, the carrying value of the Advance royalty payment obligation of $2,407 
(2013, $3,270) consists of $2,097 (2013, $2,757) in long-term debt being recorded at amortized 
cost and an embedded gold forward derivative of $310 (2013, $513) representing the fair value 
(note 17a) of the Company’s commitment to make advance royalty payments to the royalty holder.   
 
Capital lease obligations 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During 2014, mining equipment and vehicles were acquired through means of finance leases of 
$132 (2013, $2,920).  Interest expense of $82 (2013, $72) relating to capital lease obligations has 
been included in finance costs in earnings. 
 
 
 
 
 

Gold delivery 
commitment 

in ounces

Advance 
payment 

commitment 
amount

Weighted 
average 

forward gold 
price (US$)

Year ending December 31:
2015 1,200                1,680               1,206               
2016 900                   1,262               1,209               
Fair value of gold delivery commitments 2,100                2,942               1,208               
Unamortized implicit interest -                    (535)                 

2,100                2,407               
Current portion 1,200                1,471               

900                   936$                

2014 2013
Less than one year 1,146$             1,102$             
One to three years 316                  1,389               
Four to five years 38                     21                     
Total minimum capital lease payments 1,500               2,512               
Less amount representing interest (at rates ranging from 3.8% to 11.4%) 44                     114                  
Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 1,456               2,398               
Current portion of obligations under capital leases 1,108               1,010               

348$                1,388$             

31 
 



 
13. Asset retirement obligations 

 
The Company makes full provision for the future cost of asset retirement obligations and related 
production facilities on a discounted basis on the development of mines or installation of those 
facilities. 
 
The asset retirement obligation represents the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to 
mine properties, which are expected to be incurred up to 2021. These provisions have been 
created based on the Company’s internal estimates. Assumptions, based on the current economic 
environment, have been made which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to 
estimate the future liability. These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account any 
material changes to the assumptions. However, actual asset retirement obligation costs will 
ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning work required 
which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation 
is likely to depend on when the mines cease to produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, 
will depend upon future gold prices, which are inherently uncertain. 
 
The Company's estimates and amounts provided are as follows: 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Company's reclamation plans for its properties have been approved by the Ontario Ministry of 
Northern Development and Mines (the “Ministry”). As at December 31, 2014, the Company had 
placed financial assurance of $9,068 (2013, $9,063) of which $7,676 (2013, $8,373) are cash 
deposits and $1,332 (2013, $630) is in the form of letters of credit with the Ministry, and $60 
(2013, $60) is a deposit with the Province of British Columbia with respect to the Company’s Eskay 
Creek property.  
 
The Company's asset retirement obligations consist of reclamation and closure costs for both 
active and inactive projects. The present value of obligations is $8,875 (2013, $12,023) reflecting 
payments for approximately the next 7 years. A finance cost component of $493 (2013, $607) has 
been charged in 2014 to reflect the carrying amount of the rehabilitation obligation, which has 
been determined using an inflation adjusted discount rate of 4%. The undiscounted value of this 
liability is $10,773 at December 31, 2014 (2013, $16,300). 

 

 

Amount 
provided

Estimated 
future cost

Cost per 
closure plan

Holt Mine and Mill 5,039$             6,463$             5,350$             
Holloway Mine 2,016               2,191               1,825               
Hislop Mine 665                  723                  630                  
Taylor Project 428                  505                  337                  
Aquarius Project 666                  819                  637                  
Properties in British Columbia 61                     72                     60                     

8,875$             10,773$          8,839$             
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Changes to the reclamation and closure cost obligations during the year are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 The decrease of $3,641 (2013 – nil) in the estimated closure and reclamation costs are due to a 

change in the timing of the expected reclamation expenditures for Holt, Holloway, Hislop and 
Taylor  The impairment loss for the Aquarius Project changed the scope of the reclamation 
activities that will be required (see note 8b).  

 
14. Share capital: 

 
Authorized share capital 
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. 
 
Share-based payments 
The Company has a stock option plan and a stock purchase plan.     
 
Under the stock purchase plan, employees, officers, and directors can purchase shares of the 
Company by contributing up to 5% of their base salary with such contributions to be matched by 
the Company. The shares are purchased through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange on a 
monthly basis.  During 2014, $881 (2013, $770) of compensation expense relating to the share 
purchase plan was recognized.   
 
Under the stock option plan, the maximum number of common shares that can be awarded and 
reserved for issuance, together with all other shares reserved for share compensation 
arrangements, may not exceed 10% of the then issued and outstanding number of common shares. 
Currently, stock options granted under the stock option plan are exercisable for a maximum period 
of seven years from the date of grant and the exercise price cannot be less than the closing price on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange on the day immediately prior to the date of grant. The vesting periods 
for the stock options granted are as determined by the Board of Directors at the date of grant and 
range from immediately vesting to vesting over a four-year period. The maximum term of options 
permitted under the stock option plan is 10 years. 
 
 
 
 

2014 2013
Balance, beginning of year 12,023$          11,743$          
Accretion expense 493                  607                  
Reclamation costs incurred at Aquarius Project -                   (327)                 
Changes in estimates:
   Holt Mine (579)                 -                   
   Holloway Mine (61)                   -                   
   Hislop Mine (7)                     -                   
   Taylor Project (43)                   -                   
   Aquarius Project (2,951)             -                   
Balance, end of year 8,875               12,023             
Current portion 925                  -                   
Balance, end of year 7,950$             12,023$          
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The following is a summary of the changes in stock options during 2014 and 2013: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The following is a summary of the vested and unvested stock options as at December 31, 2014:  
 
 

 
 
The following is a summary of the vested and unvested stock options as at December 31, 2013: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 
2014: 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Vested 
options # of 

shares 
(000's)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
per share

Unvested 
options # of 

shares 
(000's)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
per share

Directors and officers 5,731               0.92$               4,835               0.53$               
Employees 1,394               0.85$               2,495               0.46$               

7,125               0.91$               7,330               0.51$               

Vested 
options # of 

shares 
(000's)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
per share

Unvested 
options # of 

shares 
(000's)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
per share

Directors and officers 5,263               0.80$               6,466               0.68$               
Employees 1,422               0.83$               2,222               0.66$               

6,685               0.80$               8,688               0.67$               

Options 
(000's)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Options 
(000's)

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Opening balance 15,373             0.73$               12,656             0.80$               
Granted 3,620               0.37$               4,662               0.49$               
Forfeited and expired (4,538)             0.51$               (1,945)             0.62$               
Ending balance 14,455             0.71$               15,373             0.73$               

2014 2013

Exercise prices

Options 
outstanding 

(000's)

Options 
exercisable 

(000's)
$0.27 - $0.50 3,942               317                  
$0.51 - $1.00 6,148               2,991               
$1.01 - $1.37 4,365               3,817               

14,455             7,125               

Weighted average 
remaining contractual life 

(years)

Weighted average 
remaining contractual life 

(years)

4.5                                                 

6.0                                                 4.9                                                 

3.6                                                 

4.7                                                 4.5                                                 
2.7                                                 2.7                                                 
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During 2014, the Company granted 3,620,000 stock options to directors, officers, and employees of 
which details are provided below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Although the stock option plan permits exercise terms of up to 10 years, all options granted and 
currently outstanding have a term of between three to seven years. For the stock options granted 
in 2014, one-third of the options vest on each anniversary date of the date of grant over the 
following three years and all stock options granted in 2014 expire in 2021. Total compensation 
cost to be recognized under these stock options is valued, using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with the above assumptions, at $488 (2013, $819); and will be charged to earnings over the 
graded vesting period of the stock options.  
 
Compensation of key management personnel 

The remuneration of directors and officers during 2014 and 2013 are as follows: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Contributed surplus 
The movement in contributed surplus represents the transfer of the value of warrants and stock 
options expired or forfeited during the year. 

 

 

 

 

 

2014 2013
Short-term benefits - Salaries and benefits 1,970$              2,775$             
Post-employment benefits - Defined contribution plan 47                      73                     
Share-based payments - Share purchase plan and stock option plan 326                    684                  

2,343$              3,532$             

Q4 2014 Q3 2014 Q2 2014 Q1 2014 Total
Stock option grants to directors and officers (000's) -                   -                   70                     1,880               1,950               
Stock option grants to employees (000's) 120                  -                   -                   1,550               1,670               
Total stock options granted (000's) 120                  -                   70                     3,430               3,620               
Exercise price per share 0.26$               -$                 0.32$               0.38$               $0.26 - $0.38
Total cost of grants to be amortized 11$                  -$                 8$                     469$                488$                

Valuation assumptions:
   Risk-free interest rate 1.6% 0.0% 2.0% 1.9% 1.6% - 2.0%
   Expected life 4.17                  -                    4.17                  4.17                  4 years
   Expected volatility 45% 0% 47% 47% 46%
   Expected dividend -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 Nil

Fair value per share on grant date 0.26$               -$                 0.32$               0.38$               $0.26 - $0.38
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15. Mine site operating and reportable operating segments 

(a) Mine site operating 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) Material and supply inventory expensed during 2014 was $31,969 (2013, $29,367). 
(2) In 2014, the Company paid $906 (2013, $822) in costs to employees defined contribution plans. 

 
(b) Reportable operating segments 

The Company operates primarily in the Timmins mining district and its major product is gold. 
Its activities include gold production, exploration and development of gold properties.  
 
The reportable segments are the Company’s operations whose operating results are reviewed 
by the Chief Executive Officer to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance provided those operations pass certain quantitative 
thresholds. Operations whose revenues, earnings or losses or assets exceed 10% of the 
Company’s total revenue, earnings or losses or assets are reportable segments.  
 
In order to determine reportable segments, management reviewed various factors, including 
managerial structure. It was determined by management that the Holt, Holloway and Hislop 
mines form a reportable operating segment as these operations are managed by a single 
general manager and management team. Certain properties that are in development or have 
not reached commercial production levels are considered reportable segments because they 
have reached quantitative thresholds. These have been identified as non-operating segments. 
There are no material intersegment transactions. Corporate, which is not an operating 
segment includes all the corporate development activities and the corporate team that 
provides administrative, human resources, technical, financial and other support to all of the 
Company’s business units. Other corporate expenses include general and administrative 
costs, write down of investments in available-for-sale securities, other income (loss), 
corporate finance items (net), include borrowing costs, bank and debt interest and other 
charges and interest earned on cash and cash equivalents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2014 2013
Raw materials and consumables (1) 31,969$        29,367$        
Salaries and employee benefits (2) 29,279          26,489          
Energy 11,402          10,302          
Mining contractors 3,080             13,854          
Change in inventories (879)              (513)              

74,851$        79,499$        
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16. Capital and financial risk management: 
 
(a)   Capital management 

The objectives of the Company’s capital management initiatives are intended to safeguard the 
entity's ability to support the Company’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis, 
continue the development and exploration of its mineral properties and support any 
expansionary plans. 

 
The capital of the Company consists of the items included in shareholders’ equity and long-
term debt obligations, net of cash and cash equivalents as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the Company’s assets. To effectively 
manage the entity’s capital requirements, the Company has in place a rigorous planning and 

2013
Mining 
operations

Taylor 
Project

Aquarius 
Project

Exploration 
properties

Corporate 
and other Total

Gold sales 142,983$      -$               -$               -$               -$               142,983$      

Operating costs 79,499          -                 182                7,971             7,148             94,800          
Production royalties 12,208          -                 -                 -                 -                 12,208          
Depreciation and depletion 36,326          118                395                54                  327                37,220          
Write-down of mining equipment and investment 620                -                 -                 -                 374                994                
Operating income (loss) 14,330          (118)              (577)              (8,025)           (7,849)           (2,239)           
Non-operating costs (net of finance income) 396                22                  186                3                     2,536             3,143             
Income (loss) before taxes 13,934          (140)              (763)              (8,028)           (10,385)         (5,382)           

Capital expenditures 17,285          7,300             -                 275                181                25,041          

2014 2013
Shareholders' equity 155,570$        163,796$        
Long-term debt 1,284               3,295               

156,854          167,091          
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (21,485)           (33,690)           

135,369$        133,401$        

2014
Mining 
operations

Taylor 
Project

Aquarius 
Project

Exploration 
properties

Corporate 
and other Total

Gold sales 123,967$      -$               -$               -$               -$               123,967$      
Toll milling 2,491             -                 -                 -                 -                 2,491             

Operating costs 74,851          -                 62                  6,396             5,109             86,418          
Production royalties 11,109          -                 11,109          
Depreciation and depletion 24,615          188                347                55                  343                25,548          
Impairment loss -                 -                 13,110          -                 -                 13,110          
Operating income (loss) 15,883          (188)              (13,519)         (6,451)           (5,452)           (9,727)           
Non-operating costs (net of finance income) 251                31                  142                -                 335                759                
Income (loss) before taxes 15,632          (219)              (13,661)         (6,451)           (5,787)           (10,486)         

Capital expenditures 15,353          15,417          -                 91                  17                  30,878          
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budgeting process to help determine the funds required to ensure the Company has the 
appropriate liquidity to meet its operating and growth objectives. 

The Company expects its capital resources and projected future cash flows from operations to 
support its normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis and planned exploration and 
development of its mineral properties and other expansionary plans. The Company has 
complied with all externally imposed capital requirements.  

(b)   Financial risk management 
The Company’s financial risk management strategy focuses on preservation of capital and 
protecting current and future Company assets and cash flows by reducing exposure to risks 
posed by uncertainties and volatilities of the financial markets. 

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under 
the terms of a financial derivative. For cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable, credit 
risk is represented by the carrying amount on the balance sheet. The Company limits credit 
risk by entering into transactions with high credit-quality counterparties and monitoring the 
financial condition of counterparties. The Company closely monitors its financial assets and 
does not have any significant concentration of credit risk. The Company sells its gold 
production to international financial institutions or bullion dealers with strong credit ratings 
or financial backings. The Company has never experienced a counter party default. At 
December 31, 2014, cash was invested in interest bearing deposits with financial institutions 
with strong credit ratings. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values and future cash flows of the Company will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate 
risk on its outstanding borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and money market 
investments. At December 31, 2014, the Company’s revolving credit facility, which is 
undrawn, is subject to a floating interest rate. The Company monitors its exposure to interest 
rates and is comfortable with its exposures given the relatively low short-term interest rates. 
The average interest rate earned per annum by the Company during 2014 on its cash and 
cash equivalents was 0.7% (2013, 0.9%). A 10% increase or decrease in the interest earned 
from financial institutions on deposits held would result in a nominal increase or decrease in 
the Company’s pre-tax net earnings. 
 
Currency risk 
Currency exchange rates are subject to fluctuation. As the price of gold is primarily 
established in United States dollars, the Company is exposed to currency risk to the extent of 
a fluctuation in the foreign exchange rates between the Canadian and United States dollars. 
Under the Company’s Foreign Exchange Risk Management Policy, approved by the Board of 
Directors, the Company may, from time to time, employ derivative financial instruments to 
manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. 
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At December 31, 2014, the Company had the following foreign currency derivatives 
outstanding: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A 10% increase or decrease in the Canadian and United States dollar exchange rate as at 
December 31, 2014, would have resulted in an approximate $2.1 million decrease or $0.9 
million increase, respectively, in the Company’s pre-tax earnings for the period. This impact 
would have no effect on the Company’s cash flows until the forward foreign currency contract 
matures. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. The Company has a rigorous planning, budgeting and 
forecasting process to help determine the funds required to support the Company’s normal 
operating requirements on an ongoing basis and its expansionary plans. The Company 
ensures there is sufficient cash to meet its short-term business requirements, taking into 
account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash and cash 
equivalents. At December 31, 2014, the Company held cash and cash equivalents of $21,485 
and has access to additional cash resources of US$10,000 under its revolving bank credit 
facility. In conjunction with the expected cash flows from operations, the Company believes it 
has sufficient capital resources to finance its ongoing capital programs at the mines and to 
finance the development of the Taylor Project and other advance stage exploration projects. 
 
The following table outlines the expected maturity of our significant financial liabilities. As 
the amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these 
balances may not agree with the amounts disclosed in the balance sheet. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes: 
(1) The table above illustrates the Company’s commitment at December 31, 2014, under the advance royalty 

payment obligation, valued at the estimated forward gold price at each delivery date. 
(2) The Company’s asset retirement obligations in the above table reflect the Company’s estimate of the 

undiscounted future payment for expected cost of asset retirement obligations.   

 

 

Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
2020 and 

thereafter

Advance royalty payment obligation (1) (note 12) 2,942$        1,680$        1,262$        -$            -$            -$            -$            
Capital lease obligations (note 12) 1,500          1,146          255              61                38                -               -               
Operating lease obligations (note 18) 2,267          342              321              310              324              324              646              
Asset retirement obligations (2) (note 13) 10,773        925              1,860          665              101              86                7,136          
Total contractual obligations 17,482$      4,093$        3,698$        1,036$        463$           410$           7,782$        

Maturing in
Amounts in thousands of United States dollars 2015 Total

Non-hedge derivative foreign currency contracts $9,000 9,000$                  
Average foreign currency contract rate - 1 USD → CAD 1.160                    1.160                    

Forward currency contracts designated as cash flow hedge $13,000 13,000$               
Average foreign currency contract rate - 1 USD → CAD 1.143                    1.143                    
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Commodity price risk 
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Profitability of the 
Company depends on market prices for gold. Gold price is affected by numerous factors such 
as the sale or purchase of gold by various central banks and financial institutions, interest 
rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuations in the value of the United States 
dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and demand, and the political and 
economic conditions of major gold-producing countries throughout the world. Based on the 
operating results for 2014, a US$100 per ounce increase or decrease in the realized price of 
gold sold would have resulted in a $8.9 million increase or decrease in the Company’s pre-tax 
earnings. At December 31, 2014, the Company does not hold any hedge positions on its gold 
production.  
 
The price of gold has declined significantly to a level which will impact the Company’s cash 
flow and operating results. There is no certainty that the price of gold will increase in the near 
term. The Company continues to monitor this risk and will revise its operating plans 
accordingly in order to ensure its near-term and long-term cash flow objectives are met.  The 
Company believes that it is able to execute its business plan in the current gold price 
environment.  
 
The costs relating to the Company’s production and development activities vary depending 
on the market prices of electricity.  Electricity is semi-regulated by the provincial government. 
The regulation of electricity prices reduces the risk of price fluctuation and the Company 
therefore does not hedge against such exposure.  The Company has a fixed price contract for 
50% of its annual propane consumption. This contract is negotiated annually.   
 
The carrying value of the Company's Advance royalty payment obligation is subject to 
increases or decreases depending on the price of gold. A US$100 per ounce change in the 
price of gold as at December 31, 2014, would have resulted in an approximate US$0.2 
million decrease or increase in the Company's pre-tax earnings for the period. This impact 
would have no effect on cash flows until the requirement of the Company to deliver the 
underlying commodity (gold) falls due. 

 
 

17. Financial instruments: 
 
(a) Fair value of financial instruments 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
other liabilities and employee-related liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-
term nature of the assets and liabilities.   
 
The fair value hierarchy established by IFRS establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of inputs used in making fair value measurements as follows: 
 
Level 1 - inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,  
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Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, directly or indirectly that are 

observable for the asset or liability, and 
Level 3 - inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activity). 
 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the levels in the fair value hierarchy into which the 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured and recognized on the Balance Sheet at fair 
value are categorized are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no financial assets or liabilities transferred 
between level 1 and level 2 or measured and recognized on the Balance Sheet at fair value that 
would be categorized as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The Company’s derivative assets and liabilities are classified under level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy and consist of gold forward and foreign currency contracts. The fair value of gold 
forward and foreign currency contracts is calculated using gold forward prices and currency 
forward rates over their contractual terms.   
 
The following table discloses the carrying amounts and the impact on net income (loss) or 
other comprehensive income (loss) for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities in 
2014 and 2013: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2

-$                 310$                -$                 513$                      
Investments in equity securities included in other assets 208                  -                   133                  -                          
Foreign currency derivative asset (liability) -                   (501)                 -                   (1,105)                    

Embedded gold forward derivative on Advance royalty payment 
obligation (note 12)

2014 2013

2014

Loans and 
receivables

Held at fair 
value

Available for 
sale

Other 
financial 

assets and 
liabilities

Impact on net 
income (loss)

Other 
comprehensive 

income (loss)
Financial assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents 21,485$          -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                       
   Accounts receivable 1,220               -                   -                   -                   -                   -                          
   Derivative assets -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                          
   Other assets -                   -                   208                  -                   -                   74                           

Financial liabilities:
   Accounts payable and other liabilities -                   -                   -                   13,094             -                   -                          
   Royalties payable -                   -                   -                   1,220               -                   -                          
   Employee-related liabilities -                   -                   -                   4,954               -                   -                          
   Derivative liabilities 501                  664                  (58)                         
   Long-term debt -                   310                  -                   3,553               (340)                 -                          

Carrying value
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(b) Derivative instruments and hedge accounting 

 
Cash Flow hedge 
At December 31, 2014, the Company designated US$13.0 million (December 31, 2013, $6.0 
million) of its forward foreign currency derivative contracts to sell US dollars, as cash flow 
hedges. As a result, the mark-to-market loss for 2014, of $43 (net of tax recovery of $15) 
(2013, loss of $574, net of tax recovery of $191) on these forward foreign currency derivatives 
has been recorded in OCI. 
 
Non-hedge derivatives 
At December 31, 2014, the Company has non-hedge derivative option contracts to sell forward 
foreign currency derivative contracts to sell between US$11.0 million into Canadian dollars, 
which mature during 2015. The mark-to-market gain in the fair value of these non-hedging 
foreign currency contracts during 2014, of $663 (2013, loss of $1,065) are recorded in 
earnings.     
 
In 2014, the mark-to-market loss on gold-linked liabilities was $340 (2013 – gain of $1,596). 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

2013

Loans and 
receivables

Held at fair 
value

Available for 
sale

Other 
financial 

assets and 
liabilities

Impact on net 
income (loss)

Other 
comprehensive 

income (loss)
Financial assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents 33,690$          -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                       
   Accounts receivable 951                  -                   -                   -                   -                   -                          
   Derivative assets -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                          
   Other assets -                   -                   133                  -                   (567)                 416                         

Financial liabilities:
   Accounts payable and other liabilities -                   -                   -                   9,793               -                   -                          
   Royalties payable -                   -                   -                   956                  -                   -                          
   Employee-related liabilities -                   -                   -                   5,241               -                   -                          
   Derivative liabilities 1,105               (1,065)             (574)                       
   Long-term debt -                   513                  -                   14,536             1,596               -                          

Carrying value
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18. Commitments and contingent liabilities: 

 
(a) The Company has estimated annual lease commitments for its corporate head office of 

approximately $300 which expire in 2021, and current operating lease commitments of $33 
(long term operating lease commitments of $14). The Company also has land option and other 
payments of approximately $22 due in 2015 and $14 due in 2016. 

 
(b) During 2014, the Company reversed the royalty provision of $527, which is recorded in 

Finance income and other, following the ruling received in April 2014 from the Ontario 
Superior Court of Justice that the obligations to pay a 1.75% net smelter return royalty and a 3-
1/3% net profits interest royalty were no longer enforceable against the Company as a result 
of the violation of the Company’s contractual rights of first refusal to acquire the royalties. 
 
Kiska Metals Corporation (“Kiska”) brought an action against the Company in the Ontario 
Superior Court of Justice in December 2013 claiming the right to be paid a 0.5% NSR royalty on 
certain of the Company’s properties. The Company is vigorously defending the action. The 
affected properties and thus the amount in dispute cannot be determined at this time.  

(c) Cash of $2,397 at December 31, 2014 (2013, $1,695) is collateralized with a bank for 
outstanding letters of credit issued by the bank in favour of the Company. 

 
19. Earnings per share: 

 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income for the year by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 
 

 
 
Net loss attributable to common shareholders for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted net 
income per share was $8,816 (2013, net loss of $5,018). 
 
The following reflects the share data used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per 
share: 
 

 
(1) The effect of the remaining 14,455 (2013, 15,373) in stock options was anti-dilutive as the Company 

incurred a net loss attributable to shareholders of $8,816 in 2014. At December 31, 2014, the effect of the 
remaining 14,455 in stock options was anti-dilutive because the underlying exercise prices exceeded the 
average market price of the underlying common shares for the year. 

 

 
 

2014 2013
Basic earnings per share  $             (0.02)  $                  (0.01)
Diluted earnings per share  $             (0.02)  $                  (0.01)

2014 2013
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (000's) 368,296          368,270               
Effect of dilutive securities (1):
   Share options -                   -                        
Adjusted weighted average number of common shares (000's) 368,296          368,270               
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	The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets (advanced projects and exploration assets) consist of three main projects as set out below:
	Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon the successful development and continuing exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the properties’ ore resources. The Company incurred $6,396 (2013, $7,971) of...
	Effective August 10, 2012, Sage Gold Inc. (“Sage”), a mining exploration company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, earned in a 60% interest in the Company’s Clavos Property located near Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Upon Sage acquiring its 60% interest,...
	During 2013, the Company changed the accounting estimates on the ore depletion base for depletion calculations for its producing properties due to the depletion of mineral reserves at the Holloway Mine.  The change in estimates were recognized prospec...
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